
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY BOARD 
AGENDA 

 

7.30 pm 
Monday 

18 October 2021 
Havering Town Hall, 
Main Road, Romford 

 
Members 16: Quorum 6 
 
COUNCILLORS: 
 

Conservative Group  
(8) 

Residents’ Group 
(2) 

Upminster & Cranham 
Residents’ Group (2) 

Ray Best 
Philippa Crowder 
Judith Holt 
Sally Miller 
Nisha Patel 
Christine Smith 
Maggie Themistocli 
Michael White (Vice-Chair) 
 

Ray Morgon 
Barry Mugglestone 

Linda Hawthorn 
Christopher Wilkins 

Independent Residents’ 
Group 

                    (2) 

Labour Group 
(1) 

North Havering 
Residents Group (1) 

Natasha Summers 
Graham Williamson 

Keith Darvill Darren Wise (Chairman) 

 
 
 

For information about the meeting please contact: 
Anthony Clements 01708 433065 

anthony.clements@oneSource.co.uk 

Public Document Pack



Overview & Scrutiny Board, 18 October 2021 

 
 

 

 
 
Protocol for members of the public wishing to report on meetings of the London Borough of Havering 
 
Members of the public are entitled to report on meetings of Council, Committees and Cabinet, except in 
circumstances where the public have been excluded as permitted by law. 
 
Reporting means:- 
 

 filming, photographing or making an audio recording of the proceedings of the meeting; 

 using any other means for enabling persons not present to see or hear proceedings at a meeting as it 
takes place or later; or 

 reporting or providing commentary on proceedings at a meeting, orally or in writing, so that the report or 
commentary is available as the meeting takes place or later if the person is not present. 

 
Anyone present at a meeting as it takes place is not permitted to carry out an oral commentary or report. This is 
to prevent the business of the meeting being disrupted. 
 
Anyone attending a meeting is asked to advise Democratic Services staff on 01708 433076 that they wish to 
report on the meeting and how they wish to do so. This is to enable employees to guide anyone choosing to 
report on proceedings to an appropriate place from which to be able to report effectively. 
 
Members of the public are asked to remain seated throughout the meeting as standing up and walking around 
could distract from the business in hand. 
 
 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
 
Under the Localism Act 2011 (s. 9F) each local authority is required by law to establish an overview and scrutiny 
function to support and scrutinise the Council’s executive arrangements.  
The Overview and Scrutiny Board acts as a vehicle by which the effectiveness of scrutiny is monitored and where 
work undertaken by themed sub-committees can be coordinated to avoid duplication and to ensure that areas of 
priority are being reviewed. The Board also scrutinises general management matters relating to the Council and 
further details are given in the terms of reference below. The Overview and Scrutiny Board has oversight of 
performance information submitted to the Council’s executive and also leads on scrutiny of the Council budget 
and associated information. All requisitions or ‘call-ins’ of executive decisions are dealt with by the Board. 
The Board is politically balanced and includes among its membership the Chairmen of the six themed Overview 
and Scrutiny Sub-Committees. 
 
 
Terms of Reference: 
The areas scrutinised by the Board are: 

 
 Strategy and commissioning   

 Partnerships with Business  

 Customer access  

 E-government and ICT  

 Finance (although each committee is responsible for budget 
processes that affect its area of oversight)  

 Human resources  

 Asset Management  

 Property resources  

 Facilities Management  

 Communications  

 Democratic Services  

 Social inclusion  

 Councillor Call for Action  
 



Overview & Scrutiny Board, 18 October 2021 

 
 

 

 



Overview & Scrutiny Board, 18 October 2021 

 
 

 

AGENDA ITEMS 
 
1 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
 The Chairman will announce details of the arrangements in case of fire or other 

events that might require the meeting room or building’s evacuation. 
 

2 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND ANNOUNCEMENT OF SUBSTITUTE 
MEMBERS  

 
 (if any) - receive. 

 

3 DISCLOSURE OF  INTERESTS  
 
 Members are invited to disclose any interest in any of the items on the agenda at this 

point of the meeting. 
 
Members may still disclose any interest in an item at any time prior to the 
consideration of the matter. 
 

4 PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY: HOUSING ALLOCATION SCHEME (2021) (Pages 1 - 
128) 

 
 Report attached. 

 

 
  

 
 

Andrew Beesley 
Head of Democratic Services 



 

 
Overview & 
Scrutiny Board 
18 October 2021 

REPORT 
 

 
Subject Heading: 
 
 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny of a Cabinet Report 
– Housing Allocation Scheme (2021) 
  

SLT Lead: 
 

Alison McKane – Monitoring Officer 

Report Author and contact details: 
 

Anthony Clements – Principal Democratic 
Services Officer 
anthony.clements@onesource.co.uk 
 

 
Policy context: 
 

a)  
(a) This is a comprehensive revision of the 
Council’s Housing Allocation Scheme 
(2016) to ensure that all available Council 
housing is allocated consistently, fairly 
and in compliance with all current 
legislative and regulatory requirements. 
 
(b) This Scheme also takes into account 
the impact of COVID 19 on all affected 
stakeholders. 

Financial summary: 
 
 

It is anticipated that the implementation of  

this Scheme may involve minor financial  
implications.  

 

 
 
The subject matter of this report deals with the following Council Objectives 
 
  
Communities making Havering                                                                                                    [X] 
Places making Havering                                                                                                                [X] 
Opportunities making Havering                                                                                                   [ ] 
Connections making Havering                                                                                                     [ ] 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Overview and Scrutiny Board, 18 October 2021 
 
 

SUMMARY 
 
 
In accordance with the pre-decision scrutiny protocol adopted by the Board, the 
attached report is brought to the Overview and Scrutiny Board for scrutiny and 
comment prior to a final decision being made by Cabinet.  
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
 
That the Board considers the Cabinet report and appendices and determines 
whether there are comments or, if appropriate, alternative recommendations 
they wish to be passed to the appropriate Cabinet Member. 
 
 

 
REPORT DETAIL 

 
 
The attached report on the Housing Allocations Policy has been selected by 
the Board as a subject for pre-decision scrutiny. It is suggested that the 
Board discuss the proposals contained in the report and agrees any points, 
comments or, if appropriate, alternative recommendations it would like 
addressed when the report is presented to Cabinet on 20 October. These will 
be addressed by the Cabinet Member in their introduction to the report at the 
Cabinet meeting. 
 
 
It should be noted that, unless the proposal is different from that which the 
decision-maker is subsequently required to consider, the pre-decision scrutiny of 
the subject is likely to mean that any call-in once the decision is made by the 
Cabinet is unlikely be accepted as valid. 
 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A – Cabinet report with appendices 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 
Subject Heading: 
 

20th October 2021 
 
Housing Allocation Scheme (2021) 

Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Joshua Chapman, Lead 
Member for Housing 

 
SLT Lead: 
 

 
Patrick Odling-Smee, Director of Housing 

Report authors and contact details: 

 
  Darren Alexander 01708 433751   
  Darren.Alexander@havering.gov.uk  

 
Kwabena Obiri 01708 433158 
Kwabena.obiri@havering.gov.uk 
 
Joe Agius 01708 434046 
joe.agius@havering.gov.uk 

 
Policy context: 

 

a)  
(a) This is a comprehensive revision of the 
Council’s Housing Allocation Scheme 
(2016) to ensure that all available Council 
housing is allocated consistently, fairly and 
in compliance with all current legislative 
and regulatory requirements. 
 
(b) This Scheme also takes into account 
the impact of COVID 19 on all affected 
stakeholders. 

 
Financial summary: 

 
 

It is anticipated that the implementation of 
this Scheme may involve minor financial 
implications. 

Is this a Key Decision? 
 

Yes. It will significant effect all wards in 
Havering. 

Page 3



 

 
When should this matter be reviewed? 
 

 
Two year from implementation. 

Reviewing OSC: Towns and Communities. 

The subject matter of this report deals with the following Council 
objectives 
 
Communities making Havering                                           [x] 
Places making Havering                                                       [x] 
Opportunities making Havering                                          [ ] 
Connections making Havering                                            [ ] 
  

Page 4



 

 
 

SUMMARY 
 
 
1.0 The Housing Act 1996 Part VI requires local authorities to publish an 

allocation scheme that sets out there policy for allocating affordable housing 
provided by the council or housing associations in the borough. Councils are 
required to give reasonable preference to certain categories of applicant and 
have due regard to statutory guidance and the law.  

 
1.1 Demand for social housing in Havering significantly exceeds the number of 

properties available. In the financial year 2019-2020, only one in every 5 
households on the Council’s Housing Register had a realistic prospect of 
securing social housing. 

 
1.2 This scheme (please see appendix 1) proposes a number of revisions to the 

current Scheme (dated 2016) to set out how Council housing is prioritised to 
ensure that it is fairly allocated to households in the greatest need.  

 
1.3 It also sets out how the Council will enable access to other forms of affordable 

housing, such as shared ownership and intermediate rented housing.   
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
 

1. To approve the Housing Allocation Scheme attached in appendix 1.  
 
 

REPORT DETAIL 
 
 

2.0 Following a review of the current housing allocation scheme, approved in 
2016, the proposed Scheme, attached in appendix one was subject to 
statutory public consultation between January and April 2021. The outcome 
from the public consultation is attached as appendix 2.  

 
2.1 The six year residency criteria has been retained as it has shown to ensure 

that social housing is allocated to local people who have made a long term 
commitment to living in Havering, and effectively helps us to managing the 
supply and demand for housing in the borough. The community contribution 
policy has also been retain, reflecting the desire to allocate housing to those 
who can demonstrate they have made a contributions to their communities 
through work and volunteering. The use of a banded prioritisation has been 
retains although the prioritising within the band has been amended to reflect 
current housing demand, see below.   

 

Page 5



 

2.2 The key changes to the Scheme are as follows:  
 
2.2 Housing Register Qualification Criteria  

 

 Income cap 
The gross caps income cap for applicants has been amended, to 
between £36,000 and £50,000, to reflect changed affordability levels in 
the borough and households sizes. Applicants who come above this 
threshold will not qualify to join the Register. This will be reviewed 
annually by the Director of Housing and discretionary changes applied, 
where necessary.  

 

 Savings limit 
A savings limit of between £20,000 and £30,000 will apply depending on 
household size. This is because we are of the opinion that people 
should be able to save up for a deposit for acquiring accommodation 
without being penalised. 
 

 Residency criteria exemptions 
In order to comply with the latest legal position, a residency exemption 
will be granted to applicants of refugee status or from travelling 
community, provided they have resided in the borough for five years 
continuously and can demonstrate a community contribution such as 
paid, unpaid or voluntary work in the borough or being a recognised 
carer for an elderly person, or disabled adult or child. There are also 
exemptions for households that are members of the armed forces and 
those that fall within the reasonable preference categories under Part 6, 
Housing Act 1997.  

 
2.3 Changes to the Housing Banding structure 
 

 The number of applicable priority bandings offered to Housing Register 
applicants is to be re-configured.  

 

 The introduction of a new band – Band 2C. This will enable those that 
wish to move to be allocated to the best level of banding based on 
eligibility. This action will reduce the size of those in the current 
Community Contribution level 1 band, now called Band 2A. 

 

 Applicants previously placed under the Reduced Priority banding will no 
longer qualify for social housing, reducing the waiting list by around 200, 
unless they fall within a reasonable preference category and have 
access to the scheme.  

 

 The full new banding structure is set out in the table below.  
 
Band 1 – Urgent Need 
 

Page 6



 

Category Criteria Guide 

Urgent medical or 
disability  
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(d)) 

This applies to an applicant, or someone in their household: 

 who is in hospital or residential care, and who cannot return 
home due to the unsuitability of the property; 

 who has a severe mobility issue; is housebound, and is 
unable to leave their accommodation without assistance 
that will result in a high risk to the applicant, household 
member or their carer/s. 

Hardship and 
Welfare Criteria  
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(c)-(e))  

This applies to an applicant, or someone in their household, 
whose circumstances, or a combination of circumstances, are 
considered to be life-threatening, and where the need to move is 
supported by health professionals, the Council’s Housing and 
Social Services, a senior Police Officer and/or a MARAC1 
assessment.  

Decants - major 
works or 
demolition  
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(c))  

This applies to secure Council tenants who are required to move 
because their current home is due to:  

 be sold, and/or 

 be demolished or  

 have extensive works completed, or  

 be refurbished (which may include conversion works), 
meaning that they will need to move out their current 
accommodation while the works are taking place. 

 
Please note: that this condition does not apply private sector 
leased properties.  

Domestic Abuse 
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(a)(d)) 

This applies to existing secure tenants of the Council, or spouses 
or civil partners of existing secure tenants (including where living 
together as husband and wife/civil partners), where they need to 
permanently leave or have had to already leave their current 
accommodation because they or a household member have been 
experiencing domestic abuse and it is unreasonable to expect 
them to remain at/return to the Council accommodation.. 

 
Band 2a  
 

Category Criteria Guide 

British Armed 
Forces/Reserve 
Forces personnel  
 

This applies to: 

 A household member who is, or has been: 
- a serving (or former serving) member of the British Armed 

Forces/reserve forces, and who has made a Housing 
Register application within five years of their discharge; 

- a serving (or former serving) member of the regular or 
reserve forces, who needs to move because of a serious 
injury, medical condition or disability sustained as a result 
of their service; 

                                            
1 MARAC - A Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) is a victim-focused information 
sharing and risk management meeting. The role of the MARAC is to facilitate, monitor and evaluate 
effective information sharing to enable appropriate actions to be taken to increase public safety. 

Page 7



 

- a bereaved spouse/civil partner of a member of the British 
Armed Forces, leaving Services Family Accommodation 
following the death of their spouse.  

Members of the armed forces or their spouses do not need to 
demonstrate a community contribution.  

Working 
households 

This community contribution priority is given to an applicant who 
is part of a working household in paid employment of more than 
16hrs per person a week for a continuous period of 12 months 

Disability  
 

This applies to: 

 A household member who is disabled and under retiring 
age, and who has been assessed as eligible for the 
support element of the Personal Independence Payment 
(PIP) scheme, due to a permanent disability which 
prevents them from working or volunteering and therefore 
not able to give a community contribution.  

Care Leavers 
 
 

 The applicant has been accommodated by Havering 
Council’s Children and Young Adults Services, and where 
it has been confirmed by the service that they are now 
ready to move on to alternative (e.g. independent or 
supported) accommodation. 

 The applicant has been assessed as having the life skills 
to manage a tenancy - including managing a rent account - 
and has the appropriate support package in place. 

Care leavers do not need to demonstrate a community 
contribution.  

 
Band 2b  
 

Council tenants, 
with a fixed term 
tenancy coming to 
an end, referred to a 
new property  
 

This applies to situations where the Council originally intended 
to grant a new tenancy for the current property, but has 
subsequently decided to grant a tenancy of an alternative 
property. For further information, please view the Council’s 
Tenancy policy. 

Council service 
tenants where there 
is a contractual 
obligation  
 

The applicant is a Council employee who has been living in tied 
accommodation (i.e. provided to them as part of their work) but 
needs to move out due to: 
(a) retirement, or  
(b) redundancy, or 
(c) the Council is changing, or has changed, the terms of the 
employee’s employment. 

Succession rights 
where property is 
not suitable  
 

The applicant lives in a Council property and has the right of 
succession following the death of the tenant, but the property is 
too large; has had adaptations to the property that they no 
longer require, and/or there is an age restriction that renders 
them ineligible to hold the tenancy of the property. 
  

Page 8



 

Release of adapted 
property  
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(e))  

The applicant is a Council tenant who is willing to transfer to a 
suitable, non-adapted property and is releasing an adapted 
house or designated older persons property. 

Under-occupation 
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(e))  

 The applicant is a Havering assured2 or secure3 tenant 
who wishes to downsize.  

 Please note that this excludes tenants living in privately 
leased accommodation.  

Foster carers 
referred by the 
Council’s Children’s 
Service  
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S166A(3)(d) or (e))  

The applicant is a registered Havering Council foster carer 
where their current housing situation prevents them from being 
able to start, or continue to provide foster care or adopt.  

 
Band 2c  
 

Category Criteria Guide 

Volunteer  
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(c) and (d))  

A member of the household has been a volunteer or an unpaid 
worker for more than 16 hours a week and has been 
continuously for the last 6 months. 
 

Carer  
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(c) and (d))  

The applicant gives care to a Havering resident that is 
substantial and ongoing.  
 

(b) Move on from 
specialist 
accommodation  
 
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(c))  

 The applicant is moving on from specialist 
accommodation provided by either; Havering Council’s 
Social Services Team, North East London Foundation 
Trust (NELFT,) or another registered supported housing 
provider in line with an agreement with Havering 
Council’s Housing Service. 

 The applicant has been nominated as part of an 
agreement with a single homeless accommodation 
provider in Havering, where they are in need of settled 
accommodation and unable to secure it. 

 The applicant has been assessed as having the life skills 
to manage a tenancy, including managing a rent account 
and the necessary support package in place.  

Homeless 
households owed a 
full homeless duty 
under section 193(2) 
or 195(2).  

 Where it is in the overriding interest of the Council to 
prioritise an allocated place, in order to make best use of 
Havering’s resources. 

 Where the landlord wants the temporary accommodation 
property back and where; a) the tenant has been in 

                                            
2 An assured tenancy is for a fixed period , for example; one year 
3 A secure tenancy is for a lifetime period.  

Page 9



 

(Reasonable 
Preference 
categories s166A(3) 
(a)(b))  

temporary accommodation for 7 years, b) the Council has 
been unable to find alternative suitable temporary 
accommodation (i.e. end of lease agreement).  

Unsanitary 
conditions where 
the conditions pose 
an ongoing and 
serious threat to 
health  
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(c))  

The applicant is the owner-occupier/private tenant and 
the Council’s Environmental Health Team has determined 
that: 

 the property poses a category 1 hazard under the 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System (e.g. crowding 
and space, excessive cold or risk of falls) and the Council 
is satisfied that the problem cannot be resolved by the 
landlord within six months, and  

 as a result, continuing to occupy the accommodation will 
pose a considerable risk to the health of the household 
(this would include properties that have severe damp and 
major structural defects such as subsidence, flooding, 
collapse of roof) or  

 the household is living conditions which are represent a 
statutory nuisance, and there is no prospect of the 
problems being remedied within a 6 month time period, or 
that; 

 as an owner-occupier/private tenant, the applicant has 
been issued with statutory notice by the Environmental 
Health Team, stating it is an unfit property to be 
demolished under the Housing Act 2004. 

Reciprocal 
arrangement  
 

The Council will only agree to reciprocal requests from 
other authorities and Registered Providers where they 
can demonstrate that there is imminent personal risk to 
the tenant or their family, and the accommodation is 
required in Havering, and that the reciprocal property 
being offered will be beneficial to Havering residents with 
high priority to move. 

 
Band 3 
People who have a need to move but do not qualify for Community contribution 
priority. 
 

Category Criteria Guide 

Homeless 
households owed a 
full homeless duty 
under section 
193(2) or 195(2). 
(Reasonable 
Preference 
categories 
s166A(3)(a)(b))  
 

The Council has accepted a duty to accommodate within the 
meaning of the Housing Act 1996, Part 7.  

Page 10



 

Homeless 
Households 
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(a))  
 

People who are homeless or threatened with homelessness 
(within the meaning of Part 7, as amended by the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017). 
 

Overcrowding  
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(c))  

The applicant is living in a property that has one or more 
bedrooms less than required under the Havering Council housing 
bedroom standard.  
 

Applicants living in 
unsatisfactory 
housing lacking 
basic facilities  
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(c))  

 The applicant is living in a property without access to one 
or more of the following facilities:-  

- a bathroom or kitchen;  

- an inside WC, or  
- hot or cold water supplies, electricity, gas or adequate 

heating 
 

 The applicant lives in private property which is in disrepair 
and is unfit for occupation. 

 
Please note that: 

 Applicants who only have access to shared facilities do 
not qualify under these criteria. 

 The above applies to private tenants living in a property 
that has a Category 1 risk as defined by the HHSRS. 
 

Moderate medical 
grounds  
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(d))  

 The applicant’s housing is unsuitable for severe medical 
reasons or due to their disability, but they are not 
housebound or their life is not at risk due to their current 
housing. However, the housing conditions directly 
contribute to causing serious ill-health.  

Need to move for 
care or support 
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3) (c) and (d))  

 The applicant needs to move to receive care that is 
substantial and ongoing; 

 The applicant needs to move in order to access Social 
Services facilities, and is unable to travel across the 
Borough; 

 The applicant wishes to move to a certain locality, where 
not doing so would cause hardship (which includes those 
approved under Right to Move Scheme).  

Housing for older 
people  
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(d))  

 Older, or disabled residents, seeking sheltered or extra 
care housing who are unable to meet their housing needs 
from their own resources (i.e. asset rich but cash poor), 
but agree to lease their property to the Council to use as 
temporary accommodation. 

 
2.4 Outcomes from the new bands 
 Increase priority has been awarded: 

 to care leavers, as part of the council’s commitment as a corporate parent,  

Page 11



 

 disabled households and those with medical conditions affected by their 
housing 

 Working households, volunteers and carers 

 tenants currently occupying there current homes, in order to enable them to 
move to smaller homes, thereby freeing up their homes for another family 
on the housing register.   

 
Opportunities Register 
 
The new scheme proposes the establishment of a new Opportunities Register that 
on which a member of the public can record their preference for housing options 
other than social housing. Applicants who are found not to qualify for the Housing 
Register will be referred to the Housing Opportunities Register. The Opportunities 
Register will also be used to market low cost home ownership products to local 
people.  
 
 

 
REASONS AND OPTIONS 

 
 
3.0 The recommendations throughout this report have been made so that the 

Council’s Housing Register more accurately reflects the level of housing 
need in the borough, ensuring that those with the greatest need continue to 
be prioritised. 

 
3.1 The table below shows the number of successful allocations for each band, 

under the current scheme, for the last four years: 
 

Financial Year ER CC1 CC2 H RP Total 

17/18 260 133 9 24 2 428 

18/19 280 131 13 9 2 435 

19/20 203 171 30 48 3 455 

20/21 103 242 71 130 15 561 

Average 211 169 31 53 6 470 

Total 846 677 123 211 22 1879 

 
 
3.2 Reasons for the decision: 
 

Page 12



 

3.3 The above table shows applicants in the Community Contribution bands 
make up the most allocations, accounting for 56% of allocations in the last 
financial year.  

 
3.4 Home seekers make up the second highest proportion of allocations with 130 

lets.  
 

3.5 Interestingly, 26% of properties allocated to Home seekers were of family size 
(2 bed plus) with the highest proportion of successful applicants being 4 beds. 
Greater access to properties has presented better chances for applicants in 
the Home seeker bands to be successful in getting larger accommodation. 

 
3.6 The Housing Act 1996 Part VI requires significant changes to the Housing 

Allocation Scheme to be consulted on with stakeholders and housing 
applicants. 

 
3.7 Consultation with affected parties is essential to good practice. In terms of 

administrative law, ‘consultation’ has a specific meaning and should be 
proportionate, fair, and inclusive. 

 
3.8 Following the authorisation of this draft Scheme, a formal consultation was 

conducted in the spring of 2021. The consultation was based on a proposed 
10-year residency criteria and income thresholds, both of which have 
subsequently changed. The consultation consisted of: 

  

 The draft Scheme and public consultation questionnaire published on 
the Council’s consultation portal;  

 The questionnaire being sent to all key stakeholders, including 
housing associations, neighbouring boroughs and voluntary sector 
organisations. 
 

3.9 129 people responded to the Public Consultation. Their feedback is detailed 
in appendix 2, with recommendations for the adoption of the Housing 
Allocation Scheme (2021). 
 

3.10 The key issues raised in the consultation were:  

 The concern that increasing the threshold will mean that poorer 
households will be excluded from the housing register. This is based 
on a misunderstanding that the threshold is the minimum that people 
can earn rather than the maximum, however in response to these 
concerns the thresholds have been amended to reflect different 
household sizes.  

 Concern was also raised about the impact of the continuous residency 
criteria on households who move out of the borough for a short time 
but return. There are exemptions in the Scheme that will enable some 
households, who have had to move for reasons beyond their control, 
e.g. domestic abuse, to still access the housing register. 

 There was also concern raised regarding the impact of the move from 
a residency criteria of 6 years to 10 on exiting households on the 

Page 13



 

Housing Register. As a result of the consultation and the updated 
EQHIA the decision was taken to keep the existing requirement at 6 
years, with a 5 year mitigation for refugees and travellers. 

 
3.11 Implementation of the new scheme 

The implementation of the new scheme requires formal notification to be 
sent to all the applicants currently on the housing register, the housing 
computer system changed to reflect the new scheme, and the on-line 
application form to be amended to reflect the changes.  
 
A project team has been established to implement these changes and it is 
anticipated that three months will be required from the date of decision 
before the new scheme “goes live”.  

 
3.10 Other options considered: 

No changes to the Scheme. 
 
In this case, the Scheme would not comply with the relevant case law and 
would be subject to challenge though the courts and the Judicial Review 
process, ultimately at the expense of the local authority. 

 
 
 

 IMPLICATIONS AND RISKS 
 
 
 
Financial implications and risks: 
 
The implementation of this Scheme has minimal financial implications. However, 
there could be legal fees incurred in defending challenges against this Scheme. 
These costs would be met from Housing budgets. 
 
Legal implications and risks: 
 

i. Pursuant to Section 166A of the Housing Act 1996, every local authority 
must have an allocation scheme and must not allocate housing 
accommodation except on accordance with the allocation scheme. The 
allocation scheme must include the procedure for allocation of 
accommodation as well as the persons or description of persons by whom 
decisions are made. 

 
ii. Public Sector Equalities Duty 

The proposed changes relating to the mitigation to residency requirements, 
income threshold and savings limit are changes that are open to the Council 
to make. In deciding whether to implement the proposed changes, the 
Council must have regard to an Equality Impact Assessment and consider 
the impact each of the proposed changes would have on persons with 
protected characteristics with a view to eliminating any potential unlawful 

Page 14



 

discrimination. Where potentially negative consequences of the Scheme 
change have been identified, effective mitigation should be put in place to 
reduce the impact. Travellers and refugees have a protected characteristic 
of race, and who by the nature of their status will be less likely to satisfy a 
residency criteria. In the circumstances of these groups the residency 
requirement has been amended and is 5 years rather than the 6 year 
residency requirement for other applicants to the scheme. A failure to 
include an effective mitigation to the residency requirement for these groups 
could lead to the risk of successful challenge of the scheme by an applicant 
within this group. It is noted in the EQHIA that the impact on those with this 
protected characteristic is neutral/positive depending on the accommodation 
size required. Further the scheme is now including those who have a 
reasonable preference as being exempt from residency requirements and 
being able to access the scheme has been stated in the EQHIA to likely 
include those within the traveller/ refugee cohort. In particular with reference 
to refugees, the EQHIA notes that all of the data from previous years is that 
those who are refugees also had an accepted homelessness duty, and 
under the changes as set out in the new Scheme would therefore have 
access to the Scheme even if the residency requirement was not satisfied.  
This is due to the reasonable preference category exemptions to the 
residency requirement.  As such, this appears on information from previous 
years to provide an effective mitigation to any discrimination that may be 
suffered as a result of the residency requirement for this cohort. The impact 
of the new Scheme should of course be kept under review as it is 
implemented. 

 
The relevant legal framework for this exercise is set out in Section 149 of  
the Equality Act 2010 and known as the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). 

 
iii. Reasonable preference groups and reduced priority banding.  
 

It is a legal requirement under Section 166 A (3) of the Housing Act 1996 to 
ensure that ‘reasonable preference’ is given to persons falling within that 
section.  
 
This section includes those who are homeless within the meaning of Part 7 
of the Housing Act 1996, and not just those who are owed the full housing 
duty. Established case law supports the position that an allocation scheme 
should not seek to exclude groups of people within the reasonable 
preference categories.  

 
The revised Scheme exempts those within reasonable preference groups 
from the 6 year continuous residency period, allowing these individuals to 
access the housing register. Recent case law in the Administrative Court 
has also confirmed that “the legislation does not prohibit a disqualification 
criterion that affects some persons falling within a reasonable preference 
category, provided that as a whole the scheme does give reasonable 
preference to that category of persons”. As such the Scheme as proposed 
meets the statutory requirements around reasonable preference criteria, and 

Page 15



 

the latest line of case law. It is noted that this is a fruitful area of legal 
challenge and so decisions in the Courts will need to be monitored to ensure 
that the Council’s Scheme remains in line. This can be done through the 
periodic review of the Scheme.  

 
iv. Consultation, legitimate expectation and due regard to existing policies. 

 
When considering the proposed changes, the Council is required to have 
regard to its internal policies, including the Homelessness Strategy and 
Tenancy Strategy. The Council is also required to have regard to the 
London Housing Strategy. The legal framework for this requirement is 
outlined below. 
 
Section 166 A (12) for the Housing Act 1996 provides that:-  
 
A local housing authority in England must, in preparing or modifying their 
allocation scheme, have regard to— 
(a) their current homelessness strategy under section 1 of the 
Homelessness Act 2002, 
(b) their current tenancy strategy under section 150 of the Localism Act 
2011, and 
(c) in the case of an authority that is a London borough council, the London 
housing strategy. 

 

Prior to making the proposed changes, the council should consult with 
stakeholder and those who could be affected by the proposed changes. 
Additionally, the Council has a statutory duty to consult with every private 
registered provider of social housing and registered social landlord as well 
as its secure tenants. The form of consultation should be inclusive and 
robust to ensure that the duty to consult is satisfied. 
 
The relevant statutory framework is outlined below: 
 

Section 166 A (13) of the Housing Act 1996. 
 
Before adopting an allocation scheme, or making an alteration to their 
scheme reflecting a major change of Scheme, a local housing authority in 
England must— 

(a) send a copy of the draft scheme, or proposed alteration, to every private 
registered provider of social housing and registered social landlord with 
which they have nomination arrangements (see section 159(4)), and 
(b) afford those persons a reasonable opportunity to comment on the 
proposals. 
(14)A local housing authority in England shall not allocate housing 
accommodation except in accordance with their allocation scheme. 

 
Section 105 of the Housing Act 1985 

 
Consultation on matters of housing management. 

Page 16



 

(1) A landlord authority shall maintain such arrangements as it considers 
appropriate to enable those of its secure tenants who are likely to be 
substantially affected by a matter of housing management to which this 
section applies— 
 

(a) to be informed of the authority’s proposals in respect of the matter, and 
 

(b) to make their views known to the authority within a specified period; 
and the authority shall, before making any decision on the matter, consider 

any representations made to it in accordance with those arrangements 
 

In addition to the above, the Council required to consult with those who 
would reasonably expect to be consulted. The Council should check and 
ensure that all those who were consulted when the 2016 allocation scheme 
was implemented (or when any previous amendments to the council’s 
allocation scheme were made) are consulted also.  
 
Prior to presenting this Scheme, extensive consultation in accordance with 
the statutory requirements has been carried out and the results of this 
exercise are set out in Appendix 2. The Council is required to take into 
consideration all of the information received from the consultation exercise 
when deciding whether to implement the proposed changes and in this case 
the result of the consultation have led to the proposed 10-year residency 
requirement having been kept at 6 years per the existing policy, with the 
relevant statutory and required exemptions to that residency requirement.   

 

v. Part 6 Final Offer to Part 7 homeless applicants 
 
Where an offer of accommodation under the Council’s allocation scheme is 
made on the basis that a refusal would end the duties under homelessness 
legislation, the council must comply with the requirements of section 193 of 
the Housing Act 1996 which outlines the format for such an offer. The 
process regarding making an offer of accommodation is appropriately dealt 
with in Part 4 of the proposed Scheme, with the appeals process also 
detailed at Part 5. 

 

 
Human Resources implications and risks: 
 
The recommendations made in this report do not give rise to any identifiable HR 
risks or implications that would affect either the Council or its workforce. 
 
Equalities Health and Wellbeing implications and Risks 
 
It is anticipated that the implementation of this Scheme will generate positive health 
and wellbeing benefits to directly affected residents. Significant decisions entailed 
in implementing aspects of the Scheme will be informed by the accompanying 
Equality and Health Impact Assessment (EqHIA - please see appendix 3) which 
will serve to identify opportunities to maximise health benefits and mitigate 
potential harms arising from the specific actions proposed. 

Page 17



 

 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 
APPENDIX 1: Housing Allocation Scheme (2021) 
 
APPENDIX 2: Public Consultation report 
 
APPENDIX 3: Equalities and Health Impact Assessment (EqHIA) 

Page 18



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Housing Allocation Scheme 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 19



2 

CONTENTS 
       Page 

 
Introduction           1 
1.1 Purpose of this scheme  
1.2 Aims of this scheme  
1.3 Scope of this scheme 
1.4 Timescales for this scheme  
1.5 Annual Lettings Plan 
1.6 Legal context  
1.7 Equality & Diversity statement 
1.8 Data Protection statement 
 
2. The Housing Register        2 
2.1 Eligibility, qualification and housing need 
2.2 Eligibility 
2.3 Qualification 
2.4 How housing need is determined 
2.5 The Community Contribution priority 
2.6 Housing bands 
2.7 Applying to join the Housing Register 
2.8 The Effective Date  
 
3. Finding a home        21 
3.1  Tenancy types 
3.2  Housing options 
3.3  Bedroom size entitlements 
3.4  Specialist Accommodation 
3.5  Special circumstances 
3.6  Local lettings plans and sensitive lettings 
3.7  Choice-based lettings 
 
4.  How housing applications are processed     30 
4.1  How bids are shortlisted  
4.2  Viewing a property 
4.3  How housing offers are decided 
4.4  Tenants moving to a new property 
4.5  Feedback on let properties 
4.6  Withdrawing an offer of accommodation 
4.7  Refusing an offer of accommodation 
 
5. Appeal procedure        32 
5.1  Stages of appeal 
5.2  Appeal procedure for the statutory homeless 
5.3  Comments and complaints 
 
6. Implementation of this scheme      34 
6.1 Monitoring and review of this scheme 
6.2  Delegated authority to make minor changes to this scheme 
  
7. Appendices          

1. APPENDIX 1 – Community Contribution reward: Qualification Criteria 36 

2. Adapted Housing – mobility categories     39 

 

Page 20



3 

1. Introduction 
Social housing is provided by social landlords – generally, local authorities or housing 
associations. However, it has been clear for some time that housing supply is not keeping 
up with demand. Affordable housing however is broader and includes all housing that has 
received a public subsidy or grant in its development.  
 
Demand for social housing in Havering significantly exceeds the number of properties 
available. In the financial year 2019-2020, only one in every five households on the 
housing register had a realistic prospect of getting social housing. This scheme sets out 
how the council will prioritise access to the available housing.  
 

1.1 Purpose of this scheme 
 
The purpose of this scheme is to explain how Havering Council (“the Council”) decides 
how available social housing is allocated. It sets out the Council’s eligibility, qualifying and 
housing need criteria to ensure priority is fairly allocated in accordance with the statutory 
requirements and Council’s aims. It also sets out how the Council will enable access to 
other forms of affordable housing such as shared ownership and intermediate rented 
housing.  
 
The Housing Act 1996 Part 6 requires local authorities to give reasonable preference in 
the way they allocate their available social housing to certain specified groups of persons 
referred to at 1.3 below. 
 

1.2  Aims of this scheme 
The aims of this scheme are to: 

 ensure that we make the best possible use of the social housing stock; 

 provide housing that is suitable to the specific needs and requirements of 
households; 

 prioritise households that have been assessed to be in most need and to those who 
make a positive contribution to our community; 

 reward residents with a long attachment to the borough;  

 help build strong, mixed and sustainable communities and neighbourhoods,  

 help applicants to make realistic decisions about their future housing prospects, by 
offering information on a range of options; and 

 ensure social and affordable housing is allocated in a clear, fair and transparent 
manner.  

 

1.3  Scope of this scheme 
This scheme applies to new applicants, (including homeless households), and to existing 
Council tenants transferring from one property to another. 
 
The Housing Act 1996, (as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002 and the Localism Act 
2011), requires local authorities to make all allocations and nominations in accordance 
with an Allocation Scheme. A summary of the Allocation Scheme must be published and 
made available free of charge to any person who asks for a copy. 
 
This document is available on the Council’s website: www.havering.gov.uk and a summary 
will be available as a paper copy on request. 
 

Page 21



4 

The Housing Act 1996 (as amended) requires local authorities to give reasonable 
preference in their allocations policies to people with high levels of assessed housing 
need. The ‘reasonable preference’ categories are: 
 

 People who are homeless as defined by the Housing Act 1996, Part 7; 

 People who are owed a duty by any local housing authority under section 190(2), 
193(2) or 195(2) (or under section 65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 1985), or who 
are occupying accommodation secured by any such authority under section 192(3); 

 People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing, or who are otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory conditions; 

 People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including any grounds 
relevant to a disability); and 

 People who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the Council, where 
failure to meet that need would cause hardship (to themselves or to others). 
 

The Council can also give additional preference to households in one of the reasonable 
preference groups listed above. By law the Council must give additional priority to 
applicants who are current or previous members of the armed forces and who are in 
housing need. 
 
The Act also requires local authorities to state within the scheme what its position is on 
offering applicants a choice of housing accommodation, or offering them the opportunity to 
express preference about the housing accommodation to be allocated to them.  
 

1.4  Timescales for this scheme 
This scheme will commence on XX XXXX 2022. It will apply to all applicants whenever 
they joined the housing register. 
 

1.5 Annual Lettings Plan  
Each year the Council sets out an annual lettings plan. The purpose of the plan is to fulfil 
the Council’s statutory and local lettings priorities as set out in this scheme. The plan will 
enable the Council to estimate:  

 The number of Council and Housing Association properties likely to be available in 
the coming year; 

 How many of these properties are likely to be allocated to particular banding 
groups. 

 
In some instances, the estimated lettings figures in the annual plan may change due to the 
following circumstances:  

 Where there are local lettings plans for particular developments, blocks of flats or 
roads (see section 3.6 for more information of local lettings plans); 

 Where the Council wishes to fulfil a local housing priority or unforeseen 
circumstance during the lettings year. 

 

Annual Lettings Plans are agreed by the Lead Cabinet Member for Housing.  
 

1.6   Legal Context 
This scheme complies with the principles, requirements and guidelines of the following: 

 Housing Act 1996 

 Children Act 2004 

 Equality Act 2010 

Page 22



5 

 Localism Act 2011 

 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

 Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in England 
(June 2012) 

 Providing social housing for local people (December 2013) 

 Right to Move (March 2015) 

 Improving access to social housing for victims of domestic abuse in refuges or other 
types of temporary accommodation (November 2018) 

 Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities (2018) 

 Prevention of Homelessness & Rough Sleeping strategy 2020-25 

 Havering Housing strategy 

 Havering Corporate Plan 

 London Housing strategy 

 Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
 

The Council reserves the right to expand, change or alter any element of this scheme, as 
and when necessary, in order to meet changes in housing demand, capacity, resources, 
relevant case-law and legislation. 
 

1.7  Equality and Diversity statement 
All applicants will be invited to provide details of ethnic origin, sexuality, disability and other 
equalities information. Provision of this information will not be obligatory or a requirement 
for acceptance of an application. Such information however will help the Council monitor 
the number and types of applicants with protected characteristics seeking housing and 
their position under the scheme, and therefore applicants will be encouraged to supply the 
relevant information to be used for this purpose.  
 
Equalities data will be kept and monitored on a regular basis to ensure properties are 
being allocated fairly. This scheme itself will be monitored to ensure it does not operate in 
ways that discriminate against, or unfairly disadvantage, any particular group. 
 

The Council will seek to ensure that this scheme is operated in a manner that is fair to all 
sections of the community. The information provided will be kept confidential and treated 
with respect at all times. 
 

1.8 Data Protection Statement 
The Council takes personal privacy very seriously and will never share an applicant’s 
personal data without their prior knowledge and approval, unless required to do so by law. 
Section 166(4) of the Housing Act 1996 provides: 
 
“The fact that a person is an applicant for an allocation of housing accommodation shall 
not be divulged (without his consent) to any other member of the public.” 
 
For full details about how the Council protects personal data, please visit Havering Council 
Data Protection Policy. 
 

2. The Housing Register 
2.1 Eligibility, qualification and housing need 
The decision to accept an application to join the Housing Register will be made following 
an assessment of each of the following criteria: 

 Eligibility – section 160ZA, Housing Act 1996; 

Page 23

https://www.havering.gov.uk/info/20044/council_data_and_spending/139/data_protection/2
https://www.havering.gov.uk/info/20044/council_data_and_spending/139/data_protection/2


6 

 Qualification - set by the Council. 
 

2.2 Eligibility 
Only persons in one of the categories below will be eligible for social housing:  

i. United Kingdom citizens; 
ii. Certain Commonwealth citizens with a right of abode in the UK; 
iii. Those EEA nationals with ‘settled status’ granted under the EU Settlement 

Scheme will be treated as persons subject to immigration control and will have 
eligibility pursuant to reg. 5 of the Allocation of Housing and Homelessness 
(Eligibility)(England) Regulations 2006, Class C (subject to habitual residence). 

iv. Supreme Court upholds the judgment. Whether a local authority maintains a list 
of such persons or advises them of a possible future right (or both) is clearly a 
matter for each individual authority1. 

v. Persons who are exempt from immigration control under the Immigration Acts, 
include diplomats and their family members based in the UK and some military 
personnel. This means that people subject to immigration control and certain 
other people from abroad, (outside the categories identified above), will not 
usually be eligible for social housing. 

 
The Supreme Court will be considering the position of EEA nationals with pre-settled 
status - the subject of the Court of Appeal’s recent Fratila judgment which determined that 
they will be treated as not being subject to immigration control and so, as has “always” 
been the case, their eligibility depends upon whether they are exercising a relevant EU 
right to reside (reg. 6(2), 2006 Regulations - eg. they are a worker or self-employed. That 
position is presently stayed. 

 

Because of the uncertainty at present it is important that applications are made even 
where there is some doubt as to eligibility in order that each case can be properly 
assessed and determined. 
 

2.3 Qualifications 
To be placed on the Council’s Housing Register, all of the following criteria must be 
satisfied: 
 

i. Age - Applicants must be 18 years of age or over 

The Council will not normally grant a tenancy to anyone under the age of 18 years unless 
another adult is prepared to act as their guarantor and hold the legal title to the tenancy in 
trust for the young person until they reach the age of 18 years, and agree to cover the rent 
or any arrears.  
 
Exception: The age qualification criterion will not apply where a young person, aged under 
18 years, is owed a duty under current legislation2, but is unable to access suitable 
accommodation other than by being given an offer of council or housing association 
accommodation. In exceptional circumstances, the Council can grant permission to occupy 
a property to an applicant under 18 years by means of an Equitable Tenancy Agreement 
(and an adult will hold the legal title – see the paragraph above). 

 
 

ii. Residency - Applicants must have lived in the borough of Havering 
continuously for at least six years 

                                                 
1 Correct at the time of writing but may change as a result of changing regulations 
2 Under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and the Children Act 2004 

Page 24



7 

Local residency qualification within the terms of this scheme will normally mean that an 
applicant has lived in this borough continuously, through their own choice, (not through 
detention or hospitalisation), for a minimum of six years up to and including the date of 
their application. The applicant should remain resident in-borough in order to continue to 
qualify.  
 
Time spent placed by the Council in designated temporary accommodation outside of the 
borough will count towards time spent in Havering.  
 
Those placed in Havering via temporary accommodation, residential or supported housing 
by another local authority will not normally be considered as having met the local 
residency qualification. 
 
Time spent away from the main/principal home in Havering due to periods of study, such 
as at university, will count as time in the borough.  
 
Exceptions:  

a) The residency qualification criterion will not be applied to the groups specified in 
The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces)(England) 
Regulations 2012:  

- Members of the Armed Forces and former Service personnel, where the 
application is made within five years of discharge;  

- Bereaved spouses and civil partners of members of the Armed Forces leaving 
Services Family Accommodation following the death of their spouse or partner; 

- Serving or former members of the Regular or Reserve Forces who need to 
move because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability sustained as a 
result of their service. 

 
b) People who are under-occupying their current social housing tenancy. 

 
c) Persons who fall within the statutory ‘reasonable preference’ groups: 

- people who are homeless (within the meaning of Part 7); 

- people who are owed a duty by any local housing authority under section 
190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) (or under section 65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 
1985) or who are occupying accommodation secured by any such authority 
under section 192(3); 

- people occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory housing conditions; 

- people who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including any 
grounds relating to a disability); and 

- people who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the Council, 
where failure to meet that need would cause hardship (to themselves or to 
others). 

 
d) Emergency cases where homes are damaged by fire, flood or other disaster - 

where it is not possible to repair the existing home, or if any work to repair is to take 
such a long period of time that there will be serious disruption to family life. 
 

e) Cases nominated under the Police Witness Protection Scheme or other similar 
schemes of which the Council has agreed to be party to.  

Page 25



8 

 
f) Households who need to move to the borough and where failure to meet that need 

would cause exceptional hardship to themselves or to others. Hardship grounds 
include applicants with the need to move:  
- Under the Right to Move scheme3 where there is a genuine intention of taking 

up an offer of work; 
- To specialist facilities where they receive care; 
- To receive or give care/support which could otherwise result in higher care 

costs, or even the use of residential care for those who cannot move.  
 

g) People who qualify for assistance through specialist external mobility schemes (e.g. 
Housing Moves, HomefinderUK4). 

 
h) Cases with exceptional need that are not covered under this scheme. For example, 

where child or public protection issues require rehousing, or for domestic abuse 
cases where it is not possible for the applicant to remain in their home. 

 

i) Applicants who the Director of Housing and, at the very least, one other statutory 
agency (e.g. the Police, NHS), has agreed are unable to access suitable 
accommodation other than that given by the Council or a housing association. 
 

j) To ensure compliance with the judgment of the Court of Appeal in R (Ward & Ors) v 
Hillingdon LBC; R(Gullu) v Hillingdon LBC, Equality and Human Rights Commission 
intervening [2019] P.T.S.R. 1738. 
 
This paragraph applies to an applicant whose household is either Irish Traveller / 
Romany Gypsy or non-UK national with refugee status in the UK and who would 
qualify under the scheme for inclusion on the housing register, or once included be 
entitled to additional preference, but for their inability to demonstrate at least six 
years continuous residence in Havering.  
 
If, in the opinion of the Council, such inability is the result of their racial origin or 
related circumstances or lifestyle, the residence requirement will in the case of each 
provision be reduced from six years to five years provided the applicant can 
demonstrate to the Council's reasonable satisfaction that they have for the whole or 
substantial part of that period made a community contribution such as helping 
borough residents, undertaking paid, unpaid or voluntary work in the borough or 
being a recognised carer for an elderly or disabled adult or child, or other special 
reason to be decided on a case by case basis by the Council. 

 

iii. Tenure - Applicants must not be the owner of a residential property  
People who singularly, jointly or part-own a property in this country or abroad, which is 
reasonable for them to occupy, will not qualify to join the Housing Register.  

 
People who have previously owned a property and have sold it within the last five years 
will be asked to provide proof of the sale, together with evidence of the proceeds received 
from the sale and what has become of them.  
 

                                                 
3 Right to Move is a central government scheme to assist social tenants who need to move to take up a job or live 
closer to work. 
4 Housing Move is a housing mobility scheme provided by the Mayor of London that allows tenants of London 
boroughs or housing associations to move outside their existing borough to a different part of London. 

Page 26



9 

Unless they are unable to meet their housing needs from their own resources and require 
adapted or supported housing, they will not qualify to join the Housing Register.  
 
Exceptions:  

a) Applicants where, at Housing Service’s discretion, the Service is satisfied that 
the homeowner has exceptional circumstances. Examples include, but are not 
limited to, instances where they have a serious medical condition, are unable to 
remain in the property and are unable to afford suitable accommodation in the 
private market.  

b) Applicants aged over 55 years who have been assessed as being unable to 
meet their housing need from their own resources. The options for them will 
include the offer of being rehoused into sheltered or extra care accommodation 
and, in turn, agree to lease their property to the Council to use as temporary 
accommodation.  

c) Applicants who wish to be considered for low cost home ownership or 
intermediate rented products.  

 

iv.  Financial capacity. 
Applicants whose income, savings and assets are above the level set by the Council will 
not be able to join the Housing Register, as they will be expected to meet their own 
housing needs or take up one of the other housing options in the borough through the 
Housing Opportunity Register.  
 
This is because of the severe shortage of social and affordable rented properties in the 
borough. 
 
Applicants will be asked about their income, savings and other assets when they apply to 
join the Housing Register. An income assessment will be made to assess whether they 
can afford to privately rent or buy in the borough.  
 
The below table sets out the qualifying criteria based on financial caps:  
 

Household Income cap Savings cap 

Single £36,000 per annum £20,000 

Couple £36,000 per annum £30,000 

Family (three or more 
persons) 

£50,000 per annum £30,000 

 
The Council will on an annual basis review the income threshold based on local housing 
costs and household incomes and publish a new threshold for the year. Any decisions to 
change the income threshold remains at the discretion of the Director of Housing. 
Applicants whose gross annual household income exceeds this amount will only be 
eligible to join the Housing Opportunities Register.  
 
Income Assessments 
Income assessments take into account the incomes of both the main applicant, their 
partner and any non-dependents. The assessment will include both gross income and 
income from benefits (excluding disability benefits). Households will not normally be 
placed on the Housing Register or offered social housing if their total income is above the 
set income level.  

 

Page 27



10 

As part of the assessment, applicants will be asked to provide evidence of their household 
income, for example: 

 Employed applicants – their last six months’ payslips.  

 Self-employed applicants – their last 18 months audited accounts. These 
applicants will be asked to provide evidence of their savings and details of any 
assets owned, which include: 

o bank current account statements; 
o building society, post office or any other savings accounts statements; 
o details of any other financial assets, such as stocks and shares, premium 

bonds etc. 
Applicants who deliberately deplete savings or move them into the accounts of other family 
members may be disqualified from applying to join the Housing Register and maybe 
prosecuted for providing false information. 

 
Applicants who cannot provide satisfactory evidence of their household income, savings 
and assets, or who choose not to complete the savings and income section of the 
application form, will be treated as having sufficient resources to rent privately in the 
borough and will not be accepted on to the Housing Register. 
 
Exceptions: 

- Members or former members of the Armed Forces where financial compensation 
has been received due to injury sustained on active service, this will be disregarded 
from any financial assessment.  

- There may be exceptional circumstances where there is a real emergency need to 
move. These will be considered on a case-by-case basis, with a decision being 
made by the Director of Housing in consultation with relevant partners. 

 

v.  Applicants convicted of or found responsible for unacceptable behaviour 
Applicants who have been found responsible for unacceptable behaviour that makes them 
unsuitable to be a tenant will not be able to join the Housing Register. This type of 
behaviour would entitle the Council to take formal action against them. Examples of such 
behaviour include: 
 

 Any person convicted of housing or welfare benefits fraud, where the conviction is 
unspent under the Rehabilitation Offenders Act 1974. The person may re-apply 
once the conviction is spent.  

 Any person found guilty of sub-letting a Council or housing association property, or 
it being proved that they have done so in the civil courts. 

 A person who obtains a tenancy by deception and/or false representations or 
omissions.  

 A person who threatens, or uses, violence towards Council employees, contractors 
or Council members. This includes behaviour where there is persistent abusive or 
racist language directed at Council staff, Council members or other partner 
associations. 

 Anti-social behaviour by the applicant or a member of his or her household which 
causes nuisance or annoyance.  

 Racial harassment and hate crime. 
 Transfer applicants who have caused damage or not looked after their property.  

 

The Council will normally only determine that an applicant has been guilty of 
“unacceptable behaviour” where the Council or a current or former landlord of the 
applicant has successfully taken formal court action, civil or criminal, against the 

Page 28



11 

applicant or a member of the applicant’s household in respect of conduct, under any of 
the above headings by: 

 

o the applicant; 
o a member of the applicant’s household; 
o a visitor to the applicant’s property.  

 
Formal action will have had to have taken place within two years before their application to 
join the Housing Register and may take the form of: 
  

o obtaining a legal remedy or criminal conviction; 
o service of a possession notice, a pre-action protocol letter or other letter 

before claim;  
o entry into an agreement for the purpose of avoiding/settling legal 

proceedings, including an acceptable behaviour agreement, and  
o issue of an agreement to undertake works.  

 
All applicants who do not qualify under this criterion may submit a new Housing Register 
application if their circumstances change and there has been a sustained period of change 
for at least the past year.  
 
However, where the applicant has not complied with the terms of the formal action taken, 
(such as complying with a suspended possession order, or with an agreement to avoid or 
settle legal proceedings), or where new unacceptable behaviour has, in the Council’s view, 
arisen, (whether or not further formal action has been taken in respect of it), the Council 
will normally continue the disqualification. 
 
vi. Housing Need - Applicants must meet one of the housing need criteria.  
Applicants who do not meet or breach any of the above criterion are considered not to 
have a housing need and will be signposted and given relevant information/advice to solve 
their housing situation. They will be held on the new Housing Opportunities Register, 
where the Council may contact them in relation to alternative housing options that might 
assist in securing suitable housing. 
 
Exception:  

- Applicants who are eligible for sheltered housing or other affordable housing 
products other than social housing. 

 

vii. Formal action against an applicant already on the Housing Register 
If formal legal action is taken against an existing applicant relating to the allocation scheme 
results in a successful prosecution or conviction, the Council will remove and suspend the 
applicant from the Housing Register for a period of two years. Any existing or pending 
offers of accommodation will also be withdrawn.  
 
Exception: 
The Council recognises that there may be exceptional circumstances where the only way 
an exceptional housing need can be resolved is through the use of discretion. From the 
outset, the applicant will need to give a firm assurance that the unacceptable behaviour 
will not be repeated.  
 

Page 29



12 

However, it should not be assumed that this alone will be considered sufficient grounds to 
end to the matter. The discretion to waive this criterion in such circumstances will 
ultimately require the approval of the Director of Housing, or a delegated officer.  
 
A person who is not permitted to join the Housing Register, or has been removed from the 
Housing Register has the right of appeal. Details about how to appeal can be found in 
section 5.1 of this scheme. 
 

2.4 How housing need is determined 
The following explains the grounds on which the Council determines housing need priority: 
 
2.4.1 Medical 
The medical element of the assessment is based on whether the applicant’s health, or a 
member of their household’s health, would improve by moving to alternative 
accommodation.  
 
Consequently, medical priority is awarded according to the extent to which the health or 
welfare of one or more members of the applicant’s household, is affected by their current 
housing conditions and the expected benefits of providing suitable alternative housing.  
 
Applicants are asked to complete a Medical Assessment Form. A Housing Assessment 
Officer will consider the information supplied by the applicant, along with any further and 
necessary information supplied by other parties such as health professionals and housing 
officers.  
 
Applicants claiming to have a severe and enduring mental illness will need to demonstrate 
that they currently have, or have recently had, access to Havering Mental Health Services. 
 
Depending on the circumstances, medical priority can be awarded under the Band 1, Band 
2a or band 3. The following table is used as a guide to how medical priority is determined: 
 

Medical 
Condition 

THE EFFECT OF CURRENT HOUSING ON THE 
APPLICANT'S HEALTH 

Severe Moderate Low 

Serious Band 1 Band 2a No medical priority 

Moderate Band 2a Band 3 No medical priority 

 
Applicants who clearly have an urgent need to move because they have a critical medical 
Condition, or very serious disability, will be placed in the Band 1 - Urgent Need.   
 
2.4.2 Hardship & welfare 

a) Young people leaving care 
If a young person who has been looked after by the Council, including those who have 
been placed out-of-borough, is ready to move into their own accommodation, they may be 
considered for housing on welfare grounds. To qualify, a young person must have been a 
‘relevant child’ under the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000. This means that they would 
have been looked after by the Council for a certain period of time, as directed by the 
Council’s Leaving Care team, and would have had a pathway plan drawn up. 
 
In most cases, young people leaving care will be ready to move into independent living 
with the support of Children Services. If the young person is ready to move-on and has 

Page 30



13 

developed the required life skills, (e.g. managing a budget, cooking, cleaning, etc.), the 
Council will support her/him to find suitable private rented accommodation. 
 
However, some young people are more vulnerable than others when leaving care, and 
accommodation in the private rented sector would have a detrimental effect on their 
transition to independent living.  
 
Such applications will be considered by a Care Leavers Panel, consisting of senior officers 
from Housing Services and Children Services, who will determine whether to award priority 
for their social housing. See Shared Council Housing – For leaving carers 3.4.3  
 
Applications from young people with other mitigating circumstances will also be 
considered. 
 

b) Move-on from specialist or supported accommodation 
Residents currently placed in supported housing, including those in institutional care, who 
are ready for independent living will be considered for move-on accommodation to help 
them achieve independence. 
 
For the purpose of this scheme, these will be people currently receiving social care 
services for a mental health problem; a physical disability or who have learning disabilities. 
 
Applicants referred for move-on to independent accommodation will be considered for the 
full range of provision available - including private sector accommodation - to meet their 
housing need. Only cases with a demonstrable need for long-term settled accommodation 
will be prioritised for social housing. 
 

c) Reciprocal Agreements 
Other local authorities and housing associations sometimes request a rehousing 
arrangement on a reciprocal basis.  
 
This arrangement would be considered where the nominated household would be ‘at risk’ 
in their current property, and the referring organisation is unable to intervene to mitigate 
the risk or rehouse the nominated household themselves.  
 
Once accepted, the Council will provide assistance on the following basis: 
 

 the Council will have nomination rights to the resulting vacancy or another property 
of similar type or size; 

 the applicant will be placed in the Band 2b as an exceptional case and the 
nominated household be made one reasonable offer; 

 the accommodation will be of a similar size and type to that currently occupied by 
the nominated household; 

 the offer of accommodation will be at a safe distance to the current accommodation. 
 

People approved under the Right to Move scheme5, and any other relevant schemes, will 
be covered within this provision. 
 
2.4.3 Homelessness 

                                                 
5 Right to Move is a national scheme that allows Council tenants who need to relocate for a job to be prioritised for 
social housing in areas to which they previously did not have a personal link, placing them at the same priority on the 
housing list as veterans of the armed forces. 

Page 31



14 

This applies to people who are homeless, or threatened with homelessness, within the 
meaning provided for in Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended).  
 
2.4.4 Overcrowding 
When assessing overcrowding levels, the Council will only take into account those people 
who are part of an applicant’s household.  
 
If the applicant needs an extra room for medical reasons, they will be assessed to 
determine medical priority – see 2.4.1 above. 
 
Where an applicant is pregnant and entitled to a larger property, priority will only be given 
for overcrowding from when the baby is born. Where the applicant is not the main person 
who cares for the children named on a housing application, the children may not be taken 
into account in the assessment of overcrowding.  
 
The applicant’s living room and kitchen will not be counted as bedrooms. However, if their 
accommodation has more than one living room, only one of the living rooms will be 
counted as a living room and the others will be counted as bedrooms. Bed-sit and studio 
accommodation will be considered to have no living room.  
 
Please note that bedroom areas less than 4.6 sq. m (50 sq. ft.) will not be taken into 
account when making the assessment.  
 
2.4.5 Households living in unsanitary conditions or unsatisfactory housing 

conditions 
 
A tenant is living in unsanitary housing if their current accommodation does not have: 
a bathroom or a kitchen; 

 an inside toilet; 

 hot or cold running water. 
 
 A tenant is living in unsatisfactory housing if their current accommodation: 

 does not have electricity; 

 does not have gas; 

 does not have adequate heating; 

 is in disrepair; 

 is unfit for human habitation.  
 
The condition of their current accommodation will be verified by a member of the Council’s 
Environmental Health Team and must have at least one ‘category 1 hazard’ that is or 
cannot be resolved by the landlord within six months. Examples of where this would apply 
include accommodation that has: 

 severe damp; 

 a major structural defect including subsidence, flooding, collapsed roof; 

 been issued with a notice of statutory nuisance by an environmental health officer; 

 been declared unfit for human habitation and is due to be demolished under the 
Housing Act 2004.  

 
2.4.4 Secure tenants of the Council/partners of such tenants leaving 
accommodation due to domestic abuse 
 

Page 32



15 

The Council want to ensure that those experiencing domestic abuse are treated fairly and 
appropriately when approaching it for housing assistance. In particular, where a secure 
tenant or their partner applies to join the register because they have left or need to leave 
their current accommodation because of domestic abuse experienced by them or another 
member of the household with whom they are presenting then they will be given an urgent 
priority for housing so long as it is accepted by the Council: 

(a) that they have and/or the said household member has experienced domestic 
abuse. ‘Domestic abuse’ is used in the sense provided for at section 1 of the 
Domestic Abuse Act 20216; 

(b) they need to leave/needed to have left the Council accommodation because of the 
domestic abuse; 

(c) it is not reasonable to expect them to remain at/return to the said Council 
accommodation, even if the abuser can be excluded from there. 

 

2.5 The Community Contribution priority 
The Council believes that people who make a community contribution should have greater 
priority for accommodation allocated by the Council than those who do not, and operates a 
Community Contribution priority scheme. This scheme gives successful applicant’s 
increased priority for housing.  
 
Examples of the community contribution are:  

 working  

 membership of the British armed forces 

 volunteering 
 

Full details are contained in appendix 1.  
 
An applicant can apply for a Community Contribution priority at any time they apply to join 
the Housing Register, or at any time once they have been placed in the band 3 on the 
Housing Register.  
 

It is the applicant’s responsibility to apply for the reward and to provide proof to 
demonstrate that they meet the qualification criteria.  
 
The Community Contribution priority will be reviewed each year and if an applicant is no 
longer making a community contribution then they will be moved to a lower band. 
  

The Community Contribution priority will only be given to applicants who also meet the 
Housing Register qualification criteria. Verification will be sought at the point of application.  
 
2.6 Housing bands 
Havering Council’s housing bands system is used to help determine how applications for 
housing are fairly prioritised.  
 
It comprises five levels (bands) of priority and has been framed to help ensure that 
‘reasonable preference’ is given to applicant households in order of their assessed 
housing need: 
 

 Band 1 – Urgent Need 
People who have an urgent need to move. 

                                                 
6  

Page 33



16 

Category Criteria Guide 

Urgent medical or 
disability  
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(d)) 

This applies to an applicant, or someone in their household: 

 who is in hospital or residential care, and who cannot 
return home due to the unsuitability of the property; 

 who has a severe mobility issue; is housebound, and is 
unable to leave their accommodation without assistance 
that will result in a high risk to the applicant, household 
member or their carer/s. 

Hardship and 
Welfare Criteria  
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(c)-(e))  

This applies to an applicant, or someone in their household, 
whose circumstances, or a combination of circumstances, are 
considered to be life-threatening, and where the need to move is 
supported by health professionals, the Council’s Housing and 
Social Services, a senior Police Officer and/or a MARAC7 
assessment.  

Decants - major 
works or 
demolition  
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(c))  

This applies to secure Council tenants who are required to move 
because their current home is due to:  

 be sold, and/or 

 be demolished or  

 have extensive works completed, or  

 be refurbished (which may include conversion works), 
meaning that they will need to move out their current 
accommodation while the works are taking place. 

 
Please note: that this condition does not apply private sector 
leased properties.  

Domestic Abuse 
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(a)(d)) 

This applies to existing secure tenants of the Council, or spouses 
or civil partners of existing secure tenants (including where living 
together as husband and wife/civil partners), where they need to 
permanently leave or have had to already leave their current 
accommodation because they or a household member have been 
experiencing domestic abuse and it is unreasonable to expect 
them to remain at/return to the Council accommodation.. 

 

 Band 2a  
 

Category Criteria Guide 

British Armed 
Forces/Reserve 
Forces personnel  
 

This applies to: 

 A household member who is, or has been: 
- a serving (or former serving) member of the British Armed 

Forces/reserve forces, and who has made a Housing 
Register application within five years of their discharge; 

- a serving (or former serving) member of the regular or 
reserve forces, who needs to move because of a serious 
injury, medical condition or disability sustained as a result 
of their service; 

- a bereaved spouse/civil partner of a member of the British 
Armed Forces, leaving Services Family Accommodation 
following the death of their spouse.  

                                                 
7 MARAC - A Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) is a victim-focused information sharing and risk 

management meeting. The role of the MARAC is to facilitate, monitor and evaluate effective information sharing to 

enable appropriate actions to be taken to increase public safety. 

Page 34



17 

Members of the armed forces or their spouses do not need to 
demonstrate a community contribution.  

Working 
households 

This community contribution priority is given to an applicant who 
is part of a working household in paid employment of more than 
16hrs per person a week for a continuous period of 12 months 

Disability  
 

This applies to: 

 A household member who is disabled and under retiring 
age, and who has been assessed as eligible for the 
support element of the Personal Independence Payment 
(PIP) scheme, due to a permanent disability which 
prevents them from working or volunteering and therefore 
not able to give a community contribution.  

Care Leavers 
 
 

 The applicant has been accommodated by Havering 
Council’s Children and Young Adults Services, and where 
it has been confirmed by the service that they are now 
ready to move on to alternative (e.g. independent or 
supported) accommodation. 

 The applicant has been assessed as having the life skills 
to manage a tenancy - including managing a rent account - 
and has the appropriate support package in place. 

Care leavers do not need to demonstrate a community 
contribution.  

 

 Band 2b  
 

Council tenants, 
with a fixed term 
tenancy coming to 
an end, referred to a 
new property  
 

This applies to situations where the Council originally intended 
to grant a new tenancy for the current property, but has 
subsequently decided to grant a tenancy of an alternative 
property. For further information, please view the Council’s 
Tenancy policy. 

Council service 
tenants where there 
is a contractual 
obligation  
 

The applicant is a Council employee who has been living in tied 
accommodation (i.e. provided to them as part of their work) but 
needs to move out due to: 
(a) retirement, or  
(b) redundancy, or 
(c) the Council is changing, or has changed, the terms of the 
employee’s employment. 

Succession rights 
where property is 
not suitable  
 

The applicant lives in a Council property and has the right of 
succession following the death of the tenant, but the property is 
too large; has had adaptations to the property that they no 
longer require, and/or there is an age restriction that renders 
them ineligible to hold the tenancy of the property. 
  

Release of adapted 
property  
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(e))  

The applicant is a Council tenant who is willing to transfer to a 
suitable, non-adapted property and is releasing an adapted 
house or designated older persons property. 

Page 35



18 

Under-occupation 
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(e))  

 The applicant is a Havering assured8 or secure9 tenant 
who wishes to downsize.  

 Please note that this excludes tenants living in privately 
leased accommodation.  

Foster carers 
referred by the 
Council’s Children’s 
Service  
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S166A(3)(d) or (e))  

The applicant is a registered Havering Council foster carer 
where their current housing situation prevents them from being 
able to start, or continue to provide foster care or adopt.  

 

 Band 2c  
 

Category Criteria Guide 

Volunteer  
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(c) and (d))  

A member of the household has been a volunteer or an unpaid 
worker for more than 16 hours a week and has been 
continuously for the last 6 months. 
 

Carer  
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(c) and (d))  

The applicant gives care to a Havering resident that is 
substantial and ongoing.  
 

(b) Move on from 
specialist 
accommodation  
 
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(c))  

 The applicant is moving on from specialist 
accommodation provided by either; Havering Council’s 
Social Services Team, North East London Foundation 
Trust (NELFT,) or another registered supported housing 
provider in line with an agreement with Havering 
Council’s Housing Service. 

 The applicant has been nominated as part of an 
agreement with a single homeless accommodation 
provider in Havering, where they are in need of settled 
accommodation and unable to secure it. 

 The applicant has been assessed as having the life skills 
to manage a tenancy, including managing a rent account 
and the necessary support package in place.  

Homeless 
households owed a 
full homeless duty 
under section 193(2) 
or 195(2).  
(Reasonable 
Preference 
categories s166A(3) 
(a)(b))  

 Where it is in the overriding interest of the Council to 
prioritise an allocated place, in order to make best use of 
Havering’s resources. 

 Where the landlord wants the temporary accommodation 
property back and where; a) the tenant has been in 
temporary accommodation for 7 years, b) the Council has 
been unable to find alternative suitable temporary 
accommodation (i.e. end of lease agreement).  

Unsanitary 
conditions where 
the conditions pose 
an ongoing and 

The applicant is the owner-occupier/private tenant and 
the Council’s Environmental Health Team has determined 
that: 

                                                 
8 An assured tenancy is for a fixed period , for example; one year 
9 A secure tenancy is for a lifetime period.  

Page 36



19 

serious threat to 
health  
(Reasonable 
preference category 
S.166A(3)(c))  

 the property poses a category 1 hazard under the 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System (e.g. crowding 
and space, excessive cold or risk of falls) and the Council 
is satisfied that the problem cannot be resolved by the 
landlord within six months, and  

 as a result, continuing to occupy the accommodation will 
pose a considerable risk to the health of the household 
(this would include properties that have severe damp and 
major structural defects such as subsidence, flooding, 
collapse of roof) or  

 the household is living conditions which are represent a 
statutory nuisance, and there is no prospect of the 
problems being remedied within a 6 month time period, or 
that; 

 as an owner-occupier/private tenant, the applicant has 
been issued with statutory notice by the Environmental 
Health Team, stating it is an unfit property to be 
demolished under the Housing Act 2004. 

Reciprocal 
arrangement  
 

The Council will only agree to reciprocal requests from 
other authorities and Registered Providers where they 
can demonstrate that there is imminent personal risk to 
the tenant or their family, and the accommodation is 
required in Havering, and that the reciprocal property 
being offered will be beneficial to Havering residents with 
high priority to move. 

 

 Band 3 
People who have a need to move but do not qualify for Community contribution priority. 
 

Category Criteria Guide 

Homeless 
households owed a 
full homeless duty 
under section 193(2) 
or 195(2). 
(Reasonable 
Preference categories 
s166A(3)(a)(b))  
 

The Council has accepted a duty to accommodate within the 
meaning of the Housing Act 1996, Part 7.  

Homeless 
Households 
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(a))  
 

People who are homeless or threatened with homelessness 
(within the meaning of Part 7, as amended by the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017). 
 

Overcrowding  
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(c))  

The applicant is living in a property that has one or more 
bedrooms less than required under the Havering Council 
housing bedroom standard.  
 

Applicants living in 
unsatisfactory 

 The applicant is living in a property without access to one 
or more of the following facilities:-  

- a bathroom or kitchen;  

Page 37



20 

housing lacking 
basic facilities  
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(c))  

- an inside WC, or  
- hot or cold water supplies, electricity, gas or adequate 

heating 
 

 The applicant lives in private property which is in 
disrepair and is unfit for occupation. 

 
Please note that: 

 Applicants who only have access to shared facilities do 
not qualify under these criteria. 

 The above applies to private tenants living in a property 
that has a Category 1 risk as defined by the HHSRS. 
 

Moderate medical 
grounds  
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(d))  

 The applicant’s housing is unsuitable for severe medical 
reasons or due to their disability, but they are not 
housebound or their life is not at risk due to their current 
housing. However, the housing conditions directly 
contribute to causing serious ill-health.  

Need to move for 
care or support 
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3) (c) and (d))  

 The applicant needs to move to receive care that is 
substantial and ongoing; 

 The applicant needs to move in order to access Social 
Services facilities, and is unable to travel across the 
Borough; 

 The applicant wishes to move to a certain locality, where 
not doing so would cause hardship (which includes those 
approved under Right to Move Scheme).  

Housing for older 
people  
(Reasonable 
Preference category 
s166A(3)(d))  

 Older, or disabled residents, seeking sheltered or extra 
care housing who are unable to meet their housing needs 
from their own resources (i.e. asset rich but cash poor), 
but agree to lease their property to the Council to use as 
temporary accommodation. 

 

2.7 Applying to join the Housing Register 
Before applying to join the Housing Register, applicants are asked to check that they are 
suitably eligible, qualified and in housing need. 
 
Applications to join the Housing Register are made by completing an online self-
assessment form on the Council’s website.  
 
Havering Council’s Housing Register team (telephone 01708 434343) will help any 
applicants requiring assistance with completing the online self-assessment. Those wishing 
to apply but are unable to access the internet at home can get free access at all Council 
libraries.  
 

2.8 The Effective Date 

The ‘effective date’ is the date that the applicant joined the Housing Register once they are 
approved. 
 
If the application to join the Housing Register is re-assessed and the applicant achieves 
the Community Contribution priority, they will be given a new effective date, which is the 

Page 38



21 

date they applied to be re-assessed. The new date will continue to apply if the applicant 
successfully re-applies for a higher Community Contribution priority. 
 
If an applicant successfully applies for Band 2a from Band 2c, then their effective date will 
change to the date of this new banding. This also applies to applicants who successfully 
apply from other lower priority to higher priority bands. 
 
If the application is re-assessed and the applicant qualifies for Band 3 only, the effective 
date will revert back to the original date when their Housing Register application was 
approved. 
 

3. Finding a home 
3.1  Tenancy types 
Most applicants will be offered a fixed-term, tenancy. These allow the landlords to review 
the tenant’s needs and situation with regularly.  
 
The Council will normally only offer joint tenancies to applicants (including existing tenants) 
who have satisfied the Council of their intention to live together on a long-term basis. A 
joint tenancy will not be offered where an ineligible person is one of the joint tenants.  
 
Applications for a joint tenancy will not be considered in cases where: 

 there is a current Notice of Seeking Possession or Notice to Quit against a 
proposed joint tenant;  

 the Council is contemplating serving or reserving a Notice of Seeking Possession or 
Notice to Quit upon the proposed joint tenant; 

 there are management problems such as nuisance or anti-social behaviour on the 
part of the tenant or someone living with or visiting them; 

 the proposed joint tenant is not maintaining an acceptable agreement in respect of 
rent arrears; 

 One tenant was made homeless intentionally. 

 

3.2 Housing options 
Social housing is a scarce resource and while applicants may wish to consider other 
housing options, available both in and out of borough, to inform their choice. To enable this 
to happen the Council operates a Housing Opportunities Register, on which a member of 
the public can record their preference for housing options other than social housing. 
Applicants who are found not to qualify for the Housing Register will be referred to the 
Housing Opportunities Register. Examples for the options available are considered below.  
 

3.2.1 Mutual Exchange 
The waiting time for a social tenancy in Havering can be lengthy, so many existing tenants 
seeking a new property decide to opt for a mutual exchange. 
 
A mutual exchange is when two or more tenants swap their homes; a process that 
requires the prior permission of the social landlord (i.e. usually councils or housing 
associations). Havering Council tenants can register for a mutual exchange.  
 
The Council will only say no to a request for a mutual exchange for a limited number of 
reasons, as defined by law10. For example, a tenant may not be able to swap tenancies 

                                                 
10 the Housing Act 1985 and the Housing Act 2004 

Page 39



22 

straight away if, for example, they owe rent or there are repairs needed to the property that 
the tenant has to carry out. However, once these matters have been sorted out, the tenant 
should be able to move.  
 
A full list of reasons for not giving consent for a mutual exchange is available from the 
Housing Choice and Applications team. If the Council refuses a mutual exchange request, 
the applicant will be informed, in writing, of the reasons.  
 
The applicant has the right to appeal the decision directly with the Council. If the applicant 
is disagrees with the appeal outcome, they have a further right to refer the decision to the 
County Court. 
 
3.2.2 London Living Rent 
London Living Rent homes are for middle-income households who now rent and want to 
build up savings to buy a home. This can be either through shared ownership or outright 
purchase. Landlords are expected to encourage their tenants into home ownership within 
10 years. 
 
The homes will be offered on tenancies of a minimum of three years. Tenants will be 
supported to save and given the option to buy their home on a shared ownership basis 
during their tenancy. They will also be given extra priority for other shared ownership 
homes across London. To be eligible for a London Living Rent home, you must: 

 be renting in London 

 have a maximum household income of £60,000 

 be unable to currently buy a home (including through shared ownership) in your 
local area. 

 
3.2.3 Intermediate Renting 
Intermediate Rent homes are provided by housing associations offering the opportunity to 
rent a home at a rent that is 20% less than the market rate. The rent charged is up to 20% 
less than you would expect to pay for a home in a similar area if it were renting from a 
private landlord. 
 
There are a range of different types of intermediate rental homes including studios, one, 
two and three bedroom flats and shared apartments. 
 
3.2.4 Shared Ownership: Low-cost home ownership 
Shared Ownership is where a person can buy a share of a property, paying a mortgage on 
that share and rent on the remaining share (a part-own/ part-rent arrangement). 
 
If someone is on a low income, shared ownership can give them a chance to own their 
own home in stages. The minimum share purchase is 25% and the maximum 75%.  
 
When their income increases, they can buy further shares in the property until they own 
100% of it. For more information about Shared Ownership schemes that are currently 
available, please contact the Council’s Home Ownership team. 
 

Applicants who do not qualify for social housing due to coming above the required income 
threshold with be new Housing Opportunities Register.  
 

3.2.5 Housing Moves & HomefinderUK 

Page 40



23 

The Housing Moves scheme enables tenants of London boroughs or housing associations 
to move to a home in another borough, for work reasons, training or education, to free up 
larger homes or to care for a family member or friend.  
 
The Council’s Housing Register qualification rules do not allow someone to go on the 
housing waiting list if they have not lived in Havering for at least six years. However, an 
exception is made for applicants who apply through Housing Moves.  
 
The HomefinderUK National Mobility Scheme enables households on the Havering 
Housing Register to access social housing in other parts of the UK.  
 
3.2.6 Tenant Incentive Scheme 
The tenant incentive scheme allows a secure tenant to apply for a grant to purchase a 
home on the open market. The Council have in its gift to offer a grant which will amount to 
the value of the deposit to obtain a mortgage up to a maximum value. 
 
3.2.7  Downsizing Incentive scheme 
The Council has a ‘Downsizing Incentive Scheme’ to enable council tenants to move to 
smaller accommodation that meets their needs, and offers a cash incentive based on the 
level of room reduction and the associated costs to move in the event of financial hardship. 
It is designed to help meet the increasing demand from people living in overcrowded 
conditions who are on the housing register. The scheme however, is subject to change 
from time to time.  
 

3.3 Bedroom size entitlements 
Havering Council is committed to making the best and most effective use of its limited 
social housing stock by making sure those properties are not being under-occupied. 
Consequently, the size and type of property an applicant is allocated will depend on the 
size of their household.  
 
The housing size standards operated by the Council are: 

 A single parent will be treated as a couple. 

 people aged 16 years or older not living as a couple should not have to share a 
bedroom 

 people of opposite sex where one or both is over the age of 10 should not have to 
share a bedroom unless they are both over 16 and living as a couple 

 no more than two people should have to share a bedroom 

 a confirmed pregnancy over 24 weeks supported by details of the expected date of 
delivery counts as a child. 

 
In exceptional cases, an extra bedroom may be agreed on medical or welfare grounds 
where the nature of a condition suffered by a household member makes it essential to 
have a separate bedroom. 
 
Applicants may bid for properties that are a bed size smaller than their housing 
requirements. This decision is at the discretion of the Choice and Allocations Manager. 
 
Where there is shared care of children  
For the purpose of this scheme, a child can be a son or daughter of any age. 
 

Page 41



24 

Where an applicant has shared care of one or more children, and that care is for less than 
50% of the week, the child/children will not be included in the assessment for bedroom 
entitlement.  
 
Where an applicant has shared care of one or more children, and that care is for at least 
50% of the week, the Council will further assess whether or not the child/children will be 
included in the assessment for bedroom entitlement. 
  

The starting point will be to determine whether or not the child is already adequately 
accommodated11. If it is established that the child/children are not already adequately 
housed, the child/children can be counted as part of the bedroom entitlement.  
 
In all cases, applicants will need to provide evidence of the shared care of any 
child/children which will include: 
 

 A copy of the child’s birth certificate, and 

 Evidence of parental responsibility for the child/children and; 

Proof of a Court Order or written agreement by the sharing parent to evidence 
shared care and any benefits received for the children e.g. Child Benefit or Child 
Tax Credits. It is expected that parents with shared care will also share any State 
Benefit provided for the child. 

 
3.4 Specialist Accommodation 
 
3.4.1 Adapted properties 
The Council as a small number of properties that have been specifically adapted for 
disabled people. These properties are in short supply, so it is essential they are allocated 
to people who really need them.  
 
Adapted properties, and those suitable for adaptation, for applicants with a substantial 
disability may be advertised or offered directly to the most eligible applicant. If there are 
several applicants for whom the property would be suitable, allocation will be decided in 
band, and then date, order. 
 

Council tenants who are currently living in adapted accommodation but no longer need it 
are encouraged to move to suitable non-adapted accommodation. These applications will 
be placed in Band 2a. 
 
3.4.2 Housing for older people 
The Council offers two types of supported housing schemes 12 for older people – Sheltered 
Accommodation and Extra Care Accommodation – the main difference being in the 
facilities and level of support provided. 
 

 Sheltered Accommodation 
Sheltered Accommodation is offered to people who require a medium or high level of 
support due to frailty, ill-health or restricted mobility. Communal facilities include a lounge 

                                                 
11 “Adequately accommodating” means that the child either has his/her own bedroom or is sharing appropriately in 
line with the Bedroom Standard. 
12 Supported housing is a housing scheme offering housing, support and sometimes care services in a single, complete 
package. 

Page 42



25 

and laundry facilities, and a dedicated scheme manager provides residents with advice 
and support.  
 
In order to be eligible for supported accommodation, applicants must meet all of the 
following criteria: 

 55 years old or over 

 Single or joint applicants with no dependants 

 In need of the housing support provided by the scheme 
 
In addition, applications may be considered from owner-occupiers aged over 60 and who 
have been assessed as being unable to meet their housing needs from their own 
resources.  
 
The Council can assist these people by offering supported accommodation on the basis 
that the owner agrees to lease their property to the Council to be used as temporary 
accommodation. In this case, applicants will be visited and assessed to ensure that they 
can live independently (with a care package, if required).  
 
If the applicant’s accommodation and support needs are considered too high for sheltered 
accommodation, the application will be referred for consideration for Extra Care housing. 
 

 Transferring within a Sheltered Housing scheme 
Where an applicant lives in Council owned sheltered accommodation, on the first or higher 
floor without a lift, priority can be awarded to facilitate a move to the ground floor due to 
medical needs.  
The decision to award the priority is made by the Housing Choice and Applications 
manager. Applicants should identify why they need to move to a lower level – this will 
typically be as a result of deteriorating health and mobility issues. Where an urgent move 
is necessary, a medical assessment will be carried out in line with the criteria for Medical 
Priority. 
 

 Extra Care housing 
Extra Care housing is for people who require a substantial amount of personal care and 
housing support, and who might otherwise have to move into residential care. 
  
Applications for Extra Care housing can be made direct to the Council’s Social Care or 
Housing teams.  
 
Please note that Extra Care housing is allocated outside of the Council’s Choice Based 
lettings process and that a separate eligibility criteria and process applies.  
 
3.4.3 Shared Council Housing – For leaving carers 
Young people leaving care are an identified group at risk of failing to sustain their tenancy.  
 
The scheme will enable this group to share two-bedroom accommodation as part of their 
tenancy and skills development programme.  
 
In the event there is a failure of tenancy this group will be referred back to supported 
accommodation for further development of their independent living skills. 

 
3.5 Special circumstances 
3.5.1 Decants 

Page 43



26 

Decants occur when the Council has decided that a transfer to alternative accommodation 
offers the best way of ensuring that development, modernisation, conversion or essential 
repair works go ahead without causing huge disruption or hardship to the tenants. Decants 
can be on a temporary or permanent basis. 
 
The Council will consider the likely impact of the planned repairs and improvements, and 
whether they will be so disruptive that it would be unreasonable to expect the tenant to 
remain in the property while the works are carried out.  
 
Additionally, the Council will consider whether or not, for technical or safety reasons, it is 
feasible for the tenant to remain in their home while the works are carried out around them.  
 
For the tenant to be awarded decant priority, equivalent in priority need to the band 1, the 
Council must be satisfied that the work will be so disruptive that it cannot be completed 
with the tenants remaining in occupation and either: 
 

 The work is likely to take more than three months to complete; or 

 The health of the tenant or a member of their household will be severely affected if 
they have to leave their home and then move back again at a later date 

 
Permanent decants  
This will take place if the work is likely to take more than three months to complete and/or 
it would not be reasonable for the tenant to have to leave their home and then move back 
again at a later date. 
 
The tenant may be awarded priority for a transfer to suitable alternative accommodation. If 
a tenant does not want to be permanently decanted to alternative accommodation, they 
will have the right to return to their existing home.  
 
Tenants that need to be decanted from their homes on a permanent basis as a result of 
redevelopment or regeneration will be moved in a planned way.  
 
Each redevelopment/ regeneration scheme will be subject to consultation, equalities 
impact assessment and approval by Cabinet. When decant status has been authorised, 
tenants will be placed Band 1 on a phased basis so they may bid for an alternative home.  
 

If they fail to successfully bid for a property a direct offer of accommodation will only be 
considered in exceptional circumstances and if none exist the Council may decide to take 
possession proceedings. Existing secure tenants whose homes are due to be demolished 
will have priority for the new replacement homes being provided on their estate in 
accordance with the provisions agreed for each estate, before they are made available to 
any other applicants.  
 
Further details about this are available in the Council’s Regeneration - Local Lettings plan. 
Please note: This does not apply to applicants living in temporary accommodation. 
 
3.5.2 Property under-occupation 
While council tenants have the right to continue to live in a property even if it is too large 
for them, the Council encourages them to move to a more-suitably sized property, to make 
larger homes available to younger families who need somewhere to bring up their children.  
 
Older under-occupiers are also encouraged to move to a property more suited to their 
needs and more cost effective to run. Applications from Council or housing association 

Page 44



27 

tenants who are under-occupying by one or more bedrooms and are willing to move to a 
property with fewer bedrooms will be accepted and will be placed in Band 2a.  
 
3.5.3 Tenants in service 
Employees of Havering Council who have a service tenancy associated with their 
employment may be re-housed in the following circumstances where the council has a 
contractual obligation to do so: 

 Upon retirement  

 Upon redundancy or where the council is changing the terms of their employment  

 If the property is due to be sold and/or demolished, or have extensive works 
completed, necessitating a decant. 

 
3.5.4 Succession rights 
Where a person lives in a Havering Council property and has the right of succession 
following the death of the tenant, but the property is:  

 So large that they would be under-occupying 

 Has adaptations that they do not require; and/or  

 There is an age restriction that renders them ineligible to hold the tenancy of the 
property.  

 
If an ‘under-age’ spouse living in sheltered accommodation succeeds the tenancy on the 
death of the tenant, they must agree to move to non-sheltered accommodation. In 
exceptional circumstances, and at least where one other statutory agency agrees, the 
Director of Housing Services may decide that there are good reasons to grant a tenancy of 
the property currently occupied. 
 
3.5.5 Exceptional circumstances 
If an applicant has an exceptional need that is not covered by this scheme, the Director of 
Housing has the authority to make a decision based on the merits of the case. 

 
3.6 Local Lettings Plans and Sensitive Lettings 
Sometimes, a Local Lettings plan (LLP) will be developed by the Council or the housing 
provider (e.g. the housing association) which, upon mutual agreement, will be put in place 
for a specific area or estate on new developments. 
 
The aim is to work towards creating more balanced local communities, by taking into 
account local considerations such as household types; child density or the proportion of 
households in employment. In all cases, the approach will reflect any particular communal 
issues or problems that may present within the area/estate. 
 
In order to implement the scheme, it may be necessary to offer the social housing to 
applicants who are in a housing need band that is lower than we would usually offer to. 
 
The Council may also make targeted offers to suitable applicants in particular 
circumstances. The offer will be made to those with the earliest priority date in the highest 
band that meets the criteria within the local lettings scheme. 
 
The enforcement of a Local Lettings plan will adhere to the following principles:  
 

 They will be developed to meet the specific needs of a local area; 

 There will be a clear evidence based need for the plan; 

Page 45



28 

 There will be developed and approved with an agreed procedure that must have 
specific aims that may be reviewed periodically;  

 Equality Impact Assessment must be done; 

 Local Lettings plans must be consulted on 
 

The decision to implement a Local Lettings plan is approved by the Director of Housing, in 
consultation with the Lead Cabinet Member for Housing.  
 
For homes in the borough owned by a registered social landlord where the Council has 
nomination rights, approval is made between the Director of Housing and a senior 
manager from the registered social landlord.  
 
3.6.1 Sensitive lettings 
Sensitive lettings allocate tenancies to contribute to sustaining communities where 
concentrations of anti-social behaviour are disproportionately high. 
 
Sensitive lettings requests will only be accepted where it can be demonstrated that:  

 The neighbouring tenants have experienced either harassment, noise nuisance or 
un-tenant like behaviour over a period of time or of an excessive nature, and 

 Incidents have been recorded, and 

 Action has been taken by the landlord or there is a public protection issue that must 
be managed. 

 

3.7  Choice-based lettings 
Havering Council aims to maximise the choice of accommodation offered to those wishing 
to rent a social or affordable home in Havering by operating a Choice-based lettings (CBL) 
system. 
 
A CBL scheme gives people the chance to choose which Council house or housing 
association accommodation they want and makes the complex decision of which property 
to choose one for the applicant. It works on a bidding principle, as and when properties 
become available.  
 
The Council’s CBL scheme is called Choice Homes, and anyone placed on the Housing 
Register can bid for a home they want to live in. The bidding system does not involve any 
payment for a property – it is merely an indication of the applicant’s preference in a 
particular property. 
  
When a property becomes vacant, the Council will first check whether the property is 
particularly suited to an applicant with special requirements; for example, a household that 
urgently requires an adapted property for disabled people; where there is a 
recommendation from the police, social services or other professional agency for a specific 
type of accommodation to meet an individual need, or where a vulnerable applicant is 
unable to participate in the bidding system. If so, the property will be offered directly to the 
applicant without advertising it.  
 

3.7.1 - Advertising available homes 
Available properties that have not been directly offered are advertised on the Choice 
Homes website, although the means of advertising properties may change from time-to-
time.  
 

Page 46

http://www.ellcchoicehomes.org.uk/Data/ASPPages/1/48.aspx
http://www.ellcchoicehomes.org.uk/Data/ASPPages/1/48.aspx


29 

The available property will be described (sometimes called ‘labelled’) in a way that 
provides as much relevant information as possible, including:  

 the size and type of property 

 the floor level of the property 

 the type of heating  

 the rent and/or service charge  

 any special facilities or adaptations 

 whether pets are allowed, or not  

 
Applicants are strongly advised to study the description carefully, as some properties may 
be restricted to particular groups. When an applicant sees a property that they are 
interested in, they are strongly recommend to visit the road, neighbourhood and consider 
local schools, shops, parks and other amenities before placing their bid. 
 
3.7.2 The bidding process 
Applicants must meet the labelling criteria and place their bid by the publicised deadline. 
Applicants will generally be able to make expressions of interest each weekly advertising 
cycle, and bid for up to two properties per cycle.  
 
Applicants who require assistance with using the scheme will be able place a bid for a 
property by telephone or by the smartphone app. Additionally, they can bid by means of 
the Choice Home website, or by mobile phone text messaging. 
 
Bids are prioritised by band; from Band 1 to Band 3, with applicants having the longest 
waiting time coming first in the band. The applicant can withdraw their bid at any time 
during the bidding cycle.  
 

3.7.3 Auto-Bids 
For those unable to bid due to support needs, the Council offers an auto-bidding system 
that will automatically place bids for all appropriately-sized properties requested by the 
applicant. 
 
The applicant specifies the area and type of property they are interested in and housing 
officers can set up the bidding system to automatically place bids on up to two properties 
matching their description every week. The system will also tell the applicant how many 
other people with a higher priority have bid for the same property. 
 

3.7.3 Monitoring bidding activity  
The Council monitors online bidding activity. 
 
If an applicant does not bid for suitable properties that have been advertised for six months 
from the date they are accepted on the Housing Register, they will be contacted to find out 
the reason/s why.  
 
They will also be advised that their place on the Housing Register could be suspended for 
a period of six months. The applicant will be notified when this decision is made.  
 
In making the decision, the Council will take into account if there have been no suitable 
properties advertised or whether there are special circumstances for the applicant not 
bidding. 
 

Page 47



30 

1. How housing applications are processed 
4.1 – How bids are shortlisted 
When the advert deadline has passed, a shortlist of eligible applicants will be produced 
firstly by Banding order and then by Effective Date order - with the oldest effective date 
given top priority.  
 

4.2 – Viewing a property 
Following production of the shortlist, arrangements will be made by the relevant landlord 
(i.e. Havering Council or a Housing Association/Registered Provider) for the shortlisted 
applicants to view the property as soon as possible.  
 
The invitation to view a property is made via a telephone call and/or an SMS text 
message. This is immediately followed up by an email or letter confirming the viewing.  
 
4.3 - How housing offers are decided 
The Council operates a Priority Viewing system, which means that a shortlisted, priority 
applicant will be invited to view the property.  
 
At the time of being contacted by phone and/or SMS text message, the Council will ask the 
applicant to confirm within 24 hours that they will attend the viewing. Failure to confirm 
attendance will be taken as withdrawing the bid and the next shortlisted applicant will be 
invited to view the property.  
 
In instances the property has proven difficult to let, the Council may carry out multiple 
viewings, whereby a set number of bidders will be invited to view the property at the same 
time. The top priority applicant will be asked to view the property and if they do not accept 
then the next applicant will be offered the property, and so on. 
  
Viewings are conducted in adherence to Council’s Health and Safety guidelines and 
usually requires only the named applicant to attend the viewing. During the viewing, an 
applicant will be given further information about the property, the repairs to be carried out, 
the date when the property is expected to be available and any special conditions of 
tenancy. 
 

Applicants must advise the landlord before leaving the viewing whether they would accept 
the property. If the applicant does not give their decision within 24 hours of the viewing, or 
does not attend, it will be will take that they are no longer interested in the property, in 
which case the next shortlisted applicant will be invited to view the property. 
 
Once the applicant has indicated that they will be willing to accept the property a formal, 
written offer will be made.  

 
Failure to bid or serial viewings 
Applicants that on the housing register who have a reasonable chance of being successful 
in bidding for a properties, who do not bid for a period of 6 months will be contacted and 
advised on the process of bidding and offered any support required. If they then fail to bid 
for another six months then they may be suspended from the register.  
 
Applicants who are successful in coming top of a shortlist and viewing properties for 
successive properties, and either do not accept the property or fail to attend the viewing, 
will be contacted and offered advice and support in looking for suitable properties.  
 

Page 48



31 

The Council reserves the right to remove them from future shortlists if it is believed they 
may not accept the property or attend the viewing.  
 

4.4 Tenants moving to a new property 
Transferring tenants will be expected to give notice on their current tenancy. Council 
tenants will be required to pass a transfer inspection of their existing property before any 
new tenancy agreement is signed. Failure to pass the inspection will result in the offer 
being withdrawn. 
 
Registered Provider tenants may also need to undergo an inspection and should advise 
their housing officer as soon as the offer has been made. 
 

4.5 Feedback on let properties 
The Council considers feedback on let properties as important, because it helps applicants 
to assess their housing prospects and make informed choices about their future housing. 
The Council will publish feedback on each property that has been let through its Choice 
Homes choice-based lettings scheme on a monthly basis, giving: 

 The size, type and location of the property 

 The number of applicants who bid for the property 

 The band and effective date of the successful bidder. 

 
Additionally, the feedback will include information on any ‘direct lets’- let properties that 
were not advertised through Choice Homes. 
 

4.6 Withdrawing an offer of accommodation 
The Council will withdraw its offer of accommodation if it is discovered that the applicant: 

 Or others on their housing application are, or have been, guilty of unacceptable 
behaviour, and it is of a type and severity that would have entitled the Council to 
have obtained a possession order had we been the landlord.  

 Has breached a tenancy with the Council or another landlord owing through 
fraudulent behaviour or causing serious damage to property.  

 Has previously gained a tenancy, or attempted to do so, by means of:  

a. knowingly or recklessly has given false information in respect of any matter 
relating to their application 

b. has withheld information or failed to notify the Council of any changes in their 
circumstances may affect their eligibility, qualification and/or priority for 
housing. This could lead to their possible removal from the Housing Register.  

 
Offer withdrawal may also take place if 

 The property details available at the time that the written offer was made were 
found to be incorrect and it was subsequently discovered that the size and type of 
the property did not, in fact, match the applicant’s needs, and/or 

 The relevant housing officer decides that, taking all factors into account, the 
property should not have been offered to the applicant.  

 
4.7 Refusing an offer of accommodation 
If an applicant refuses a formal offer, they will be asked to complete a form setting out their 
reason/s.  
 

Page 49



32 

Their reasons will be duly considered and if it is decided the offer was unreasonable, the 
applicant will be allowed to remain on the Council’s Housing Register and continue to bid 
for properties.  
 
If, on the other hand, it is decided that the offer was reasonable then, depending on the 
applicant’s circumstances, we will write to the applicant to: 

 explain the reason/s why their refusal was decided to be unreasonable 

 confirm that: 
c. their application will be cancelled and that they will be disqualified from re-

applying for housing for 12 months, or 
d. the Council’s duty to provide accommodation in relation to the applicant has 

been discharged. 
 
Applicants must think carefully about whether to accept or refuse an offer as this could 
have a significant impact on whether, and/or when we will make an applicant another offer. 
 
The property will not usually be held vacant while the reasons for the refusal are 
considered. It will normally be offered and let to another applicant unless the offer is to an 
applicant that the Council is ending its rehousing duty to; for example, a homeless 
household, management transfer tenant etc.  
 
In such cases, the offer may be held for a short period, (usually no longer than 48 hours), 
while the reasons for the refusal is considered. The applicant will be advised of the 
possible consequences and given a chance to reconsider their decision to refuse the offer. 
 
Please note that an applicant can ask for a suitability review of the accommodation 
offered, regardless of whether they accept the offer or not. 
 

5. Appeal procedure 
Applicants have the right to information about certain decisions, which are taken in respect 
of their application, and the right to review those decisions. 
 
5.1 – Stages of appeal 
Stage 1 - Notification of the decision 
An applicant will be notified of the decision in writing by the Housing Choice & Applications 
Officer.  
 
The notification will give clear grounds for the decision and must be based on the relevant 
facts of the case. It will advise that the applicant has 21 days from the date of refusal to 
appeal the decision. 
 
Where a notification is sent to an applicant at the given contact address, but the applicant 
does not receive it, it can be treated as having been received if a copy of the notification is 
available on the applicant’s file.  
 
Where an applicant has difficulty in understanding the implications of a decision, the 
Council will make arrangements to advise the applicant verbally.  
 
Applicants can request representations on an appeal decision via a named representative. 
The Council will acknowledge this representation so long as it is authorised with the 
applicant’s written consent. 
 

Page 50



33 

Stage 2 - 21 Days to Appeal  
Applicants who wish to appeal for a review of a decision should, in the first instance, 
contact the housing officer who has dealt with their case, giving their reasons why they 
think that the decision is unreasonable.  
 
The applicant will be notified, usually within 48 hours from the date of refusal, whether the 
decision still stands and provided with supporting information. 
 
If the applicant then wishes to request a review of the decision, it should be made in 
writing within 21 days, either by email to: housingapplicationappeal@havering.gov.uk or by 
post to: 
  
The Reviews & Appeals Officer  
Housing Demand Service 
Havering Council 
Mercury House  
Mercury Gardens  
Romford, RM1 3DT 
 
Where an applicant is unable to request a review in writing, they can ask someone else to 
do this on their behalf, or ask us to hear their case orally. It will also be possible for their 
nominated representative to submit an appeal on behalf of the applicant. 
 
Stage 3 – The review  

An officer who is senior to the original decision maker will carry out the review of the 
decision.  
 
The review will be considered based on the processes set out in this scheme, legal 
requirements and all relevant information relating to the application, including any further 
relevant information was not available at the time of the original decision. 
  
Stage 4 - Notification of the outcome  
The applicant will be notified about the outcome of the review within 56 days from the date 
the appeal was received. The notification will also detail the reasons why the original 
decision has been changed or upheld. 
  
There is no further mechanism to review the decision, however, the applicant can take 
legal action to challenge the Council’s decision through judicial review proceedings.  
 
The applicant may also complain to the Housing Ombudsman if they consider the 
Council’s actions amount to maladministration.  
 
Please note that the onus to explain any change of circumstances will remain with the 
applicant throughout. 
 

5.2 Appeal procedure for the statutory homeless 
If the Council has accepted a full statutory duty to house an applicant under the Housing 
Act 1996 Part VII as amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, and they have 
refused a suitable property offered to them (including an offer of private rented 
accommodation), the Council will end its statutory duty. 
 

Page 51

mailto:housingapplicationappeal@havering.gov.uk


34 

The applicant can request a review of the decision to end the statutory duty and/or the 
Council’s decision that the property is suitable. The request should be made, in writing, to 
the Council within 21 days from the date the offer of accommodation was made to the 
applicant and should set out the reason/s why they think the property is unsuitable.  
 
The review appeal will be considered by a senior officer who was not involved with the 
original decision, and will aim to reply, in writing, to the applicant within 56 days (eight 
weeks) from the date the request was received. 
 
If an applicant is dissatisfied with the Council’s decision on review, or no decision has 
been made within the 56 days (unless there has been an agreed extension), the applicant 
may appeal to the County Court. Appeals to the County Court, including the procedure and 
time limits are technical matters, and the applicant may wish to seek independent legal 
advice (e.g. from the Citizens Advice Bureau or from a solicitor) before doing so. 
 

5.3 Comments and complaints 
Havering Council is committed to responding quickly, thoroughly and effectively to any 
comments or complaints it receives, and to use this information to help further improve the 
service it provides to local residents.  
  
We welcome complimentary feedback when we get it right, and any service improvement 
suggestions you may wish to offer. Like most large organisations, occasionally we don’t 
get things quite right and you may decide to raise a complaint about the service you have 
received. 
In the first instance, please would you raise the matter with the officer that you have been 
dealing with, and, if the matter is not satisfactorily resolved, escalate the matter to their 
supervisor. Often, this is the quickest and easiest way of dealing with such matters.  
 
However, if you feel uncomfortable doing this, or remain dissatisfied with the way the 
matter has been handled, we have a formal complaint procedure that can be used, which 
is detailed on our website at www.havering.gov.uk/complaints. 
 
We constantly endeavour to deliver the best possible standards of service to our residents 
and treat complaints very seriously. We will aim to reply to any complaint with 10 working 
days from the date of receipt. 

 

6. Implementation of this scheme 
This scheme will take immediate effect from XX XXX 2021.  

 
6.1 Monitoring and review of this scheme 
In the interests of continuous improvement, this scheme will be reviewed annually to 
ensure it remains relevant, up-to-date and fit-for-purpose for Council and the residents of 
Havering. 
 
For further information about the details of this scheme or assistance, please contact the 
Housing Choice and Applications manager at Havering Council by email at 
housingneeds@havering.gov.uk. 
 
6.2 Delegated authority to make minor changes to this scheme  
To ensure that this scheme operates fairly and legally, the Director of Housing in 
consultation with the Lead Cabinet Member of Housing will be able to approve minor 

Page 52

http://www.havering.gov.uk/complaints
mailto:housingneeds@havering.gov.uk


35 

amendments to the scheme. These are amendments that do not significantly change this 
scheme or associated procedures. 
 
 
  

Page 53



36 

 

Housing Allocation scheme 

APPENDIX 1 – Community Contribution reward: Qualification Criteria 
Community Contribution Reward - scheme 1 

 
 Definition Supporting evidence required 

Working 
households 

The sole or one of the joint applicants:  
 

 Works at least 16 hours per week for 6 
out of the last 12 months 

 For those aged 70+ years, works at 
least 5 hours per week for 6 out of the 
last 12 months.  

 Has a permanent contract, temporary 
contract, or 

 Is self-employed and can demonstrate 
that they have been for at least 12 
months.  

 
Breaks in employment  
Where an applicant loses employment they 
will no longer qualify for the Reward. 
However, we recognise that in the current 
economic climate, people can lose their job 
from time-to-time. If further employment is 
gained within the next 6 months, the 
application can be reinstated with no loss of 
accrued waiting time 
  
Pregnancy and maternity/paternity leave  
• Applicants who are on maternity leave or 
paternity leave but remain in employment can 
also qualify for this award.  
 

Original contract of 
employment, payslips, P60, bank 
statements or a verifying letter 
on headed paper, or can prove 
that you are registered at 
Company House in order to 
qualify. 
 
If the applicant is self-employed, 
we will need to see a minimum 
of 12 months continuous 
documented tax returns 
containing reference to the self-
employed activity. 
 
In the case of pregnancy and 
maternity, we will need written 
evidence of statutory maternity 
pay.  

Ex-services 
personnel 

The sole or one of the joint applicants:  
 

 who have served in the British Armed 
Forces at any time in the five years 
prior to making an application, or 

 are close to leaving at present, and 

 was not dishonourably discharged.  
 
This includes people who have served in the 
Royal Navy, Royal Air Force and British Army.  

Original Certificate of Cessation 
of Entitlement to Occupy Service 
Living Accommodation will need 
to be provided.  
 
Service with the armed forces 
will be confirmed with the Royal 
British Legion.  

Fostering or 
adopting 

Applicants living in Havering who would like to 
foster or adopt a child (and/or more children), 

A letter from Havering Council’s 
Children and Young Adult Service 

Page 54



37 

but are unable to as they currently live in an 
inappropriate property.  
 
The property must be considered 
inappropriate either due to the property size 
or the tenure type.  
 
The applicant must have the support of 
Havering Council’s Children and Young Adult 
Service and they must confirm that your 
current home is barring you from adopting or 
fostering a child (and or more children). 

stating that the applicant(s) will 
be accepted as a foster carer(s) 
or adoptive parent(s) and will 
only be able to adopt or foster a 
child (and or children) if they 
move to another property. 

Disabled 
households 

A disabled applicant under retiring age who 
has been assessed as eligible for the support 
element of Employment and Support 
Allowance due to a permanent disability 
which prevents them from participating in 
work related activities.  

A letter from Department of 
Work and Pensions confirming 
receipt of Employment and 
Support Allowance.  
 

Volunteering The sole applicant or one of the joint applicants 
volunteers for:  
 

 a minimum of 16 hours a week 

 those aged 70+ years, for a minimum of 
5 hours a week 

 Not for profit organisations or groups, 
including a charity, or community or 
faith group recognised by Havering 
Council’s Active Living programme, or 
- registered as a charity with a 

premises in Havering, or 
- registered with Havering Volunteer 

Centre (Havco) 
 

 a continuous period of at least 6 
months up to the point of application 
and continuously until the point of 
offer.  

 Within the London Borough of 
Havering.  

An original letter on the 
organisations headed paper 
from the manager responsible 
for volunteers confirming the 
applicant’s involvement in the 
minimum hours per month of 
voluntary work for the past 12 
months.  
 
This person must not be 
related to the applicant in any 
way.  
 
 

Carers An applicant who is:  
• Providing full time care (minimum of 35 hours 
per week) to an elderly person or disabled child 
and  
• Is in receipt of full carers' allowance  
• Where carers' allowance is not payable 
because of the carer’s age or other benefit 
restriction, evidence will be required to prove 
the applicant's status  

Confirmation of receipt of 
carers’ allowance or other 
evidence from a statutory 
agency or relevant medical 
practitioners. 

Downsizing  The applicant is a Havering social 
housing tenant holding a secure, 
assured or fixed term tenancy who 
wishes to move to a property with 

A reference from the landlord 
(either the Council or a housing 
association) confirming that 
the applicant is living in a 

Page 55



38 

fewer bedrooms and is not impacted by 
housing benefit/bedroom tax. 
 NOTE: this does not apply to Private 
Sector Leased (PSL) tenants, or 

 The applicant is a housing association 
tenant not living in Havering who 
wishes to move to a property with 
fewer bedrooms and Havering Council 
can nominate someone to their current 
property if they move.  

 
If the applicant want to downsize you must 
move to a property with fewer bedrooms. 

property that is too large for 
their needs.  
If you are a housing association 
tenant not living in Havering, 
we must have the association’s 
agreement that we can 
nominate to your property if 
you move.  
 

 

  

Page 56



39 

 

Housing Allocation scheme 

APPENDIX 2 – Adapted Housing – mobility categories 
 
Vacancies which are adapted or which are suitable for adaptation for applicants with a substantial disability 
may be advertised or offered directly to the most appropriate applicant. The Council reserves the right to 
allocate to a high priority applicant in need of such accommodation.  

The categories used are in line with the categories described by the London Accessible Housing Register 
(LAHR). The LAHR has been developed to help make better use of accessible homes and to enhance the 
choice of homes for people with mobility needs.  

Mobility Categories - Assessment of Mobility Need  
A household’s mobility needs will be assessed based on three categories (A, B & C) of mobility. These are in 
line with the categories described by the London Accessible Housing Register (LAHR). Qualifying applicants 
will be advised of their mobility category in writing.  

The Council will use the following categories to identify the mobility needs of those using Havering’s Choice 
Homes website and to show the types of adaptations in homes: 
 

Category Applicant profile Examples of adaptions  

MOBILITY - A 
 
 

 

The household has a member 
with significant mobility needs 
and who uses a wheelchair 
indoors and outdoors at all 
times. 

 Level access 

 No stairs 

 Property adapted to a 
wheelchair standard 

 Level platform at main 
entrance 

 No changes in level 
throughout (inside and 
outside), or adapted to 
include lift/ramp access.  

MOBILITY - B 
 

 

The household has a member 
with mobility needs who mainly 
uses a wheelchair outside and 
cannot manage steps or steep 
gradients. 

 With level access 
throughout (inside and 
outside), or adapted to 
include lift/ramp access 

 Wide Main/Communal 
door/s 

 Bathroom containing 
toilet, basin and 
accessible bath/shower. 

MOBILITY - C 
 

 

The household has a member 
with some mobility needs who 
is able to manage up to two 
steps to access the home  
 

 On the ground floor with 
up to 2 steps access 

 Pathway/driveway/ramp 
from pavement level or 
parking space, no steep 
gradients 

 Bathroom suitable size 
to be adapted  

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

Housing Services  

Housing Allocation Scheme (2021) 

Public Consultation report 

 

 
 
 
 
This report was created on Friday 09 April 2021 at 10:22. 
 
The consultation ran from 11/01/2021 to 04/04/2021. 
 
Total responses to this survey: 129. 
 
 
Comments from Hope4Havering were received after the close of this 
consultation. However, their have been included in the Comments section. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Question 1: What is your name?  
There were 126 responses to this question. 
 
 

Question2: What is your email address?  
There were 124 responses to this question. 
 
 

Question 3: What is your telephone number?  
There were 118 responses to this question. 
 
 

Question 4: What is your home address? 
There were 119 responses to this question. 
 
 

Question 5: Which of the following applies to you?  
There were 129 responses to this question: 
 

Council tenant 44 34.1% 

Private renter 22 17.1% 

Homeowner / leaseholder 22 17.1% 

Housing association tenant 12 9.3% 

Private landlord 5 3.9% 

Letting agent 1 0.8% 

Third sector charity / voluntary organisation 2 1.6% 

Other housing provider 5 3.9% 

Statutory organisation (e.g. NHS, Metropolitan police) 0 0.0% 

Other public sector 1 0.8% 

Business 0 0.0% 

Other 15 11.6% 

Not Answered 0 0.0% 
   

TOTALS:                 129 100.0% 

 
 
 
 
If 'Other', please specify: 
There were 21 responses to this question, labelled under ‘Other –unspecified’ 
(15), ‘Other public sector’ (1) and ‘Other Housing provider’ (5). 

Page 60



 
The following pie chart incorporate all ‘Others’ with segments that represent 5% 
or less of the total population (e.g. Third sector charity/voluntary organisations, 
Letting agents, private landlords, etc): 
 

 
 

 
 
 
Question 6: Please indicate here if you do NOT wish us to retain 
your contact details for further consultation and feedback 
purposes.  
There were 129 responses to this question: 
 
 
 

Yes, I agree you can contact me 89 69.0% 

No, I don't agree you can contact me 39 30.2% 

Not Answered 1 0.8% 

  
 

TOTALS: 129 100.0% 

 
 
 

34%

17%17%

9%

23%

Which of the following applies to you? 

Council tenant

Private renter

Homeowner/leaseholder

Housing association tenant

Other

Page 61



2.  SURVEY ANSWERS - YOUR VIEWS 
 
The Council has just under 1,000 households in temporary accommodation and 
approximately 2,000 households waiting for a Council property. 
 
Although the demand is highest for two and three bedroom homes, there is a 
special focus on specialist supported accommodation. 
 
We also have increasing demand for genuinely affordable homes. 
 
 

Question 7: Aim 1 
The Council is seeking to make best use of the social housing 
stock.  
 
Do you agree with this aim? 
There were 129 responses to this question: 
 

Yes 97 75.2% 

No 32 24.8% 

Not Answered 0 0.0% 

   
TOTALS: 129 100.0% 

 
 

 

 
 

 
There were 71 comments to this question. 
 

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0% 80.0%

Yes

No

Aim 1:Do you agree with this aim to make 
best use of social housing stock?

Page 62



Question 8: Aim 2 
To provide housing that is suitable to the specific needs and 
requirements of households.  
 
Has this aim been achieved through the proposed Allocations 
scheme? 
 
There were 121 responses to this question: 
 

Yes 62 48.1% 

No 58 45.0% 

Not Answered 9 7.0% 

   

TOTALS: 129 100.0% 

 
 

 
 
 
 
There were 47 comments to this the question. 
 
 

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0%

Yes

No

Not Answered

Aim 2: Has this aim been achieved 
through the proposed Allocations 

scheme?

Page 63



Question 9: Aim 3 
To prioritise households that have been assessed to be in most 
need and/or to those who make a positive contribution to our 
community.   
 
Has this aim been achieved through the proposed Allocations 
scheme? 
 
 
There were 123 responses to this question: 
 

Yes 66 51.2% 

No 57 44.2% 

Not Answered 6 4.7% 

   

TOTALS: 129 100.0% 

 
 

 
 
 
There were 51 comments to this question. 
 
 
 
 

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0%

Yes

No

Not Answered

Aim 3: Has this aim been achieved 
through the proposed Allocations 

scheme?

Page 64



Question 10: Aim 4 
To help build sustainable communities and neighbourhoods. 
 
Has this aim been achieved through the proposed Allocations 
scheme? 
 
There were 117 responses to this question: 
 

Yes 61 47.3% 

No 56 43.4% 

Not Answered 12 9.3% 

  
 

TOTAL: 129 100.0% 

 

 
 
 
 
There were 37 comments to this question. 
 
 
 

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0%

Yes

No

Not Answered

Aim 4: Has this aim been achieved 
through the proposed Allocations 

scheme?

Page 65



Question 11: Aim 5 
Ensure social and affordable housing is allocated in a clear, fair 
and transparent manner. 
 
Has this aim been achieved through the proposed Allocations 
scheme? 
 
There were 120 responses to this part of the question: 
 

Yes 59 45.7% 

No 61 47.3% 

Not Answered 9 7.0% 

   

TOTALS: 129 100.0% 

 

 
   

   

   

   

   

 
There were 44 responses to this part of the question. 
 
 
 

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0%

Yes

No

Not Answered

Aim 5: Has this aim been achieved 
through the proposed Allocations 

scheme?

Page 66



Question 12: Aim 6 
Do you think the Council should be developing low cost home 
ownership options, such as shared ownership, as well as to 
socially-rent homes? Building low-cost homes 
 
There were 124 responses to this question: 
 

Yes 99 76.7% 

No 25 19.4% 

Not Answered 5 3.9% 

   
TOTALS: 129 100.0% 

 
 

 
 
 
There were 53 comments to this question. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0% 80.0% 90.0%

Yes

No

Not Answered

Do you think the Council should be 
developing low cost home ownership 

options?

Page 67



PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
 

 

Aim 1: The Council is seeking to make best use of the social 
housing stock. Do you agree with this aim? 
 

 Local people should be given priority over travellers and refugees most local 
people make a substantial contribution to the community and have lived in the 
most if not all of their lives the area already has too many refugees and the 
travellers are a pain in arse the demographic of havering is being altered too 
much and it's becoming a horrible area to live in 
 

 The homes should be a lot more cheaper like the older council properties. 
 

 I don’t feel the earnings bracket should be reduced. People on that wage can 
rent privately and people under it can claim benefits to help pay their rent until 
they can improve their situation 
 

 The income threshold increase is ridiculous, people who are on low income 
already rely on the coucil to be housed and are waiting for ridiculous times to 
be housed. If you increase the income, more people will apply for social 
housing and the people with lower income will have to wait even longer to be 
housed. 
 

 If people have to earn over £36,000 and up to £50,000 in order to afford to rent 
affordable housing, I'd strongly suggest that the housing is therefore not 
affordable. The council and HAs should not be building properties that people 
on an average wage, or less than this cannot afford. Leave that to the private 
sector where those on £36000+ should be more than able to rent. If they take 
housing stock, this means there is less available for others, including key 
workers who are often not well paid.  Increasing eligibility from 6 to ten years 
living in the borough seems a cynical way of getting the number of people on 
the housing list down. 
 

 Travellers & refugees must be treated the same  to the rules for social housing.  
This is discrimination against all community members who pay taxes . But 
travellers & refugees can jump the que . Absolutely disgusting . 

 
 How can travellers and refugees get housing before people have lived in the 

area all there life and gone to school and worked in the area I think it’s 
disgusting you treating own community like this before people who come to the 
Borough your own community should come first not refugees or travellers 
should wait longer 

 

Page 68



 Being a mum of 3 I’m in a 2 bed flat every Friday I go onto the bidding system 
hoping I will be lucky I’m literally coming up 180+ For a 3 bedroom property 
 
The thing is you don’t realise some people’s situation I’m on benefits and I am 
currently sleeping in my front room as I had to separate my 2 eldest and my 
son has behaviour issues he needs his own space and some days his temper 
is really dangerous it isn’t right for my daughters mental health aswell as mine 
and for there safety I had no choice but to move my bed into the front room 
which is causing us less space aswell as being in lockdown it has been terrible 
horrible in fact .. 
He also has started sleep walking we are living on a 2nd floor flat so you can 
imagine the worries we have now aswell as he isn’t aloud to go on the balcony 
because he don’t always think things through so my door is constantly locked if 
it’s in his mind he will just do it .. 
Also you don’t realise I’m currently living In a flat with a nightmare neighbour  
just say asbos I got to the point were I was having anxiety attacks chest pains 
made myself really ill because of the hell we are still currently going through ...  
after reading the article on the 12th feb about the housing situation I’m now 
scared as it won’t be looking likely that my children and I won’t have no chance 
on actually having our forever home .. I don’t ask for a new build I just ask for 
somewhere safe and where my children and myself can actually breath you 
don’t realise being stuck in such a cramped home plays many effects on 
ourselfs where as someone states people that earn that wage are able to save 
up a deposit to privately rent .. 
With living with asbos and living in a 2 bed the only option was to private rent .. 
but being on benefits I could not afford the £3,000 first months rent or deposit 
that is ridiculous I tried Believe me I tried so hard to save it as we need out of 
here but no luck so my only option is to wait many years now for a council 
property if I had the money I would of definitely looked for a 3 bed private 
accommodation because I have no choice but to look for a bigger home 
especially with my sons disabilities my children are 8 6 and 1 so they are 
getting older  it’s hits them massively academically especially my daughter as 
she has no free space to study and our relationship is literally on a thin ice as 
we dont have no where to take time out   
It isn’t fair that people like myself are having to struggle im 31 and I’m still not 
finally settled in constantly fighting to move  so with this possibly happening In 
April I am feeling less positive that we  have no chance of moving or even 
getting any kind of help 
It’s disheartening  
Many thanks for taking your time in reading this I could go on an on but I won’t 
I’m guessing you understand the situation we are in  
Kind regards 
 

 People that have been waiting  for  the 6 year residency rule, to go onto the 
housing list will now be told sorry its now 10 years. What happens when it's 
reviewed again in the future will it be 15 years?  

Page 69



What you are saying is these people will never get onto the housing list.  
Your just moving the goalposts each time.  
If people have waited their 6 years, what's the problem if they go on the list? 
 

 The local born and bred in the areas should awarded a place before anyone 
else is considered. 
 

 No I think British citizens British born or war veterans including rough sleepers 
should be on a short housing list. Refugees are illegal immigrants they should 
be sent back to their country or the first safe country they passed. 
 

 This will be extremely detrimental to my young family. I lived in Havering with 
my family before having my children and settling in a different borough 
(Barnet). I was housed by Barnet in a property and after some time it came to 
light we were all being evicted due to “it being built against planning 
permission”. I approached the council there and got no where other than come 
back on the day of my eviction. On this said day I decided the best thing to do 
was pack up my small children and go to my parents house in Havering and 
stay there until I could get something sorted. My parents lived in a 1 bedroom 
so was very over crowded I approached both Barnet and Havering for help with 
housing both in fairness was just as useless. In the mean time I was driving my 
eldest daughter to school in Barnet every day which in the end became 
unbearable for the both of us I then got my daughter into a school in havering 
as we were still at my parents. On approaching Havering council I got zero help 
just being passed back to Barnet in the end I have managed to find my own 
accommodation all be it small & expensive. The only thing I had in my favour at 
that time  I was told was that after 3years I could apply to go on the council 
register however once I nearly reached that and it was then changed to 5years 
that was such a low point to know that me and my children had all settled both 
of my children attending nursery and school, my family living within the 
borough and myself working for the local council it being upped to 10years will 
absolutely destroy any hope I have of providing an affordable decent home for 
my children and myself, it also makes my working situation harder as 
increasing my hours and looking to go full time in this situation is near 
impossible as my rent is so much. I agree that so many points raised are great 
and validated however the implication on some with the idea of raising it to 10 
years will be significant on some people/families i have never got help with 
accommodation and I feel this is taking away my only bit of hope. I hope what I 
said is really thought about and taken into consideration. Thankyou 
 

 I was raised in Havering then moved away now i have been back for five years 
currently i private rent next year when i am 66 and retire i will not be rleageble 
to even go on the housing list till i am 70 what am i suposed to do next year 
when my income will halve and i will be evicted due to not being able to pay my 
rent 
I have a heart condition disbetes sciatica but not classed as disabled i did not 

Page 70



joint the army navy or airfoce what shall i do next year when i get evicted  
Wait four years? 
 

 Everyone is equal no preferential treatment should be given to refuges 
travellers or in fact any colour creed or race this system should be fair wether 
you are male female single married etc, social housing should revert back to 
that. If you cannot afford a mortgage or extortionate rents you should be 
accepted onto the housing register and be housed according to your place on 
the list. If you earn £50,000 a year you should not receive social housing above 
someone earning 15,000 a year. 
 

 Residents should have grown up in the area.  10 years is not long enough.  
People in genuine need of council housing  would probably not be able to save  
up £16,000-£30,000 and should not use low rents to give them an advantage 
over private renters paying full market rates. 
 

 I agree with the 10 years living in borough rule and also strongly agree with the 
community contribution banding style. However I disagree that the income 
goes up to £50000!! This is outrageous and nearly 3x the average wage!! If 
someone has a household income of £50000 they really don’t need to take 
social housing and can afford to private rent and get a mortgage easily ! And if 
they have £30000 in savings then they have a deposit ! 
 

 I believe that travellers choose to travel and should have the same 10 years in 
the borough like everyone else. 
 

 This will put many people who are already being pushed backwards after years 
of waiting further backwards in favour of those who join.. 
 

 I feel that we need to be focusing on our own borough first and to prioritise 
those who are working parents single parent who can not afford to rent private 
or save for a deposit not only this even if they do have savings for a deposit 
they may not have the credit needed to get a mortgage  children should not be 
brought up in flats and houses should be prororitised not building more flats or 
small houses families need space not to squshed up in small bedrooms also 
the properties that are already council old council properties need to be 
assessed and fixed or done up suitable for the families living in them before 
new properties are built the building I'm in has faulty electrics windows with 
gaps damp in the walls and subsidence plumbing issues also. I think if a 
property is made avaliable for what ever reason and a resident on the bidding 
list is of a higher band and is paying full rent inquiries  about it due to being 
close to family or suitable for children schools and safety they should be 
entitled to view the property I personally am paying full rent and council tax am 
a single parent with 3 little girls 2 have special needs and under chams living in 
the worst 3 bed massionette 1st floor I am bidding due to being a victim of 
domestic violence I've been bidding nearly a year have asked about a property 

Page 71



now avaliable opposite my mum and dad and 8 doors away from my nan and 
grandad perfect for us inregards to safety commuting and caring needs while 
I'm working I also have osteoarthritis in my spine and now can't carry my 
shopping up the 4 flights of 7 steps to get to my property and when it's wet the 
stairs are dangerous to be told no and keep bidding when I am still in the 50s 
and there are never any properties  that are suitable for us I'm a nhs worker 
also and need to be close to work and schools my mum has water on the brain 
and heart and struggles to get home when I'm on lates and she has my 
children  in the pandemic I've gone weeks with out seeing my girls and them in 
tears as they have to sleep on my mums floor when they are their if I could 
even be considered for the property opposite would be so much better for us id 
even clear it out and decorate it my self would move in as it is ASAP but the 
council don't work like this ans property will most likely not even go on the 
bidding like the other 7 properties I've now seen in Harold Hill boarded up have 
not been on bidding the system need re assessing to work for those how 
contribute and are already living here 1st and the older building need alot of 
work doing before new buildings are considered 
 

 I moved out of Barking and Dagenham to havering 3 years ago I’ve been trying 
to get on havering a housing list as I was homeless and fleeing domestic 
violence with young children and was told I have to wait 6 years to get on the 
council list I tried to contact my previous borough but they stated to me I was 
not allowed to get my name back on their borough due to I left too long ago I 
am a single mum left with no choice but do privately renting but it can be a 
struggle every month but I am getting there with the help would be nice if they 
didn’t up the years. 
 

 I agree that council should seek to make best use of social housing stock but 
the new suggested criteria do not meet that aim.  The new suggested scheme 
prioritises people better financially situated and limits chances for people on 
low income but living in the council for less than 10 years. Best use of social 
housing stock means provide place for living for people in bad life situation, this 
is the main idea od social housing. 
 

 I do agree with a few points, for a household who has an income of 50.000  a 
year? I mean if the council wants to prioritise, shouldn’t prioritise those really in 
need? I mean I’m a single mother living in a share house with other 5 men who 
take drugs and drink all the time, where they harassed me and my son 
constantly, where I’ve got infections due to the lack of hygiene from them, 
where I haven’t sleep at all for days because they threatened me and much 
more, and the council wasn’t able to help, closed their ways and pretend I 
didn’t exist. That you should change, that should be one of the most important 
aims CHILDREN and their mothers/fathers. Thank you 
 

 It's unfair to people who've lived in the borough 5 years to have to wait an extra 
5 to be considered while immigrants are exempt and raising the minimum 

Page 72



income just pushes the band higher ignoring more of the residents who are on 
benefits. 
 

 I don't agree, because it should be consider the people who are living in this 
borough for more than 10  years, which is my case I have been living in this 
borough for 17 years and in my current address 10 years. 
So I will need to be in the waiting list for 10 years more? Is not fair regarding 
that I have 2 kids and my flat is only one bedroom, that at the moment I'm 
sleeping in the living room, to give them a space that they deserve as a 
children. 
 

 No. 10 years is too long. It is excluding. 
 

 Havering is such a rubbish area 
 

 No I disagree, as I have been on the council waiting list in temporary 
accommodation for more than 10 YEARS having lived in the Borough for 18 
years consistently. Also working as a Teaching Assistant in a mainstream 
primary for 9 years and still not been able to, even as a single mum, secure a 
permanent home is really upsetting. 
 

 To up the number of years to 10 before you can apply for council housing 
would be detrimental to many residents including myself . I am 1 month shy of 
the 6 years needed , will I have a special allowance seeing as special 
allowances to other groups of only 5 years is being permitted ? Or will I have to 
wait another 4 years despite already waiting nearly 6 ? The other 
considerations seem fair , but I completely disagree with upping the residency 
to 10 years . 
 

 I think more could be done 
 

 I think as a secure tenancy council tenant of 26 years, if which I have mainly 
paid full rent.  This should be considered in priority.  I have been on the list 
since June 2015 (Then a CC1 band).  Due to D.V. and relationship ending 
(arrest made), and having to take redundancy from 10 years Essex police 
employee, to look after my son, I was placed in Band H, since September 
2015.  I would have thought a house would have been obtained by now, some 
6 years later.  The Scheme states longest on the list but newcomers all seem 
to be gaining the properties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



Aim 2: To provide housing that is suitable to the specific needs 
and requirements of households. Has this aim been achieved 
through the proposed Allocations scheme? 
 

 Again, I do not agree with the increased earnings threshold 
 

 No because the specific need is for affordable housing for people who are on a 
low income. 
 

 No I don’t think it has as I’m in band H  
I’ve spoke to many advisoirs  
I have been told only way I can 
Move my band and have a better chance of bidding is getting a diagnosis for 
my son  
It’s all well and good but I’ve been fighting for him to be put on the system 
since the age of 2 he is now 6 in June and we only got on the system 2 weeks 
ago  my sons disability is so sever he does really need to see someone but 
with back Log aswell they can’t tell me when he is likely to be seen it’s going to 
take a while so I literally have no chance on being successful on our bidding 
system as over crowded 
 

 I'm not happy with it 
 

 It missed big time to older persons who gave been widely affeced by the past 
year and is excluding them 
There are many i council housing earning wrll over the av wage who do not 
need council housing 
 

 My sons are unable to get social housing one works one unemployed neither 
are able to even get on the register. 

 
 If you stopped giving tendencies to newham and Hackney residents they’d be 

more for those in Havering. 
 
My son has been on the list for years and still waiting in Havering. 

 After 11 years of being removed then added then removed and added to 
housing list this still will kit help those who are already supposedly suitably 
housed but are in fact not 
 

 This doesn't put the residents 1st or those who are working 1st 
 

 The new income threshold 50 000 pounds will open up an opportunity for 
people who are able to rent privately or apply for a mortgage and it will close 
the opportunity to people who are really in need and have not lived in the 

Page 74



council for the full 10 years. Criterion of 10 years continuous residency should 
be verified and set at a lower level. 
Additionally, and very importantly, the people already on the Housing Register 
list who have not lived for the full 10 years in the council, should not lose their 
place. These families must keep their position on the list.  At the time of 
submitting the original application, there were different rules that these people 
complied with and it would be unfair if these families were now eliminated from 
the list, especially that all these families are on low income. Many of them have 
no other chances of getting a flat or house and their hopes for a council 
house/flat would be taken away from them, for some perhaps forever. Instead, 
opportunities will be created for families who are much better financially, and 
their only advantage is that they have lived in the council for over 10 years. 

 

 Other boroughs are paying 25 to 35k to their residents and guaranteeing 
properties in Havering.  I know this personally to a Havering Council 
subcontractor employee.  I think this in unfair and misleading to Havering 
residents. 
 

 I do not agree that someone is allowed on the housing register to bid for a 1 
bed and earning £50k but the same amount for a 4 bed need.  It is very unfair 
and should be staged.  Someone surely can easily afford private rented 
earning over £3000  a month.  It may be different if they were a family wanting 
a 4 bed but this does not seem fair. 
 

 Veronica Close used to have age restrictions especially for ground floor.  Since 
this has been lifted, there has been a number of young families placed in one 
bedroom properties.  The anti social behaviour of some has not boded well 
with the older / established residents. 
 

 As mentioned, I feel that for those who do not qualify to joint the housing 
register/key workers could be offered more support with affordable housing 
options such as key worker housing schemes/support to part buy/part rent 
schemes etc. 
 

 I would like to see a certain volume of homes made available to Service 
Veterans - as per the scheme currently in operation in Lewisham and other 
Boroughs. 
 

 Not all people who can't work are lazy. Some are ill 
 

 The Scheme doesn't create any metrics in defining specific needs. 
 

 This Is just moving the pieces around the chess board, without resolving the 
fundamental problem of a chronic lack of genuine social housing, which Is the 
only solution to the contry's housing crisis. 
 

Page 75



 You need to consider long term residents that have fallen on bad times 
 

 Personal answer no as I tick all boxes to be housed or at least helped but no 
change to anything for my situation. 

 I’m not sure? 
 

 Also there should be a clause that when a tenant becomes under-occupied 
they should be forced to downsize, allowing over-crowded waiting lists to 
decrease 
 

 Well not yet 
 

 Properties should go to English residents  first who have lived here for 10 years 
(the councils new scheme). Why should properties be given to others who do 
not have a need and who aren't English!!! 
 

 There is a section of society that is trapped in private renting which is 
expensive and unaffordable.  They earn too much to get on the Housing list but 
their current rent is so expensive it eats up most of their income meaning that 
they cannot save a deposit to buy, and struggle to meet all their bills, getting 
into arrears. Not enough weight is given to the current property being 
unaffordable. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



Aim 3: To prioritise households that have been assessed to be 
in most need and/or to those who make a positive contribution 
to our community.   
 

 How does waiting 10 years decide how much good someone is doing for the 
community??? 

 

 People who have lived in the borough for less than 10 years still have a 
housing need. This would not be met if the proposed changes are made.  
Those most in need are likely to be on a low income. If homes are built that 
they can't afford this means there will continue to not be enough homes 
available for them. The focus should instead be on building more homes that 
people on below or average earnings, can afford. 

 

 Give people housing on where they were born not people from out of area. 

 

 
 What is a positive contribution classed as 

I volunteered for NHS responded till advised by my universal credit advisor not 
to doit as i should beclooking for employment not volunteering 

 

 As said give the stock to those that live in Havering already and the homeless. 
 

 Again I’ve been involved in the community and am still on the bottom rung after 
11 years. The assessment and allocation based on needs is floored already 
and I cannot see how this will make it better for those who are constantly 
overlooked.. 

 
 People really in need, who haven't lived in the council for the continuos 10 

years, will lose their chance to get the house. People who are not in urgent 
need, like people with higher income threshold will get the chance of getting 
cheap flat. It is totally unfair. 

 
 It should not be a lottery 

 

 As stated before someone who earns 50k can afford their own property if 1 bed 
need, should be a lot less. 

 
 Right to buy must be abolished.  If tenants can afford to save £30k for property 

(especially if couples both working),  the should be in private rented. Social 
housing is for those who are in need. 

 
 
 

Page 77



 Not everyone can make a contribution  to the community some people are ill 
and with covid the jobs are few and far between 

 
 The change in Scheme does not seem to provide housing for the most in need 

locals in Havering. 
What is the metric for community contribution? - needs detail. 

 

 Whilst I welcome the diversity of the population of the United Kingdom. I do feel 
prioritising refugees when there Is a chronic shortage of housing for the 
Indigineous population Is wrong. 

 

 Long term residents need to be considered 

 
 Not for myself ! I’m currently  working and previously went to education gaining 

a degree to work within education myself  which I do now, I also worked for a 
care home during the pandemic. Before that I worked in retail. I have always 
contributed to my community and I’m still in a unstable place with a child 
having to sofa surf when I can no longer stay in one place with my son 

 

 No because it’s seems people who are able to buy different types of property 
seem to be buying up everything that is council available 

 
 How do you access whether a person makes a positive contribution to the 

community? I work in the art and culture industry and deliver mindful creative 
projects to Havering to help the community, would this be considered a positive 
contribution? 

 

 Two conflicting criteria have been conflated in this aim, Households most in 
need for instance maybe with full time caring responsibilities for a disabled 
family member are extremely unlikely to have the capacity for making a 
positive contribution to the Havering community.  
Those with inadequate income from one job may be working several jobs and 
also not have free time to commit to the wider community. 

 
 Time on the waiting list does not relate to need. So although this would mean 

less people on the list and give those on the list more opportunity to move it 
may be by excluding people in more need.   
 
Being more proactive in relation to mutual exchanges would be a cheaper way 
to go, although this is hampered by introductory and fixed term tenancies. 

 

 No ideia 
 

 You haven't defined positive contribution well enough. My son is a foster carer 
and needs a 4 bedroom house but cannot get on the list and will not be offered 

Page 78



one because he is single. This means in order to foster care he has to private 
rent which is excessively costly on that size property. 

 

 Definitely feel that the council need to work on this area as many 
vulnerable and disable residents are not given the priority they need . 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



Aim 4: To help build sustainable communities and 
neighbourhoods.   
 

 Trying to fill houses with people who earn more will mean they are not 
around to build a community. 

 

 There would be a danger of pricing out those on a low income from certain 
areas of the borough, which has already happened in other boroughs.  
 
So instead of having diverse communities, where people from all walks of 
life come together, they are likely to become gentrified. 

 
 Travellers have housing someone to live, what if joe bloggs just parked up a 

caravan and that was their place of living? They'd be evicted 
 

 It isn't an achievement 

 
 No so why change to another system that doesn’t work... 

Keep the stock fir those in Havering 
 

 You place people from out of the Borough above our own and also those 
who have no desire to work or contribute above those who do whilst 
claiming to build a community. It’s laughable that those who do contribute to 
a community are looked down on and dismissed in favour of benefits 
generation.. 

 

 The green spaces need to be kept and done up for the younger children with 
bits for the older children to do we do not have enough free or cheap 
activities for the youngsters to be involved in to stop youth crime or them 
hanging about the streets they need to learn respect and who to be 
responsible setting an example to the young not encouraging bad behaviour 
we need youth clubs and summer clubs young cooking clubs and so on that 
the older children can support younger children in doing we need community 
events and fundraisers we need to feel that government is looking out for us 
not working towards making money 

 
 No more homes should be built people should do a swap 

 
 We could become greener 

 
 Our neighbourhood has become an overcrowded concrete jungle. 

 
 Long term residents need to be considered 

 

 

Page 80



 

 It needs to be better if you have a park have a small reasonable priced cafe 
or stall for people to communicate in ways 

 
 We do not have the infrastructure to take in more people from outside the 

Borough. 

 
 No as I’m currently fighting on the system and literally don’t see a light at the 

end of the tunnel to even being close on moving  
 
I can’t afford to go privately so have no choice but to be on the bidding 
system we’re I don’t have a leg to stand on 

 
 Avoid these properties being sold to “Buy to Let” owners - as these tend to 

lead to a “transit” population, and less likely to contribute to a stable 
community. 

 
  know what you mean by sustainable communities / neighbourhoods. 

 
 If that is the case why do people have to have lived in the Borough for 10 

years before they are able to try for a council house but refugees, Travellers  
need only have to be in the Borough for five years this is not right or fair. 

 

 I currently live in a one bedroom flat with my 16 year old daughter. She 
sleeps in the bedroom and me living room. She is disabled. As of today I 
have a smashed window by my neighbour which has yet to be fixed. We are 
scared in our own home. We are overcrowded yet see people who have had 
the joy of a family home and refuse to downsize this is wrong 

 

 I think people who are already in accommodation should be given the option 
of the 5 bands allocation as well. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



Aim 5: Ensure social and affordable housing is allocated in a 
clear, fair and transparent manner. 
 

 No Scheme will ever make that possible. It’s all dependant on people. 
 

 Don't think this is a fair process on earnings or residency for all reasons 
previously given. 

 

 No affordability of property in london borough who can pay these rents 

 
 Just one sided allocations never taking into account changing 

circumstancess 
 

 It’s never been a fair and will definitely not be now. Housing staff are not 
interested in helping those that work.. 
 

 Housing prices for new builds is so expensive residents are struggling and 
most of them are being paid by benefits working people can't afford them I 
couldn't so it can't be classed as affordable my massionett has a massive 
lounge and kitchen small bedrooms (not ideal) as no space for wardrobes 
but new builds are smaller more cramped and double my rent this needs 
reassessing homes need to have big bedrooms for space especially sharing 
rooms a nice lounge and either separate dinning rooms or big kitchens to fit 
a table and chairs people need space and places to store items gardens 
should be fair sizes not to big but not small and need storage spaces for 
outside equipment these things need considering not just get as many 
properties as we can to make money especially if half of them are paid by 
benefits it doesn't make sense you need to come live where we live for 
6months and see what we all deal with and the struggles if small spaces we 
have the dramas with kids in the streets and noisy new because of thin walls 

 
 New Allocation Scheme doesn't ensure that. It priorites people better 

financially and closes the chances for people worse financially but living in 
council less than 10 years. It is not fair at all.  It is not what social housing is 
for. 

 

 Homes are built on green belt woodland and countryside wildlife habitat 
shouldn't be destroyed this will push wildlife animals to extinction 

 
 Please read previous comment. You're ignoring the majority of the residents 

for those with higher income or immigrants 
 

 This is a badly designed survey. I don't know what i am saying yes or no to. 
It is very unclear. 

 

Page 82



 Long term residents need to be considered 

 
 Citizens Advice Havering does not believe gross annual income is a fair test 

of a household’s ability to afford current rents.  Gross income does not take 

account of different households having different priority expenditures or 

different property requirements.  Will the Council consider (a) assessing 

individually each household’s ability to pay the rent for the property they 

need or (b) having different thresholds for different categories of housing – 

eg a one bedroom flat would have a different threshold from a three 

bedroom house? 

Having a single income threshold with no account taken of individual 

circumstances is not fair. A better way to judge this would be by undertaking 

an income and expenditure exercise for each individual application or setting 

a percentage of rent to income limit.  So for example, if someone is in 

private rented accommodation and the rent is more than 40% of their 

income then they meet the eligibility criteria. 

 

 Nothing is transparent, maybe collating information of who has been housed 
would show transparency. 

 

 Until the scheme is in place - one cannot make a comment to this question. 
All future applications and judgements would need to be scrutinised by an 
independent community panel - to ensure these homes go to deserving 
families to contribute to the Borough community. 

 
 If that is the case why do people have to have lived in the Borough for 10 

years before they are able to try for a council house but refugees, 
Travellers  need only have to be in the Borough for five years this is not 
right or fair. 

  

 I believe people should be given the opportunity to move accommodation 
through the council and not just through mutual exchange. 

 

 I feel there little information shared on this 
 

 Your own community needs to come first 

 
 10 years residency exemption: 

Within this criterion, a residency exemption will be granted to applicants of 
refugee status or of traveller background of five years, provided they have 
resided in the borough for five years continuously, and can demonstrate a 
community contribution such as paid, unpaid or voluntary work in the 
borough or being a recognised carer for an elderly or disabled adult or child 

Page 83



 
WHY SHOULD REFUGEES OR PEOPLE OF TRAVELLER 
BACKGROUNDS BE ABLE TO LIVE IN THE BOROUGH FOR A LESS 
AMOUNT OF TIME YET BE EXEMPT FROM THE 10 YEAR RESIDENCY. 
ITS CERTAINLY NOT PUTTING THE ENGLISH FIRST. 

 

 The increase in salary cap from £36-£50 is counter intuitive.  
A person on a £50k salary should be able to afford private accommodation. 
Monthly salary of over £3k and average rental for a 3 bed house in Havering 
is £1,400 pcm which constitutes less than 40% of disposable income. 

 
 New properties are too expensive 

 

 News homes are NOT affordable 
 

 I’m not sure it is being allocated very fair. I think there needs to be a 
overcrowded band for people like myself who are not homeless but our 
living situations are very uncomfortable, I am a single mother living in a box 
room with my two toddlers and to just put me in the home seeker band 
which gets overlooked and comes last. It’s unfair. When there’s 100 other 
people who will claim homeless just to get a social house. 

 

 The earnings threshold is too high when those who earn that could easily 
rent or save for a deposit. 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



Aim 6: Do you think the Council should be developing low cost 
home ownership options, such as shared ownership, as well as 
to socially-rent homes? Building low-cost homes 
 

 No, it never works, is hard to manage and just reduces the stock 
availability 

 

 No just renting so there is housing for everyone 

 
 This is a difficult one the idea is good but it needs to be more fair we need 

more affordable rent and it need to be cheaper than private renting all 
these new builds over 200 a week are more than some private properties 
and rent up front if you are already a council tenant your rent should carry 
over 

 

 The housing market is hard to get on to and many people in this area 
struggle to make ends meet. Focus on rentals and let them know there is 
no shame in renting. 

 
 I think the council should be building property s purely for renting 

 
 The focus must be In providing good quality homes for the majority of the 

United Kingdom population who are living In Insecure, often poor quality 
private rented housing, subsidised through housing benefit, as a top up to 
the poor wages of an ever increasing cohort of the United Kingdom 
population. 

 
 Help to buy is a valid scheme. Shared ownership is a total rip off high rent 

plus mortgage payments extortionate service charges per property which 
should be investigated. 

 

 There wont be enough council properties if Havering council developed 
low cost home ownership options. 

 

 We just need more rented social housing 
 

 We just need council homes for rent ! 
 

 The councils around the UK shouldn't build thousands of homes 
everywhere. This will destroy wildlife habitat and Push wildlife animals to 
extinction. We won't have any green belt woodland or countryside left. So 
called asylum seekers are causing the housing shortages around the 
United Kingdom and adding to the population of England. The local 
councils should encourage people to do a home swap 

 

Page 85



 Unless the sales of such properties will be ringfenced for investment in 
building more social Housing 

 
 Social housing only and no right to buy.  If people can afford to buy a 

private home, they should move out of council homes and free them up 
for those in need. 

 
 Shared ownership is not secure. 

 

 Council should do more to rent property. 
 
Keep properties for rent 

 

 I feel at the current time and shortage it should focus on soical rented 
properties, at the moment people are struggling to buy food and pay rent 
let alone save up for deposits 

 
 I think the councils place people that are in urgently in need for homes 

before they sell the available property some new changes should come 
and more homes available to bid. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



Is there anything else you would like to add relating to the 
proposed Allocations scheme? 

 

 Leave it as it is. Al this will do is make it harder for new people to get housed 

 
 Please listen to your residents and don't just pretend to put money aside for 

a moment and think how you would like to live and look at what we live in 
and then make your decision 

 
 There are many people on there own living in bigger properties than they 

need. I think they should be offered an incentive to move to a smaller 
property in an area they would like to move to. You would then have more 
properties available for families who need them 

 
 Provide designated sites for the travelling community, and deprioritise 

refugees until the United Kingdom Indigineous population is adequately 
housed. 

 
 10 years is too long to have had to live and contribute to a borough when 

migrants, refugees and travellers do not have to  this is a form of 
discrimination. 

 

 You need to make it fair for the English residents of Havering  who have a 
real need for housing and who have lived in Havering for 10 years and/or 
have made a contribution. 

 

 I think the £50000 earning limit is too high and should be £40000 max. Also 
the savings cap should stay at £16000. You will just be encouraging people 
who can afford to buy to then get a council house for the discount and loads 
more will be lost through rtb.  
Also I think the community contribution band is very good and should stay. 
Hopefully it will encourage more people into work 

 
 Build accessible homes for disabled / elderly. 

 
 Priority should be given to those who work that shows them to be worthy 

tenants by never falling behind with rent payments. 
 

 Seems all fair . Hope it helps out more people to rent properties 

 
 I am happy residents that have lived in the borough for over 10 years will get 

priority, i am hoping that the new proposal will help me in getting a 2 bed 
soical rent property and improve my chances of work n better prospects 
 

Page 87



 More homes or flats should be available I can see more properties getting 
build but non of them are in bidding for people waiting to be placed in social 
homes 

 
 A Fair Practice should be enforced.  Several properties on this estate alone 

have become available, never on the bidding site and then allocated.  It's not 
fair! 

 

 The increase in saving and earnings limit are unfair to people who genuinely 
need social housing anyone earning 50k with savings of 30k are more than 
capable of privately renting a home 

 

 Havering does not have enough social housing for single people. With more 
households than ever in this category, we should be building more for them. 
At the moment single people are very much the poor relations where 
housing allocations are concerned. This would also help with homelessness 
as many people find themselves homeless and in need of housing support 
after a relationship break up. 

 

 You are favouring thoose who decide to have a faniky just to get housing 
allocations and leaving okder people out in the cold 

 

 I really think we should do the 10 years in the borough but one size fits all. 
No special treatment for travellers they choose to travel, they’re need is no 
greater than anyone else’s. 

 

 Try looking at the people who are working and those that don’t. The system 
constantly punishes those who contribute to local economy and community 
in favour of those who never have any intention of working. There are 
families on the housing list who will never get houses because those who 
play the system or just don’t care get seen to and processed first... after 11 
years of being treated worse than those on benefits I don’t and won’t hold 
my breath that this council will help anyone who’s making an effort to help 
themselves whilst needing help.. 

 
 I hope my suggestion will be taken into consideration. I feel really bad as I 

have waited for a council house for a long time and now these chances can 
be taken away from me, even though my financial situation does not allow 
me to get the house in a different way. 

 

 As I said before so called asylum seekers are putting local councils around 
the UK under pressure to build thousands of homes everywhere  in a 100 
years time England won't have any green belt woodland or countryside left. 
All will be gone due to mass illegal immigration entering the UK pushing up 
the population of the United Kingdom 

 

Page 88



 HELP struggling single mothers, 2 bids a week with 700 other people is not 
enough and it is not fair. There’s more houses then it shows, work with out 
of London councils there’s enough housing for priorities, and if there’s 
someone in high priority list then put them in the house don’t let them fight 
for housing like dogs getting 2 bones ( 2 bids a week) 

 

 Have more consideration for the residents who are already here 
 

 Redo this badly designed survey. 

 
 I feel by increasing the residency it will reduce the numbers of people on the 

housing register but also hides the fact that there are people requiring help 
and they will have to be assisted through other routes.  I feel that qualifying 
time should remain the same but priority given to e.g downsizer who will free 
up accommodation for other families.  I really disagree with the blanket 
income Scheme and think this is very unfair. 

 

 Havering already has highest waiting time of 6 years just to join in council 
housing list. Making it 10 years will be too much for people like who is 
thrown out from Newham to havering because of homelessness. 

 

 The scheme should take into account DV people who have fled to make a 
new safe life for them selves. 

 
 You need to consider long term residents that have fallen on hard times 

 
 The council must seek to quickly resolve the housing crisis by creating more 

social housing whether renting or low cost ownership to help meet the 
genuine housing needs of hapless residents. 

 

 Please please look into bands properly as I feel like lower bands get no 
hope ! I have no idea if I’m getting any closer or just being left behind as the 
bidding list is very confusing and limited into what your doing right and 
wrong. U bid and get no response. 

 
 They should treat all of us equally 

 

 I have lived in the borough for 6 years and have been moved from two 
properties because the landlord wanted them back. I am self employed 
earning very little and now am in property that I cannot afford.  Will I be 
exempt from the 10 year rule because I work or will I be moved down the list 
because I do not earn enough.  I am very worried  about this new proposal 

 

 I just want a small flat for me and my baby with bath and garden 

 

Page 89



 In June 2020 national Citizens Advice research showed an estimated 2.6 
million private renters had already missed, or expected to miss, a rent 
payment because of coronavirus.  In the first two months of the lockdown 
Citizens Advice nationally helped people with over 1,000 issues related to 
possible eviction, despite the government’s protections.  Those numbers 
can only have increased in the nine months since they were published.  
When the current ban on evictions comes to an end (extended to 31 May 
2021) these people, including many in Havering living in private rented 
accommodation will be at risk of homelessness.   
How is the Council planning to deal with what could be a real crisis and how 
will the proposed Allocations Scheme respond to this threat? 

 

 Yes, and I hope that everyone would be fair benefit on this scheme. 
 

 Please don’t forget the people that are actually in need  
 
The ones that actually do need rehousing due to circumstances  
 
The ones that have actually lived in havering all there lives  
 
Ones that have no other option but to be put on the bidding system as they 
cannot afford to be housed any other way  
 
Don’t forget the residents like myself as you honestly don’t understand that 
the bidding system is the only thing that is keep people positive at the 
moment I’m like 180+ I have a long way to go but it’s something  with the 
hell I’m going through currently I’m thankful  but I cannot live like this 
anymore it isn’t right 

 

 

 
 If that is the case why do people have to have lived in the Borough for 10 

years before they are able to try for a council house but refugees, Travellers  
need only have to be in the Borough for five years this is not right or fair. 

 

 More needs to be done with people in homes that are too big. With the 
greatest respect of you want to you can purchase. They had their time and 
should think of those in overcrowding homes 

 

 You should really consider offering the brand new accommodation to 
existing tenants as well as the people on the register. 

 

 Thanks for the good work.,however the ten year residency seems to be  
quite too long considering  the ever demanding reasons people keep moving 

 

Page 90



 The increase in Havering residency from 6 to 10 seem punitive to residents 
who may have contributed locally for 5 years. Also disadvantages younger 
members of society where 10 years is proportionately a larger portion of 
their life. 

 
 I will say to help band 2A  because healthy people getting depression 

because of a house and fight argument all this makes us depression of 
when we will move and sometimes feel like why am here I don’t like this life 
anymore 

 

 Hopefully I won’t still be sharing a bed with my son when he turns 5,6 or 
even 10 as it’s effecting my mental and physical health.  If you want to make 
a change start putting us overcrowded/honest people on a peddle stool 
instead of leaving us at the bottom. 

 
 Please do not up the criteria to 10 years.  It will remove hope of council 

housing to people who have already waited years to register   . If this is to 
go ahead  there should be some allowances for people close to reaching the 
original criteria  of 6 years 

 
 Only that it appears to be a Good Proposal & Wish u Luck with all you Aim 

to Achieve..Just hope you never get that " One In A  Million " tenant 
Who has a Complaint that Noone Understands?? 

 

 I think each case should be looked at independently not just as to who fits in 
each box. As A family of 6 living in a 2 bed flat with medical needs it feels 
like we are getting overlooked. 

 

 Currently sleeping on a 
 

 Bring back age restrictions on some properties. 
 

 More should be available for mental health not just care places but actually 
flats 

 

 to take into account that I work and I have a lot since I've been in the zona 
 

 There are many many people living alone in 3 bedroom houses and this 
poor use of social housing. This section should be continuosly assessed in 
order to free up more housing options to people who are struggling in 
overcrowded situations 

 
 Hopefully proposal is acceptable by deciding panels and properties are not 

overpriced. 

 

Page 91



 I feel that the 36000 jump to £50000 should be 36000 - 60000 as there are a 
lot of working people crying out for houses especially with more than 1 child 
and also are willing to pay rent and bills on time due to working  
 
So please bear this in mind 

 
 Household threshold of 50k is too high. A family on such income and with 

savings can easily  afford rent privately or buy a flat. 
 

 There is a lack of affordable housing for people in need in Havering.  A 
Scheme that reduces the number of people that will eventually secure 
affordable housing doesn't help those in the community who are living in 
poor conditions.  We need to develop more options as a more sustainable 
longer term strategy. 

 

 Do not flood the housing market with sub standard, high density 
developments. Listen to your residents 

 

 Please help us 
 

 We would love to move to a bigger home as we are overcrowded as your 
standards but we had gone over by £800  leaving us stuck and not knowing 
what to do I pay £115 a month this would bring mr under but is not talking in 
to a count raising it would help the average price to rent in havering for a 3/4  
bedroom is £1550 to £1800 a month we could not pay this and save up to 
buy our home which is our plan one day. 

 
 I disagree with prioritising the Armed Forces 

 

 Yes I think people in situations like myself there should be help to house 
them. I was told that I could go on the list because I am over 60 and have 
health conditions and that I would be helped but when I complete the on line 
forms it will not allow me because I own 5% which is not like I own my 
home. I have repairs that need doing that I cannot afford I have no proper 
heating my kitchen is not big enough to get a fridge in and I also need a 
downstairs toilet as I have copd and struggle with the stairs but I can’t get 
housed 

 
 I’m pleased with this Allocation Scheme proposal. I hope this will eventually 

benefit people who have been waiting for very long time on the register but 
not successfully got a permanent offer. 

 

 People who rent should be allowed to join the housing register. It is more 
difficult for renters to save a deposit with high rents. We shouldn't be 
penalised for renting because there is no other option as housing through 
the Council is impossible. 

Page 92



 

 I think it is important to allocate housing to those who have lived in the area 
for a long time and therefore have family and friends close by . This then 
allows people to live in a closer, happier community. 

 
 In previous conversations  it was mentioned that you would agree that 

residents who move into the YMCA to receive their supported 
accommodation would not lose their Havering Status as a result of this - 
please can you let me know if this is the case? 

 
 give tenants who got evacuation from their temporary accommodation from 

council because they turned down an offer, another chance to rehousing. 

 
 I would again say please please look at all cases case by case and take 

circumstances into consideration. I feel that it is very unfair that people are 
penalised forever for situations that they found themselves in the past 

 

 These updated criteria needs to replace the old criteria as there has been a 
lot of inflation and changes since it was first introduced and is a bit outdated 
so there needs to be some new criteria like the plans suggested. 

 
 Yes please take look at the family with over crane citations first we need a 

help. Thanks. 

 
 I do feel that the Local authority should feel comfortable is presenting their 

expectations from other providers. if local landlords wish to continue to 
receive state funds to support their rents, then they should be supporting the 
local challenge and make the appropriate changes to support the local 
mission 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



Do you have any further comments or suggestions? 
 I would just like to reiterate that the room standard needs to be revised as a 

matter of urgency. Legal requirements for room standards have not been 
revised for a long time, and, in line with modern standards, having teenage 
boys sharing with girls under 10 is outrageous.  
These girls will be more heavily exposed to pubescent boys exploring all 
manner of new things that are not acceptable for a little girl to hear or see. 

 

 Build more homes and flats for young people, offer council mortgages or 
shared ownership schemes 

 

 PUT YOUR COMMUNITY FIRST NOT PEOPLE WHO HAVE BEEN HERE 
LESS TIME THAN THOSE THAT HAVE LIVED IN BOROUGH SINCE BIRTH 
OR HAVE BEEN ON HOUSING REGISTER FOR A LONG TIME SORT YOUR 
OWN OUT FIRST STOP LETTING US DOEN 

 

 Personally  , my 6 continuous years living in the Borough will be met in May..... 
I am in desperate need of joining the council housing waiting list for various 
reasons including medical grounds  . I have already been declined a housing 
application despite working for years for this community , due to not meeting 
the 6 year criteria.......so to up the criteria to 10 years in April would mean I 
would loose out by a couple of weeks ! I believe that if the criteria is to be 
changed , then genuine residents like myself that are so close to meeting the 
original criteria should still be allowed to apply under the original criteria.  If not 
, then this change will be a massive unfair blow to myself , and anyone in the 
same position as me . 

 

 I suggest the council should tell people to do a home swap 
 

 key worker housing schemes 
 

 support to secure affordable housing/help to buy 
 

 It is good that savings threshold is being raised to £30000 but I suggest that 
people earning over 50,000 should also be eligible for social housing where 
they meet the Residency requirements and want to remain in the Borough. 

 

 Changes to the allocation needs to be made to prioritise those who have been 
resident in Havering longest and those in greatest need and therefore 
deserving this accommodation.  This will make the allocation fairer and will 
support the neediest residents. 

 

 I agree to the changes. However, it will be unfair for people who have lived in 
the borough for 9 and half years to be affected with the changes after 
contributing to the community and the love I have for Havering. I think 8 or 9 

Page 94



years of living in havering should stay on the register while the rest can 
rejected 

 

 Priority on council houses are being manipulated by them. Every Thursday 
night at 12:00 am, when the properties became available, the site don’t work 
....until 2 or 3 am, so when I get back I am already on 40 or 50 place bid. 
Coincidence? .... don’t think so 

 

 I think it would be better to go back to allocating people with homes as bidding 
just gets people hopes up and it isn’t fair 

 

 I agree, even though my borough is barking and dagenham there needs to be 
more affordable social housing as I'm being told my borough has no properties! 
Making me stuck in a situation that is impossible to live properly and I am 30 
years old 

 

 I have been in a private flat for 6 years in June. By you changing it I will have to 
remain for a further 4 years. I cannot afford this and this is not fair for people 
like me. I'm a single parent & a teacher, my wages barely cover my rent and 
I'm always struggling. Please think of us 

 

 I applied in September of 2020 having lived in my current property for just over 
6 years. Will my current application be affected now that that the resisdency for 
havering applicants will be changed to 10 years? 

 

 My son and daughter live in havering one in the rip off disgusting YMCA yhe 
other in a badly managed social housing flat. Great flat poorly looked after by 
management, who waste council money on poor workmanship. 

 

 Where’s the shops that were promised with new build at Taybury court on Briar 
Road. 

 

 Clamp down on sub-letting.   
 
If you have tenants who are able to work but choose not to (preferring benefits) 
they should be the ones made to move out of the area, not those who have 
local work and would lose their jobs if they were reallocated. 

 

 Make sure this scheme is monitored effectively. I am convinced that there are 
already many people who have moved into this Borough and have been given 
priority over long standing residents. 
My children had zero chance of being housed by this council 

 

 Havering already has highest waiting time of 6 years just to join in council 
housing list. Making it 10 years will be too much for people like who is thrown 
out from Newham to havering because of homelessness. 

Page 95



 
Also household income should stay in 36000 max. If people earn more than 
36000 i am sure they can afford private rental or buy a property. 

 

 As you would have gathered, I think these changes are the opposite of what 
we should be doing. Our focus should be on building truly affordable housing, 
plus making sure all private developments include a significant number of 
affordable homes, not just a token amount. 

 

 So far a great work, just the priorities are a bit confusing. 
 

 It would be interesting to see more about the different categories for bidding. 
 

 Everyone’s circumstances are different. This new proposal will affect many 
lives and the council must treat people as an individual and not a whole.  Each 
person should be contacted about their own personal concerns and statuses. 

 

 Look after the people of Havering with the stock, stop giving houses to other 
boroughs and use them fir those in need in the borough. 

 

 I think it would be very good idea to let pregnant people be eligible for a 2 bed.  
So if someone is pregnant they can go on the list for the amount of rooms they 
would require once the baby is born. It then gives them a head start as far too 
many family’s are overcrowded especially in tiny 1 bed flats for far too long 

 

 I’m pleased with this Allocation Scheme proposal. I hope this will eventually 
benefit people who have been waiting for very long time on the register but not 
successfully got a permanent offer. 

 

 Citizens Advice Havering congratulates the Council for not using bed and 
breakfast accommodation and for having an ambitious house building strategy 
that will result in 3,500 new homes in the next ten years of which 50% will be 
affordable. With more new housing stock in the pipeline Citizens Advice 
Havering believes it should not be necessary to increase the continuous 
residency requirement to 10 years. This is far longer than many other London 
Boroughs 

 

 Thank you for all you do in these very challenging times 
 

 As stated more priority for care givers who cannot work when in actual fact 
being a carer is a FULL TIME JOB. 

 

 No - just sell the homes to owners - and NOT to “Buy-to-Let” landlords, who 
would simply rent these out to the same families that get no return or 
ownership for their rent payments!! 

 

Page 96



 Just Thankyou.. 

 
 Listen to us look at us and hear us we are living in your decisions but would 

you live in them? Walk in our shoes for a while would you enjoy living like us 
struggling to show our kids a good life and struggling to keep a roof over our 
heads most of us can't decorate or take our kids out for a day let alone a 
holiday due to the bills we pay living is a very high cost and covid has made it 
worse and harder some don't even have jobs any more be considering of us 

 

 Working as a Teaching Assistant in a mainstream primary for 9 years hasn't 
helped me yet to secure a permanent home. This really needs addressing. 

 

 Increasing the residency requirements from 6 to 10 years is not a good idea. It 
should be lowered instead to say 3 years or lower! Residents in genuine 
housing need will have to wait for 10 years to be eligible for social housing?? 
This is preposterous! I think it is a shameful proposition. 

 

 I would like to know what the government Is doing to help DV people fleeing 
domestic violence and wanting to have a new start. Should this social housing 
scheme not be purposely built to help people in need ? 

 

 To realise not everyone can contribute to the community through no fault of 
their own. Also to offer a cash incentive for people living in properties bigger 
than they need to down size. Sometime s people won't move purely because 
they can't afford to redecorate or moving costs 

 

 More options for housing rather than more restrictions to reduce the number 
able to apply for housing.  There are many families whose lives will be 
negatively impacted by this Scheme.  Another generation of children living in 
poverty and in overcrowded conditions is not addressed by restricting who can 
apply. 

 

 On the application form please state clearly what each question means and 
what needs to be included as when it comes to income and savings it can be a 
bit of a grey area on what is meant by savings and income. 

 

 that I am a single mother and that I work but I can't afford to pay all the rent to 
the agency 

 

 Help those who work not those who don’t first.. 
 

 We would love to move to a bigger home as we are overcrowded as your 
standards but we had gone over by £800  leaving us stuck and not knowing 
what to do I pay £115 a month this would bring mr under but is not talking in to 
a count raising it would help the average price to rent in havering for a 3/4  

Page 97



bedroom is £1550 to £1800 a month we could not pay this and save up to buy 
our home which is our plan one day. 

 

 I think I should be considered for housing as I believe I am in need. 
 

 Six years is enough no one should get any home who have been in the 
borough less thsn 6 years ten is too long circumstances change lives change 
thomrough not fault this excludeds too many 

 

 Consider long term residents that may have not required social housing in the 
past 

 

 Priority should be to English residents!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!! 
 

 I agree with it, it needs to be expanding to existing tenants as well as new 
tenants. It would be great to have the opportunity to have the option to pick the 
best level band accommodation. 

 
 
 

Email response from Kim Merry, CEO of Hope 4 Havering, 
received 5 April 2021: 
 
1. 10 years continuous residency 

In my experience some of the homeless people we meet have to sofa surf or stay 

with people from outside the borough as they are not in a position to choose 

when they have no means. Also they maybe offered housing in another area 

such as Harlow or Southend because the rent in our borough is inaffordable 

whilst having all their original roots and family within the Havering Borough. This 

Scheme puts the most vulnerable at risk rather than helping them.  

2. 10 years residency exemption 

I wanted to query what would happen to a vulnerable refugee family before the 5 

years in the borough do they not qualify for help or housing at all? I can't see how 

a traveller family who has their roots in Havering can be penalised by staying for 

periods in other areas if this is their home town. I like the fact that people are 

rewarded for contributing to their community but wonder whether the people 

themselves know that this is a criteria or whether they have the capacity in each 

of their circumstances to either work or volunteer. 

 

 

Page 98



3. The income threshold is too high 

I can not understand how people who can fully support themselves with incomes 

upto £50k need the help of social housing. It would appear to me that this 

Scheme is helping those who have rather than those who have little. I would 

think the general public would find this both surprising and unfair if this was 

known widely. I am shocked personally to think that those earning those kind of 

amounts are qualifying for special support. 

4. The Amount in Savings limit is too high 

I am concerned that this scheme is very much benefitting the people who have 

rather than  those who don't. I was extremely surprised to see that people with I 

would consider a large amount of savings would benefit from social housing. I 

thought social housing was meant to benefit those who couldn't help 

themselves.  

I do understand that there is a fine balance between helping people move 

forward and enabling those who are stuck but don't wish to change and that there 

is a stick and carrot approach to this Scheme. But if these changes to the 

Scheme appear to not support those most vulnerable and therefore does not 

have my support. By increasing the savings and income surely the numbers who 

could be potentially housed increase rather than decrease? The Scheme would 

suggest to me that some kind of social segregation is being implied both by not 

providing enough affordable properties and making the possibility in the future 

even more remote. As more local authorities bring other people into our borough 

by paying larger incentives than Havering the case for housing for people 

indigenous to Havering becomes more and more an unattainable dream than a 

reality.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 99



 
APPENDIX 2: 

Equality and Health Impact Assessment (EqHIA) 
 
Question 15: Gender 
There were 126 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 
 Total Percent 

Man 24 18.60% 

Woman 94 72.87% 

Gender Neutral / Agender 2 1.55% 

Trans Woman 1 0.78% 

Trans Man 0 0.00% 

Non-Binary 0 0.00% 

Other 5 3.88% 

Not Answered 3 2.33% 

 
 
 
Question 16: Relationship Status 
There were 124 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 Total Percent 

Single 62 48.06% 

Married 43 33.33% 

Civil Partnership 1 0.78% 

Co-habiting 4 3.10% 

Widowed 4 3.10% 

Prefer not to say 5 3.88% 

Other 5 3.88% 

Not Answered 5 3.88% 

 
Relationship other 
There were 3 responses to this part of the question. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



 
Question 17: Age 
 
Age 
There were 125 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 Total Percent 

Under 18 0 0.00% 

18-24 4 3.10% 

25-34 40 31.01% 

35-44 31 24.03% 

45-54 23 17.83% 

55-64 13 10.08% 

65-74 6 4.65% 

75-84 1 0.78% 

85+ 0 0.00% 

Prefer not to say 7 5.43% 

Not Answered 4 3.10% 

 
 
 
Question 18: Sexual Orientation 
There were 122 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 
 Total Percent 

Bisexual 8 6.20% 

Gay 3 2.33% 

Hetrosexual (straight) 89 68.99% 

Lesbian / Gay Woman 2 1.55% 

Prefer not to say 16 12.40% 

Other 4 3.10% 

Not Answered 7 5.43% 

 
Other Sexual Orientation 
There were 2 responses to this part of the question. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



Question 19: Faith, Religion or Belief 
There were 123 responses to this part of the question. 
 Total Percent 

Christian 55 42.64% 

Muslim 12 9.30% 

Jewish 0 0.00% 

Hindu 1 0.78% 

Buddhist 0 0.00% 

Sikh 1 0.78% 

No Religion 35 27.13% 

Prefer not to say 15 11.63% 

Other 4 3.10% 

Not Answered 6 4.65% 

 
Other Religion 
There was 1 response to this part of the question. 
 
 
 
 
Question 20: Are you pregnant or have you given birth in the last 26 
weeks? 
There were 122 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 
 Total Percent 

Yes 13 10.08% 

No 101 78.29% 

Prefer not to say 8 6.20% 

Not Answered 7 5.43% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



21: Do you have unpaid responsibility for a child as a parent / guardian 
etc.? 
There were 124 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 Total Percent 

Yes 37 28.68% 

No 73 56.59% 

Prefer not to say 14 10.85% 

Not Answered 5 3.88% 

 
 
Full or Part time childcare 
There were 40 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 Total Percent 

Full-time 33 25.58% 

Part-time 7 5.43% 

Not Answered 89 68.99% 

 
 
Age of child/children 
There were 57 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 Total Percent 

Aged 0 to 4 (preschool) 32 24.81% 

Aged 5 to 10 (primary) 33 25.58% 

Aged 11 to 18 (secondary) 27 20.93% 

Not Answered 72 55.81% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 103



22: Are you a British / United Kingdom citizen or national? 
There were 125 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 Total Percent 

Yes 101 78.29% 

No 15 11.63% 

Prefer not to say 9 6.98% 

Not Answered 4 3.10% 

 
 
Citizenship and Nationality 
There were 17 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 Total Percent 

EU National 9 6.98% 

EEA National 0 0.00% 

Indefinite Leave to remain/enter 4 3.10% 

Refugee 1 0.78% 

Asylum Seeker 0 0.00% 

Other 3 2.33% 

Not Answered 112 86.82% 

 
Other Nationality 
There were 5 responses to this part of the question. 
 
 
 
23: Ethnic origin is not about nationality, place of birth or citizenship.  It is 
about the group to which you perceive you belong. 
 
 
White 
There were 82 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 
 

Total Percent 

White - British 67 51.94% 

White - Irish 2 1.55% 

White - Gypsy or Irish Traveller 0 0.00% 

White - European 10 7.75% 

Other - White background 3 2.33% 

Not Answered 47 36.43% 

 
 
 
 

Page 104



Mixed/multiple groups 
There were 8 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 Total Percent 

Mixed/multiple groups - White and Black Caribbean 1 0.78% 

Mixed/multiple groups - White and Black African 4 3.10% 

Mixed/multiple groups - White and Asian 2 1.55% 

Mixed/multiple groups - Other mixed background 1 0.78% 

Not Answered 121 93.80% 

 
 
Asian/Asian British 
There were 12 responses to this part of the question: 
 
Option Total Percent 

Asian/Asian British - Indian 1 0.78% 

Asian/Asian British - Pakistani 3 2.33% 

Asian/Asian British - Bangladeshi 4 3.10% 

Asian/Asian British - Chinese 0 0.00% 

Asian/Asian British - Other Asian background 4 3.10% 

Not Answered 117 90.70% 

 
 
Black/Black British 
There were 11 responses to this part of the question: 
 
Option Total Percent 

Black/Black British - African 4 3.10% 

Black/Black British - Caribbean 4 3.10% 

Black/Black British - Any other 
Black/African/Caribbean background 

3 2.33% 

Not Answered 118 91.47% 

 
 
Other ethnic group 
There were 4 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 Total Percent 

Other ethnic group - Arab 1 0.78% 

Other ethnic group - Prefer not to say 1 0.78% 

Other ethnic group - Other ethnic group 2 1.55% 

Not Answered 125 96.90% 

 
 

Page 105



 
Prefer not to say ethnicity 
There were 16 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 Total Percent 

Yes 16 12.40% 

No 113 87.60% 

 
 
24: Do you consider yourself to have a disability, impairment or health 
condition? 
 
Disability 
There were 124 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 Total Percent 

Yes 31 24.03% 

No 78 60.47% 

Prefer not to say 15 11.63% 

Not Answered 5 3.88% 

 
 
 
Impairment 
There were 35 responses to this part of the question: 
 
 Total Percent 

Sensory - e.g. mild deafness; partially sighted; 
blindness 

1 0.78% 

Physical - e.g. wheelchair user 4 3.10% 

Mental Illness - e.g. bi-polar disorder; schizophrenia; 
depression 

22 17.05% 

Development or Educational - e.g. autistic spectrum 
disorders (ASD); dyslexia and dyspraxia 

3 2.33% 

Learning Disability / Condition - e.g. Down's 
syndrome; Cerebral palsy 

0 0.00% 

Long-term Illness / Health Condition - e.g. cancer, 
HIV, diabetes, chronic heart disease, stroke 

11 8.53% 

Other 8 6.20% 

Not Answered 94 72.87% 

 

Page 106



 
 
 

Housing Allocation policy 
 

Equality and Health Impact Assessment (EqHIA) 

Document control  
 

Title of activity: Housing Allocation policy 

 
Lead officer:  
 

Darren Alexander, Assistant Director Housing Demand 

 
Approved by: 
 

Patrick Odling-Smee, Director of Housing 

Authors: 
Kwabena Obiri, Housing Choice & Applications Manager, Joe 
Agius, Strategy & Policy Officer 

 
Date completed: 
 

24/09/21 

 
Scheduled date for 
review: 
 

October, 2022 

 
 

Did you seek advice from the Corporate Policy & Diversity team?  

Did you seek advice from the Public Health team?  

Does the EqHIA contain any confidential or exempt information 
that would prevent you publishing it on the Council’s website? 

No 

Page 107



1. Equality & Health Impact Assessment checklist 
  

About your activity 

1 Title of activity Housing Allocation policy 

2 Type of activity 
Policy 
Housing lettings 

3 Scope of activity 

This policy applies to new applicants, (including 
homeless households), and to existing tenants 
transferring from one property to another.  
 
The Housing Act 1996, (as amended by the 
Homelessness Act 2002, the Localism Act 2011 
and the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017), 
requires local authorities to make all housing 
allocations and nominations in accordance with a 
Housing Allocation policy.  
 
A summary of this Housing Allocation policy must 
be published and made available free of charge to 
any person who asks for a copy. 

4a 

Are you changing, 
introducing a new, or 
removing a service, policy, 
strategy or function? 

Yes 

If the answer to 
any of these 
questions is 
‘YES’,  
please continue 
to question 5. 

If the answer to 
all of the 
questions (4a, 
4b & 4c) is ‘NO’, 
please go to 
question 6.  

4b 

Does this activity have the 
potential to impact (either 
positively or negatively) upon 
people (9 protected 
characteristics)? 

Yes 

4c 

Does the activity have the 
potential to impact (either 
positively or negatively) upon 
any factors which determine 
people’s health and 
wellbeing? 

Yes 

 

 
Completed by:  
 

Kwabena Obiri, Choice and Allocations Manager 
Joe Agius, Strategy & Policy Officer 

 
Date: 

29/09/21 

  

 

 

How this policy will impact on people? 
Background 
Social housing is provided by social landlords – generally, local authorities or housing 
associations. However, it has been clear for some time that housing supply is not keeping up with 

Page 108



demand. Affordable housing however is broader and includes all housing that has received a 
public subsidy or grant in its development.  
 
Demand for social housing in Havering significantly exceeds the number of properties available. In 
the financial year 2019-2020, only two in every 10 households on the housing register had a 
realistic prospect of getting social housing. This policy sets out how the Council will prioritise 
access to the available housing.  
 
Purpose of this policy 
 
The Housing Act 1996 Part VI requires local authorities to give reasonable preference in the way 
they allocate their available social housing. 
 
The purpose of this policy is to clearly explain how Havering Council, (“the Council”), decides how 
available social housing is allocated. It sets out the Council’s eligibility, qualifying and housing need 
criteria to ensure priority is fairly assigned and allocated to households in the greatest need. It also 
sets out how the Council will enable access to other forms of affordable housing such as shared 
ownership and intermediate rented housing.  
 
Aims of this policy 
 
The aims of this policy are to: 
•  ensure that we make the best possible use of the social housing stock; 
•  provide housing that is suitable to the specific needs and requirements of households; 
•  prioritise households that have been assessed to be in most need and to those who make a 

positive contribution to our community;  
•  help build sustainable communities and neighbourhoods, and 
•  ensure social and affordable housing is allocated in a clear, fair and transparent manner.  
 
Scope of this policy 
This policy applies to new applicants, (including homeless households), and to existing tenants 
transferring from one property to another. 
 
The Housing Act 1996, (as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002, the Localism Act 2011 and 
the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017), requires local authorities to make all allocations and 
nominations in accordance with an Allocation Scheme. A summary of the Allocations Scheme must 
be published and made available free of charge to any person who asks for a copy. 
 
This document is available on the Council’s website: www.havering.gov.uk and paper copies will be 
provided on request. 
 
The Housing Act 1996 (as amended) requires local authorities to give reasonable preference in their 
allocations policies to people with high levels of assessed housing need. The main groups are: 
 
• People who are homeless as defined by the Housing Act 1996, Part 7; 
• People who are owed a duty by any local housing authority under section 190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) 

(or under section 65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 1985), or who are occupying accommodation 
secured by any such authority under section 192(3); 

• People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing, or who are otherwise living in unsatisfactory 
conditions; 

• People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including any grounds relevant to a 
disability); and 

Page 109



• People who will suffer hardship to themselves or to others if they are unable to move to a particular 
locality or district. 

 
In addition to the above, the Council also exercises its statutory discretion to grant additional 
preference and/or to determine priority between applicants with reasonable preference. Applicants 
in reasonable preference categories makeup around 61% of the Council’s housing register – 
comparatively reasonable preference made up around 47% of all Council allocations in 19/20, 
contributing to 214 of 455 lets. Whilst there is slightly larger demand for accommodation than supply 
for applicants of reasonable preference, the figures show that they are overall treated fairly, 
contributing to just under half of all Council lets. 
 
The Act also requires local authorities to state within the policy what its position is on offering 
applicants a choice of housing accommodation, or offering them the opportunity to express 
preference about the housing accommodation to be allocated to them.  
 
The current policy was agreed by the Cabinet in 2016 and since then there have been changes in 
the legislation and the review has been conducted to ensure that the policy meets with current 
legislation and guidance.  
 
In summary – the proposed key changes 
The new, Housing Allocation Policy will introduce the following key changes:  
 

1. Qualification Criteria  

• 6 years continuous residency:  
In order fulfil the Council’s qualification criteria to join the Housing Register, an applicant will be 
required to demonstrate a continuous residency of six years in the borough of Havering.  
 
• Residency exemptions 
A new exemption to the residency criterion will be granted to applicants of refugee status or of 
traveller background of five years, provided they have resided in the borough for five years 
continuously, and can demonstrate a community contribution such as paid, unpaid or voluntary 
work in the borough or being a recognised carer for an elderly or disabled adult or child. Further 
exemptions will also be introduced for members of the armed forces, under-occupiers of social 
housing, people who fall within the reasonable preference groups, those who have the “right to 
move”, victims of domestic abuse, and exceptional cases.  
 
• Income threshold: 
In a change to the previous policy, the gross income threshold for applicants has been raised from 
£36,000 to £50,000 and a change of the savings limit to £30k.  
 
This is proposed in recognition of the changing financial climate. Applicants who come above this 
threshold will not qualify to join the register. 
 

2. Banding Changes 

•  Change to five new bands and new prioritisations within the bands. Increased priority for 
households with medical conditions that affect their housing and care leavers.  

 
•  Applicants previously placed under the Reduced Priority banding will no longer qualify for 

social housing apart from those who fall within a reasonable preference criteria as defined by 
the Housing Act 1996, Part 6. 

 

Page 110



 Establishment of an “Opportunity Register” to enable households not able to join the register to join and 

have their housing needs recorded and access other housing options.  

 

Who will be affected by the activity? 

Applicants to the Havering Council Housing Register to seek housing. 

Protected Characteristic - Age  

Please tick () 
the relevant 
box: 

Overall impact: Neutral 
 
This policy states an Age qualification for applicants to be 
placed on the Council’s Housing Register. This is: 
 
Age - Applicants must be 18 years of age or over 
The Council will not normally grant a tenancy to anyone under 
the age of 18 years unless another adult is prepared to act as 
their guarantor and agrees to cover the rent or any arrears.   
 
Exception: The age qualification criterion will not apply where a 
young person, aged under 18 years, is owed a duty under 
current legislation, but is unable to access suitable 
accommodation other than by being given an offer of council or 
housing association accommodation. In exceptional 
circumstances, the Council can grant permission to occupy a 
property to an applicant under 18 years by means of an 
Equitable Agreement. 
 
The policy therefore is inclusive of all eligible persons and does 
not discriminate on the basis of age, except in the case where 
persons are under 18 years old and in which case exemption is 
made according to the duty owed to some young people under 
legislation as stated above. 
 
Applicants to sheltered housing will not be affected by the 
residency criteria. There is also an exemption for those 
households that need to give or receive care.  
 

Positive  

Neutral ✔

Negative  

 

Evidence:  
Declining mortality rates mean higher life expectancies.  
 
A newborn male baby in the UK today can expect to live for 79.2 years and a girl to 82.9 years, 
with 22.6% of newborn boys and 28.3% of newborn girls projected to live to 100 years old1. 

  

 Havering has the oldest population in London with a median age of 40 years, as recorded in 

the 2011 census. 

                                                 
1 Article: ‘Living longer; how our population is changing and why it matters’ (Office for National Statistics, 
August 2018) 

Page 111



 The life expectancy at age 65 years in Havering is 19 years for males and 21.7 years for 

females. The life expectancy at birth for people living in Havering is 80.2 years for males 

and 83.9 years for females. 

 From 2011 to 2016, Havering experienced the largest net inflow of children across all 

London boroughs. 4,580 children settled in the borough from another part of the United 

Kingdom during that five-year period. 

 It is projected that the largest increases in population up to 2033 will occur in the following 

age brackets; children (0-17 years), and older people age groups (65 years and above). 

 

The Havering population is estimated to be 257,810 (ONS, 2018). The table below gives 
a breakdown by five year age bands and gender. 
 

Age Band 
(Years) 

Male Female Persons 

00-04 8,850 8,520 17,370 

05-09 8,429 8,081 16,510 

10-14 7,595 7,503 15,098 

15-19 7,166 6,743 13,909 

20-24 7,351 7,198 14,549 

25-29 8,642 9,220 17,862 

30-34 8,526 9,742 18,268 

35-39 8,614 9,268 17,882 

40-44 7,542 8,125 15,667 

45-49 7,868 8,624 16,492 

50-54 8,460 9,279 17,739 

55-59 8,072 8,290 16,362 

60-64 6,806 6,860 13,666 

65-69 5,696 6,272 11,968 

70-74 5,417 6,379 11,796 

75-79 3,561 4,741 8,302 

80-84 2,817 4,121 6,938 

85-89 1,747 3,000 4,747 

90+ 719 1,966 2,685 

All Ages 123,878 133,932 257,810 

54,000

56,000

58,000

60,000

62,000

64,000

66,000

68,000

0 - 19 20 - 39 40 - 59 60 +

N
o

 O
F 

P
EO

P
LE

AGE GROUP

HAVERING - BY AGE GROUP

Page 112



 
Havering has the oldest population in London with a median age of 39 years. There are 
approximately 60,102 persons aged 65 and over in Havering. This is more than a fifth of 
the whole population (23.3%). 
 
Figure 1 below shows a much older age structure for the population of Havering 
compared to London but similar to England.  
 
Figure 1 : Havering, England and London Mid-2018 Population Pyramid  

 
Data source: ONS 2018 Mid-year population estimates.  
 
The increased age of residents within Havering could see mean that there is an increased 
pressure for smaller or sheltered type properties. 
 

 
Sources used:  
 

 This is Havering 2019/20 version 4.4,  Public Health Intelligence 

 ONS 2018 Mid-year Population Estimates   

Protected Characteristic – Disability 

Please tick () 
the relevant box: 

Overall impact: Positive 
 
This policy decides on applicants cases based on a number of criteria, 
including an applicant’s health and consequent housing need priority.  
The policy states: 
 
MEDICAL 
The medical element of the assessment is based on whether the 

Positive ✔ 

Neutral  

Negative  

Page 113



applicant’s health, or a member of their household’s health, would 
improve by moving to alternative accommodation. Consequently, 
medical priority is awarded according to the extent to which the health 
or welfare of one or more members of the applicant’s household, is 
affected by their current housing conditions and the expected benefits 
of providing suitable alternative housing.  
 
Applicants are asked to complete a Medical Assessment Form. A 
Housing Assessment Officer will consider the information supplied by 
the applicant, along with any further and necessary information 
supplied by other parties such as health professionals and housing 
officers.  
 
Applicants claiming to have a severe and enduring mental illness will 
need to demonstrate that they currently have, or have recently had, 
access to Havering Mental Health Services. 
 
Depending on the circumstances, medical priority can be awarded 
under the Band 1, 2a or Band 3. The following table is used as a guide 
to how medical priority is determined: 
 

Medical 
Condition 

THE EFFECT OF CURRENT HOUSING ON THE 
APPLICANT'S HEALTH 

 Severe Moderate Low 

Serious Band 1 Band 2a 
No medical 

priority 

Moderate Band 2a Band 3 
No medical 

priority 

 
Applicants who clearly have an urgent need to move because they 
have a critical medical condition, or very serious disability, will be 
placed in the Band 1. This is an improvement compared to their priority 
under the current Allocation Scheme.   
 
Therefore, the policy makes due consideration of the disability and/or 
severe health issues of an applicant and provides a bespoke service to 
consider an individual’s health circumstances in deciding their Housing 
Register application. This should improve the outcomes for disabled 
applicants.  

 
Evidence:  
 

 In 2017, 3,506 adults (aged 18-64 years) were estimated to be living with serious physical 

disabilities in Havering. 

 The estimated rate of serious physical disabilities in Havering (2,323 per 100,000 

population aged 18-64 years) is similar to England but significantly higher than London 

average. It is one of the highest rates within London local authorities (see Figure 22). One 

of the key reasons for this is likely to be due to the relatively older population in Havering 

compared to other London boroughs. 

Please note: Rate per 100,000 calculation uses mid 2016 population. 
 

Page 114



The following shows the prevalence of various disabilities in Havering: 
 
Table 1: Number of people aged 18-64 with disabilities in Havering by age band, 2020 
 

Age band 

 Number with 
learning 
disability 

Number with 
Impaired 
mobility 

Number with 
serious visual 
impairment 

Number with 
moderate or 
severe, or 
profound 
hearing 
impairment 

18-24 519 192 12 347 

25-34 911 366 24 791 

35-44 882 1,790 23 1,652 

45-54 792 1,685 22 4,271 

55-64 721 4,438 21 8,143 

18-64 3,824 8,471 102 15,204 

 
Table 2: Number of people aged 18-64 with mental health problems in Havering, 2020 
 

Mental health problem Number 

Common mental disorder 29,906 

Borderline personality disorder 3,796 

Antisocial personality disorder 5,184 

Psychotic disorder 1,100 

Two or more psychiatric disorders 11,327 

 
Table 3: Number of people aged 65 & over unable to manage at least one mobility activity 
on their own in Havering, 2020 
 

 Age band Number 

65-69   1,023 

70-74  1,642 

75-79  1,506 

80-84  1,740 

85 and over   3,410 

65 and over  9,321 

 
Table 4: Disabled population with medical needs 
 

Band Medical Type Total % of Register 

ER 
Special Needs 7 0 

Severe Medical 18 1 

CC2 Disability 60 3 

H Moderate Medical 35 2 

 
 
 

Sources used:  
This is Havering (2018) 
Projecting Older People Population Information: https://www.poppi.org.uk/index.php 
Projecting Adults Needs and Services Information: https://www.pansi.org.uk/ 

  

Page 115

https://www.poppi.org.uk/index.php
https://www.pansi.org.uk/


Protected Characteristic - Sex/gender 

Please tick () the 
relevant box: 

Overall impact: Positive 
 
This policy changes will be positive for households.  
 
The majority of applicants on the housing register are from women 
headed households, mainly due to the higher levels of poverty in such 
households. The split in the income thresholds between families and 
single people will mean that lower paid single women and single 
parents will not be discriminated against.  
 
The increase in priority for households suffering domestic abuse will 
also have a positive impact on women, who are more likely than men 
to be the victims of abuse. 
 
There is a negative impact of the residency criteria policy that will 
affect women only headed households who cannot undertake 
community contributions due to childcare responsibilities.  
 

Positive ✔ 

Neutral  

Negative  

 

Evidence:  
 

 

0 5,000 10,000 15,000 20,000

0 - 9

10 - 19

20 - 29

30 - 39

40 - 49

50 - 59

60 - 69

70 - 79

80 - 89

90 +

No of PEOPLE

A
G

E 
B

A
N

D

HAVERING POPULATION 
- BY GENDER AND AGE BAND

FEMALE

MALE

Page 116



 

Gender Total  % of Register 

Male 402 21 

Female 1511 79 

Total 1913 100 

 
Sources used:  
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates 

 
 

Protected Characteristic - Ethnicity/race 

Please tick () 
the relevant box: 

Overall impact: Neutral 
 
This policy offers an ethnicity neutral approach to making decision on 
the allocation of housing. 
 
There are no proposed changes to the residency criteria which may 
impact in terms of this protected characteristic. 
 
We know from the Hillingdon Court of Appeal cases that refugees and 
travelers fall within this protected characteristic group and that 
residency requirements can indirectly discriminate against these 
groups, as by virtue of their circumstances they are less likely to be 
able to satisfy a residency requirement.  For an effective mitigation to 
be in place we need to show that the mitigations will eliminate or 
significantly reduce the discrimination.We have therefore introduced 
mitigations for travelers and refugees.  
   

 Exception (Travelers & Refugees) – Reducing the residency 
criteria to 5 years which would reduce the impact of the 6 year 
residency criteria. Therefore the overall impact would be neutral 
for applicants of traveller background or refugee status. Single 
or couple applicants of refugee or traveller backgrounds stand to 
benefit from a reduction in residency with greater opportunities 
of success for 1 bed permanent accommodation. Travellers and 
refugee applicants are very likely to fall within a reasonable 
preference category, as shown in the analysis below, so will also 
benefit from that exemption to the residency requirement. 
Evidence suggests there is very little in the way of housing 
demand from the travelling community (see below). 

 

 Persons who fall within the statutory ‘reasonable preference’ 
groups: 

- people who are homeless (within the meaning of Part 7); 

- people who are owed a duty by any local housing 
authority under section 190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) (or under 
section 65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 1985) or who 
are occupying accommodation secured by any such 
authority under section 192(3); 

Positive  

Neutral ✔ 

Negative  

Page 117

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates
https://www.rsph.org.uk/about-us/news/covid-19-a-men-s-health-emergency.html
https://www.rsph.org.uk/about-us/news/covid-19-a-men-s-health-emergency.html
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates
https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/05/what-the-covid-19-pandemic-tells-us-about-gender-equality/
https://urbact.eu/exploring-gendered-impacts-covid-19
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/articles/coronaviruscovid19roundup/2020-03-26#coviddeaths
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/articles/coronaviruscovid19roundup/2020-03-26#coviddeaths
https://www.rsph.org.uk/about-us/news/covid-19-a-men-s-health-emergency.html


- people occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or 
otherwise living in unsatisfactory housing conditions; 

- people who need to move on medical or welfare grounds 
(including any grounds relating to a disability); and 

- people who need to move to a particular locality in the 
district of the Council, where failure to meet that need 
would cause hardship (to themselves or to others). 

The figures for the refugee applicants below shows that all those who 
have applied were homeless applicants and placed in the RP band, 
which reduced their chances of being rehoused. Under the changes 
being made in the proposed Scheme there is a mitigation that those 
falling within a reasonable preference group, which includes homeless 
households, will have access to the Scheme. As such homeless 
households will be placed in the Band 2c if they have a community 
contribution, and Band C if they don’t. Any medical needs or other 
relevant factors will also be taken into account in accordance with the 
Scheme, and banding accordingly allocated as for all applicants with 
access to the Scheme.  This will therefore improve their chances of 
being housed.  
 

 

Evidence:  
 
• Havering is one of the most ethnically homogenous boroughs in London, with 83% of its 
residents recorded as ‘White British’ in the 2011 census; higher than both London and England. 
 
• However, the ethnically homogenous characteristic of Havering is gradually changing due to its 
growing cultural diversity. 
 
• The Borough’s white population is projected to decrease from the current 84% to 78% in 2032. 
  
• The BAME population, notably those from Black African heritage (though many of whom are 
likely to be British born) is projected to increase from 4.1% in 2017 to 5.3% of the Havering 
population in 2032  
  

 
 

Page 118



According to the GLA ethnic projections (2020) There are approximately 40,500 (18%) people 
from BAME groups living in Havering, the majority being black Africans (11,700, 4.5%). 
 
Table 1: The GLA ethnic population projections 2020  
 

Ethnic Group Male Female Persons 

White British 94,850 101,950 196,810 

White Irish 1,320 1,620 2,940 

Other White 7,280 7,330 14,610 

White & Black Caribbean 1,900 1,840 3,740 

White & Black African 710 780 1,490 

White & Asian 890 860 1,750 

Other Mixed 900 920 1,820 

Indian 4,050 4,530 8,590 

Pakistani 1,290 1,510 2,810 

Bangladeshi 1,190 1,140 2,340 

Chinese 610 1,010 1,620 

Other Asian 1,980 2,120 4,110 

Black African 5,270 6,430 11,700 

Black Caribbean 2,090 1,940 4,030 

Other Black 790 970 1,760 

Arab 290 220 510 

Other Ethnic Group 660 570 1,220 

Total  126,070 135,740 261,850 

 
 
Table 2: Housing Register by Ethnicity 
 

Racial Classification Housing Register 

Race Ethnicity Total % of register 

White  

British  1273 67 

Irish 17 1 

Other 88 5 

BAME 

Arab  2 0 

Asian Bengali 20 1 

Asian Indian 12 1 

Asian Other 27 1 

Asian Pakistani 13 1 

Black African  186 10 

Black Caribbean  47 2 

Black Other 18 1 

White & Asian 7 0 

White & Black 
African 

28 1 

White & Black 
Caribbean 

31 2 

Other Mixed 16 1 

Other 2 0 

No response Blank/Refused 126 6 

  1913 100 

 

Page 119



2.3.2 (j) Exception (Travelers/Refugees) - From data sourced from P1E records, shows the 
number of accepted homeless cases under Part 7 between 2016-18 for travelers were as follows:  
 
Table 3: Accepted homeless cases for applicants of traveler/gypsy background 2016-18 
 

Year  Total 

2016 0 

2017 0 

2018 0 

 
For the year 19/20 data sourced from HCLIC showed there were five known traveler cases 
investigated under part 7 with one case accepted under s.193 main duty. Accepted applications to 
the housing register did not fare better for applications from travelers, with one application made in 
2019 and zero acceptances to the register between 2016 and year-end 2020. This appears to 
suggest there is very little housing demand from the travelling community.  
 
Table 4: Accepted applicants from traveler/Gypsy community to the housing register 
 

Year Status Homeless Residency 
Met? 

Banding Year 
Residency 
Met 

New 
Band 

Bed 
Need 

Rehoused 

2019 Traveler Yes No RP - - 1 No 

 
Opportunities for non-UK residents/asylum seekers appear to be relatively neutral to positive 
dependent on bedroom size required. Data obtained shows that between 2016-20 eight 
households were granted homeless decisions under s.193 of HA96. Of these eight households 
five went on to apply and become accepted on the housing register. 
 
The below data shows the pathway of accepted Non-UK national applicants to the register, with 
the remaining three cases provided with alternative housing solutions such as discharge into 
private sector accommodation.  
 
Table 5: Accepted Non-UK nationals/Refugees to the housing register 
 

Year Status Homeless Residency 
Met? 

Banding Year 
Residency 
Met 

New 
Band 

Bed 
Need 

Rehoused 

2016 Refugee Yes No RP 2020 CC2 4 No 

2018 Refugee Yes No RP -  - 1 Yes 

2018 Refugee Yes No RP -  - 2 No 

2018 Refugee Yes No RP -  - 4 No 

2019 Refugee Yes No RP -  - 3 No 

2019 Refugee Yes No RP -  - 2 No 

2019 Refugee Yes No RP -  - 3 No 

2019 Refugee Yes No RP -  - 3 No 

 
For context, the only Non-UK national currently on the list with a higher priority banding resulting 
from RP banding (residency criterion) is currently in CC2 band with an effective date of 22 

September 2020. For the purpose of context, an analysis of the number of properties the applicant 
would have been successful for based on lowered exception criteria by years is documented 
below:  
 

Page 120



Table 6: Prospective accommodation offer for eligible Non-UK national/refugee applicant 
 

CC2 Band (having fulfilled residency criterion from RP Banding) 

Effective Date Bedroom Eligibility Potential Successful bids 
based on effective date  

22/09/15 (5 year residency) Four bedroom 13 

22/09/18 (4 year residency) Four bedroom 8 

22/09/17 (3 year residency) Four bedroom 8 

22/09/18 (2 year residency) Four bedroom 4 

22/09/19 (1 year residency)* Four bedroom 3 

Total  32 

 
Based on the data, there appears to be a sizeable impact to the applicant starting from RP band, 
who based on the five-year wait to achieve banding status would have missed out on 32 four 
bedroom properties to applicants in higher banding. This differs from a qualifying applicant as 
homeless who met initial residency placed under Homeseeker (H) band and subsequently 
qualified for CC2 under similar circumstances.  
 
If expected waiting times are applied based on banding effective date stretching back five years 
(22/09/15) the results would show as follows: 
 
Table 7: Waiting based on earlier effective date (2015) 
  

Banding Bedroom Need Waiting Time (in 
Band – with 
residency served - no 
RP) 

Total waiting time 
(with accrued RP 
years) 

ER  Four bedroom 1 month 5 years 

CC1  Four bedroom 1-6 months 5.5 years 

CC2 Four bedroom 1-2 years 6-8 years  

H  Four bedroom 3-7 years 8-12 years 

 
From the above table there is a visible distinction in the prospective waiting times based on the 
above applicants placement in CC2 with an earlier effective date. With the current effective date 
(22/09/20) applied the waiting times would vary considerably:  
 
Table 8: Waiting times based on current effective date (2020) 
 

Banding Bedroom Need Waiting Time (in 
Band – with 
residency served – 
no RP) 

Total waiting time 
(with accrued RP 
years) 

ER  Four bedroom 6 months 5.5 years 

CC1  Four bedroom 2-3 years 7-8 years 

CC2 Four bedroom 3-5 years 8-10 years  

H  Four bedroom 4-7 years 9-12 years 

 
Figures published by the MHCLG show:  
 

 in London, Black Caribbean households were over-represented in new social housing 
lettings (accounting for 11.2% of new lettings, compared with 4.3% of the population), as 
were Black African households (15.2% of lettings, compared with 6.6% of the population) 

Page 121



 in London, White British households were under-represented in new social housing lettings 
(accounting for 37.0% of new lettings, compared with 45.4% of the population), as were 
Other White households (7.5% of lettings, compared with 13.2% of the population) and 
Asian Indian households (2.0% of lettings, compared with 6.9% of the population). This 
reflects the higher levels of poverty and housing needs amongst BAME populations.  

 
The table below shows the lettings to BAME and non-BAME communities in Havering in 2016 
compared to the national average (England). This is the latest year that figures are available.  
 
Table 9. Social Housing Letting 2016/17 

 White Other than White 

 % Social 
housing 
lettings 

Population 
estimate 
(2016) 

% Social 
housing 
lettings 

Population 
estimate 
(2016) % 

Havering 83.7 518 88.3 16.3 101 11.7 

Average England 87.4 783 89.8 12.6 152 10.2 

Average London 49.1 424 62.1 50.9 492 37.9 

https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/housing/social-housing/new-social-housing-lettings/latest 

 
This shows that under the current policy non-white households accounted for 16.3% of the social 
housing lettings in Havering (compared to 50% in London and 12.6% nationally). Non-white 
households however made up 11.7% of the Havering population (compared to 37.9% in London 
and 10.2% nationally). In Havering 21% of applicants on the housing register are from non-white 
ethnicity (see Table 2) however they only received 16.3% of lettings.  
 
The impact of the mitigations will be measured against the current figures:  
• Currently only 62 applicants out of 1896 (3%) on the housing register are accepted under 

reasonable preference as homeless despite not having 6 years residency. 
• 34 applicants out of above 62 (55%) identified are from within non-White British households 
• 34 out of 1896 amounts to 2% accepted onto register as exceptions under reasonable 

preference.  
 

Protected Characteristic - Religion/faith 

Please tick () the 
relevant box: 

Overall impact: Neutral 
 
This policy offers a religion/faith neutral approach to making 
decision on the allocation of housing. The Policy will be 
carried out with an emphasis on equality of treatment. 
 
 

Positive  

Neutral ✔ 

Negative  
 

Evidence:   
 
Most recent available data (Census 2011) shows the majority of Havering residents 
are Christians. 
 
Table 7: Religion and Belief 2011 Census, Havering  
 

Faith Number % 

Christian 155,597 65.6% 

Buddhist  760 0.3% 

Hindu 2,963 1.2% 

Page 122



Jewish 1,159 0.5% 

Muslim 4,829 2.0% 

Sikh 1,928 0.8% 

Other Religion 648 0.3% 

No Religion 53,549 22.6% 

No Response 15,799 6.7% 

Totals 237,232 100% 
 

 

Sources used:  
Census 2011 

 

Protected Characteristic - Sexual orientation 

Please tick () 
the relevant box: 

Overall impact: Neutral 
 
This policy offers a sexual orientation neutral approach to making 
decision on the allocation of housing. The Policy will be carried out with 
an emphasis on equality of treatment. 
 
It is not necessary for residents to disclose their sexual orientation 
therefore a neutral impact is expected.  
 

Positive  

Neutral ✔ 

Negative  

 

Sources used:  
 

There is insufficient evidential information at this time as to whether the impact on this 
protected characteristic will be positive or negative.  It is currently envisaged that there will 
be neutral impact at the least. 
 

 
 

Protected Characteristic - Gender reassignment 

Please tick () 
the relevant box: 

Overall impact: Neutral 
 
This policy offers a gender reassignment neutral approach to making 
decision on the allocation of housing. The Policy will be carried out with 
an emphasis on equality of treatment. 

Positive  

Neutral ✔ 

Negative  
 

Evidence:   
 
The Equality Act 2010 says employees must not be discriminated against in employment 
for being married or in a civil partnership. 

In the Equality Act marriage and civil partnership means someone who is legally married 
or in a civil partnership. Marriage can either be between a man and a woman, or between 
partners of the same sex. Civil partnership is between partners of the same sex. 

Marriages and registration of civil partnerships in the UK are currently suspended due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 

Page 123



 

Sources used:  
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/marriage-and-civil-partnership-
discrimination 
 

Protected Characteristic - Marriage/civil partnership 

Please tick () 
the relevant box: 

Overall impact: Neutral 
 
This policy offers a marriage/civil partnership neutral approach to 
making decision on the allocation of housing. The Policy will be carried 
out with an emphasis on equality of treatment. The policy will support 
households regardless of their marital status 
 
 

Positive  

Neutral ✔ 

Negative  
 

Evidence:  There is insufficient evidential information at this time as to whether the 
impact on this protected characteristic will be positive or negative.  It is currently 
envisaged that there will be neutral impact at the least. 
 
 

 

Protected Characteristic - Pregnancy, maternity and paternity 

Please tick () 
the relevant box: 

Overall impact: Neutral 
 
This policy offers a pregnancy, maternity and paternity neutral 
approach to making decision on the allocation of housing. The Policy 
will be carried out with an emphasis on equality of treatment. 
 
 

Positive  

Neutral ✔ 

Negative  
 

Evidence: There is insufficient evidential information at this time as to whether the impact 
on this protected characteristic will be positive or negative.  It is currently envisaged that 
there will be neutral impact at the least. The changes proposed in the new policy will not 
impact this group.  

 

Health & Wellbeing 

Please tick () all 
the relevant 
boxes that apply: 

Overall impact: Neutral 
 
Do you consider that a more in-depth HIA is required as a result of 
this brief assessment?    No                  
 
The process of reviewing this policy will assist the Council in ensuring 
that accommodation occupied by the tenants meets their housing needs. 
Housing plays a key role in the health and well-being of residents. 
Overcrowding of accommodation can lead to health issues and family 
disputes. Evidence detailed below demonstrates that this is a real 
problem in Havering. The review process will identify and enable the 
Council to allocate social housing to those in the greatest need. 
 
Where resources permit, and eligibility for social housing remains, the 
Council will look to housing tenants in accommodation that meets the 

Positive  

Neutral ✔ 

Negative  

Page 124

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/marriage-and-civil-partnership-discrimination
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/marriage-and-civil-partnership-discrimination


tenants needs, either in council stock or through the use of reciprocal 
and nomination agreements with registered providers with whom the 
Council works in partnership. 
 

Similarly, reviews of this policy will also indicate in terms of disability 
where the tenant’s current home is no longer suitable – either where the 
tenant or a member of their household no longer has a need for a 
specifically adapted property or where the review identifies that the 
tenant has a need for an adaptation to their home. 
 
Again, where resources permit, the Council will seek to allocate more 
suitable accommodation for the tenant or will assist the tenant to obtain 
a disabled facilities grant to adapt the home.  

  

Evidence:   
 
The table below shows the identified size mix for affordable housing in 
Havering using both the 2014 and 2015 round GLA long-term trend 
migration figures for comparison purposes. (Affordable housing is 
considered to be housing of any tenure which is judged to be affordable 
to a particular group or household by analysis of housing costs, income 
levels and other factors). 
 
This takes account of both overcrowded households who require a move 
to a larger dwelling and also under-occupying households who require 
downsizing.  
 

Fully objectively assessed housing need for Havering for  
affordable homes 2011 -2033 

 GLA 
2014 

GLA 
2015 

1 bedroom 900 640 

2 bedrooms 2,400 2,850 

3 bedrooms 4,100 5,400 

4 bedrooms 700 1,610 

5 bedrooms 100 20 

Total affordable 
housing 

8,200 10,520 

TOTAL 25,200 30,050 

 
 
For both the 2014 and 2015 round data, the evidence points to a high 
need for three bedroom properties in the affordable housing sector. 
The main driver of this need in the affordable sector is the need to 
address overcrowded households in Havering who require larger 
affordable housing.  
 

Affordable Housing in Havering 
 
The review of this policy will assist the Council in identifying where 
downsizing may be appropriate to certain households and these 
properties can be placed back in to the churn of much needed council 
stock. 

Page 125



 

  

Sources used:  
 

Outer North East London Strategic Housing Market Assessment for 
Havering – November 2016, by Opinion Research Services 
 

Review 
This EqHIA will be reviewed annually, or as and when new legislation or relevant influential data 
that may impact on the EqHIA arrives. 
 
Scheduled date of review: October, 2022 
 
Lead Officer conducting the review:  Darren Alexander, Assistant Director Housing Demand.  
  

Page 126



21 

 

 

1. Action Plan 
 
The real value of completing an EqHIA comes from the identifying the actions that can be taken to eliminate/minimise negative impacts 
and enhance/optimise positive impacts. In this section you should list the specific actions that set out how you will address any negative 
equality and health & wellbeing impacts you have identified in this assessment. Please ensure that your action plan is: more than just a list 
of proposals and good intentions; sets ambitious yet achievable outcomes and timescales; and is clear about resource implications. 
 

Protected 
characteristic / 

health & 
wellbeing 

impact 

Identified 
Negative or 

Positive impact 

Recommended 
actions to 
mitigate 
Negative 

impact* or 
further promote 
Positive impact 

Outcomes and 
monitoring** 

Timescale Lead officer 

Race/ethnicity Residency criteria 

will impact 

predominantly 

BAME 

communities.  

Mitigations have 

been added to 

the policy for 

refugees, traveler 

communities and 

homeless 

households.  

 

 

The impact of the policy 

on these groups will be 

monitored.  

 

 

 

Annually  

 

 

Kwabena Obiri 

 

   
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 

      

P
age 127



22 

 

 
 

Add further rows as necessary 
* You should include details of any future consultations and any actions to be undertaken to mitigate negative impacts 
** Monitoring: You should state how the impact (positive or negative) will be monitored; what outcome measures will be used; the known 
(or likely) data source for outcome measurements; how regularly it will be monitored; and who will be monitoring it (if this is different from 
the lead officer). 
 

Review 
 

 

 
Scheduled date of review:  October 2022 
 
 
Lead Officer conducting the review:  Kwabena Obiri 

 
 
Please submit the completed form via e-mail to EqHIA@havering.gov.uk thank you. 
 
 

P
age 128

mailto:EqHIA@havering.gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY: HOUSING ALLOCATION SCHEME (2021)
	1 - Housing Allocation Scheme - Cabinet Report
	2 - Housing Allocation Scheme 2021 Final
	3 - Housing Allocation Scheme - Public Consultation  Feedback report Final
	4 - Housing Allocation Scheme 2021 - EqHIA


